
























































































APPENDIX A

IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FIFTH CIRCUIT

No. 06-60289

UNITED STATES OF
AMERICA

ROBERT J. LUCAS , JR.
BIG HILL ACRES INC.
CONSOLIDATED
INVESTMENTS INC.
ROBBIE LUCAS
WRIGLEY;
M. E. THOMPSON JR.

) Plaintif-Appellee

) Defendants-Appellants

Appeal from the United States District Court
for the Southern District of Mississippi

Before HIGGINBOTHAM , SMITH , and OWEN , Cir-
cuit Judges.

PATRICK E. HIGGINBOTHAM , Circuit Judge.



Defendants sold house lots and designed and cer-
tified septic systems on wetlands but represented the
lots as dry. Septic systems on the lots failed, causing
waste discharges. The Government charged the cor-
porate developer and various individuals with Clean
Water Act (CW A) violations , mail fraud, and conspir-
acy to commit mail fraud and to violate the CW A. A
jury found Defendants guilty on all counts.! Defen-
dants appealed.

Robert J. Lucas owned Big Hill Acres , Inc. (BHA
Inc.) and Consolidated Investments, Inc. Through
these companies , he acquired Big Hill Acres (BHA), a
large parcel of land in Jackson County, Mississippi
approximately eight miles from the Gulf of Mexico.
He subdivided the property and sold mobile home lots
under long- term installment plans. The property was
not connected to a central municipal waste system

and County law required Lucas to certify and install
individual septic systems on each lot before they
could establish electric hook-ups or sell the lots. In
Jackson County, septic systems must be approved by
an engineer with the Mississippi Department of
Health (MDH) or by an independent licensed engi-
neer. Lucas initially hired an MDH engineer to ap-
prove septic systems , but MDH withdrew many of its
initial approvals when it found that the lots were on
saturated soils. Lucas then hired a private licensed
engineer , M.E. Thompson , Jr. , to approve and certify
the septic systems. Robbie Lucas Wrigley, Lucas
daughter , advertised the lots , showed them to pro-
spective buyers , and leased them.

1 Not every 
count included all Defendants. See jnfra note 3.



The Army Corps of Engineers, the EP A, the

MDH , and the Mississippi Department of Environ-
mental Quality (DEQ) became concerned that Defen-
dants were selling house lots and installing septic
systems on wetlands. These agencies issued several
cease and desist orders against Lucas and Thomp-
son 2 and the EPA sent letters to residents and organ-
ized a meeting of the residents to warn them of lot
conditions and to tell them where wetlands were lo-
cated on the property. It also met with BHA's counsel
to attempt to designate the areas where they would
allow development. These efforts were not fully suc-
cessful.

The Government filed a 41-count indictment
against Defendants in June of 2004 and then a su-
perseding indictment, charging filling of wetlands
without a Section 404 permit from the Corps , failing to
obtain Section 402 National Pollutant Discharge
Elimination System (NPDES) Permits for the septic
tanks, mail fraud, and conspiracy to commit mail
fraud and to violate Sections 402 and 404 of the CW 

2 A July 15 , 1997 , letter from MDR to Thompson indicated that
he must "either fully comply with the statutes when designing
systems , or cease and desist immediately. " A June 3 , 1999 , cease
and desist order from the Army Corps of Engineers told Lucas
that unpermitted placement of dredged or fill material into wet-
lands violated the CW A and ordered him to cease and desist
constructing homes in a subdivision near Vancleave, Missis-
sippi. An August 4, 1999, administrative order from the EP 

notified Lucas that placement of fill into wetlands without a
permit violated the CW A and ordered him to cease and desist
from unpermitted filling.
3 Count 1 charged all Defendants with Conspiracy to defraud
buyers using the U.S. mails and conspiracy to violate the CW 

Counts 2- 18 charged Lucas , Wrigley, Thompson , and BRA, Inc.
with mail fraud; Count 19 charged Lucas , Wrigley, and BRA



The district court denied pre-trial motions to dismiss
the CW A charges. Mter the Government concluded
its case , the court denied a joint motion for judgment
of acquittal for all counts, except for counts 30-

charging violations of the CW A. Mter a weekend re-
cess and an argument from the Government that
granting the motion would preclude appeal , the court
reversed the acquittal. A jury convicted Defendants
on all counts , and the court denied Defendants ' joint
motion to vacate the verdict , enter a judgment of ac-
quittal on all counts , or to order a new trial. The
court sentenced Lucas , Wrigley, and Thompson to
prison terms; placed BHA, Inc. and Consolidated In-
vestments on probation; and ordered all Defendants
to pay restitution , special assessments , and fines.

III

The first and overarching question is jurisdiction
-- whether the jury was properly required to find that
the property at issue was subject to the CW A. Lucas
BHA, Inc. , and Consolidated Investments , Inc. , as

well as Wrigley in adopting all arguments in Lucas
brief and Thompson in adopting the CW A jurisdiction
issues raised in Lucas s brief, urge that the jury in-
structions failed to require the jury to find that the
wetlands were "waters of the United States" and in

Inc. with mail fraud; Counts 20-22 charged Lucas with violating
Section 404 of the CW A; Counts 23-26 charged Lucas , Wrigley,
and Thompson with violating Section 404 of the CW A; Counts
27-29 charged Lucas with violating Section 404 of the CW A;
Counts 30-32 charged Lucas , Wrigley, and Thompson with vio-
lating Section 402 of the CW A; Counts 33-39 charged Lucas and
Wrigley with violating Section 402 of the CW A; and Counts 40-
41 charged Lucas with violating Section 402 of the CW A.



refusing its requested charge. The instructions stated
in relevant part

The term navigable waters means waters
of the United States. Whether a body of
water is navigable-in -fact is determined
by whether it is used or susceptible of be-
ing used in its natural and ordinary con-
dition as a highway for commerce over
which trade and travel are , or may be
conducted in the customary modes 
trade and travel on water.

The term wetlands means those areas
that are inundated or saturated by sur-
face or groundwater at a frequency and
duration sufficient to support, and that
under normal circumstances do support , a
prevalence of vegetation typically adapted
for life in saturated soil conditions. . . .
Not all wetlands fall under the protection
of the Clean Water Act. However, wet-
lands that are waters of the United
States are protected by the Clean Water
Act. Wetlands are considered waters of
the United States if they are adjacent to a
navigable body of open water. Wetlands
are adjacent to a navigable body of water
if there is a significant nexus between the
wetlands in question and a navigable-in-
fact waterway. Some of the factors which
you may wish to consider in determining
whether there is a significant nexus in-
clude , but are not limited to: . . . flow rate
of surface waters from the wetlands into a
navigable body of water. 

. . 

evidence of
any past or present contamination of a



navigable body of water attributable to
the discharge of pollutants on the wet-

lands. . . when , or to what extent , con-
taminants from the wetlands have or will
affect a navigable body of water. . 

. .

Defendants argue that the court erred in not in-
cluding their requested language that

The Clean Water Act does not permit the
federal government to impose regulations
over tributaries that are neither them-
selves navigable nor truly adjacent to
navigable waters. . . adjacency implicates
a 'significant nexus ' between the water in
question and the navigable in fact water-
way. If the government fails to prove be-
yond a reasonable doubt that the wet-
lands at issue in this case are in fact
navigable or truly adjacent to i.e. lying
near, close, contiguous, or adjoining a
navigable waterway, you must find the
defendants not guilty on counts Twenty
through Forty-One.

They allege that the instructions , which did not
include their proposed language , were in error be-
cause they "could have lead the jury to believe that
they could find Defendants guilty under the CW A
even if they found no significant nexus.

We review alleged error in jury instructions for
an abuse of discretion, reversing "only when 'the
charge as a whole leaves us with substantial and in-
eradicable doubt whether the jury has been properly

4 Defendant Lucas s Brief at 55.



guided in its deliberations. "'5 A district court abuses
its discretion in omitting a requested jury instruction
only if the requested language "(1) is substantively
correct; (2) is not substantially covered in the charge
given to the jury; and (3) concerns an important point
in the trial so that the failure to give it seriously im-
pairs the defendant's ability to present effectively a
particular defense.

The court's instructions were not in error, nor
was the court's omission of Defendants ' requested in-
structions. The court's instructions required that the
jury find that the wetlands were waters of the United
States adjacent to navigable waters with a significant
nexus between the wetland and the navigable-in -fact
waterway to establish CW A jurisdiction. The instruc-
tions substantially covered Defendants ' requested in-
structions by requiring adjacency7 as defined by a
significant nexus. The closing arguments also in-
cluded the "significant nexus" language. The Gov-
ernment argued

(T)he government has shown that there 
a significant nexus between the wetlands
on Big Hill Acres and navigable-in -fact
waters. Showed that the surface from the
Big Hill Acres site drains in three direc-
tions. The western portions of the site
drain into Bayou Costapia. Bayou Co-
stapia empties into the Tchoutacabouffa

Treadaway v. Socjete Anonyme LOUis-Dreyfus 894 F. 2d 161
168 (5th Cir. 2000) (quoting McCullough v. Beech Ajrcraft Corp.
587 F. 2d 754, 759 (5th Cir. 1979)).

Unjted States v. Simkamn 420 F. 3d 397 410 (5th Cir. 2005).

7 The term "adjacent" is substantially similar to Defendants ' re-
quested term of "truly adjacent.



River , which then empties into the Gulf of
Mexico. The central portions of the Big
Hill Acres development drained through
tributaries into Old Fort Bayou Creek.
And Old Fort Bayou Creek connects to
Old Fort Bayou, which is a protected
coastal preserve emptying into the Gulf of
Mexico. And the eastern portions drain
into the headwaters of Little Bluff Creek
which then connects to Bluff Creek , which
flows into the Pascagoula River and on to
the Gulf of Mexico. And what we also
demonstrated was that you could walk on
wetlands from anyone of these three ar-
eas on Big Hill Acres all the way to the
navigable-in -fact waters.

Defendants also emphasized the need for a signifi-
cant nexus finding in their closing arguments. Lu-
cas s attorney argued

, "

And if you find that the land
at Big Hill Acres is not adjacent to a navigable-in -fact
body of water , does not have a significant nexus to a
navigable water , you should return a verdict of not
guilty on all the Clean Water Act counts." The court
did not abuse its discretion in giving the CW A in-
structions.

8 Defendants do not challenge the instructions on the grounds
that they failed to include the Rapanos v. Unjted States stan-
dard for navigable waters. This is understandable. The Rapanos
plurality requires a channel adjacent to a wetland to be adjacent
to " a relatively permanent body of water connected to traditional
interstate navigable waters" to constitute "waters of the United
States " 126 S. Ct. 2208 , 2227 (2006), and the Rapanos concur-
rence requires a "significant nexus" between the wetlands and
the navigable waters , meaning that "wetlands , either alone or in
combination with similarly situated lands in the region , signifi-
cantly affect the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of



The second jurisdictional question is the suffi-
ciency of the evidence supporting the jury finding

that the CW A reaches this property. Al Defendants
argue that there is insufficient evidence to establish
jurisdiction under the CW A. "Our review of the suffi-
ciency of the evidence supporting a conviction is nar-
row: we will affirm if a rational trier of fact could
have found that the evidence established the essen-

tial elements of the crime beyond a reasonable
doubt. "9

Under the CW A, the United States has jurisdic-
tion over the "waters of the United States "l0 i.
navigable waters. Wetlands adjacent to certain navi-
gable waters are waters of the United States.!1 Ra-

other covered waters more readily understood as navigable. " 126
S. Ct. at 2248 (Kennedy, J. , concurring). The instructions con-
tained elements of both the plurality and concurring opinions by
requiring the jury to find that the wetlands were "adjacent to a
navigable body of open water " meaning " there is a sjgnjfcant
nexus between the wetlands in question and a navjgable-in-fact
waterway. " The judge instructed the jury to consider "flow rates
of surface waters from the wetlands into a navigable water " an
element similar to the connection required by the Rapanos plu-
rality, and to consider "whether there is evidence of when , or to
what extent , contaminants from the wetlands have or will affect
a navigable water " an element similar to the concurrence s sig-

nificant nexus standard.

Unjted States v. Davis 226 F. 3d 346 , 354 (5th Cir. 2000).
10 33 U.S. C. 1362(7).

11 See e.g., Unjted States v. Rjversjde Bayvjew Homes, Inc. 474
U.S. 121 , 133 ("We cannot say that the Corps ' conclusion that
adjacent wetlands are inseparably bound up with the 'waters ' of
the United States -- based as it is on the Corps ' and EPA' s tech-
nical expertise -- is unreasonable.

); 

Rapanos 126 S. Ct. at 2217
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panos addressed wetlands adjacent to navigable wa-
ters and the tributaries of navigable waters, deter-
mining the types of adjacent tributaries and waters
that count as waters of the United States and the

connection that wetlands must have to these waters
to fall under federal jurisdiction. The four-justice plu-
rality defined waters of the United States , as "rela-
tively permanent , standing or flowing bodies of wa-
ter "12 concluding that

establishing that wetlands

. . 

. are cov-

ered by the Act requires two findings:
First , that the adjacent channel contains
a "wate(r) of the United States " (i. , a

relatively permanent body of water con-
nected to traditional interstate navigable
waters); and second, that the wetland has
a continuous surface connection with that

water making it difficult to determine
where the "water" ends and the "wetland"
begins.

The plurality did not define "relatively permanent
finding that "we have no occasion in this litigation to
decide exactly when the drying-up of a stream bed is
continuous and frequent enough to disqualify the

channel. . 

. .

"14

Its adjacency standard finds its roots in Solid
Waste Agency of Northern Cook Cty. v. Army Corps

(recognizing that subsequent cases limiting federal jurisdiction
over certain waters have not overrruled Rjversjde Bayvjew).

12 126 S. Ct. at 2221.

13 Id at 2227

14 Id at 2221 n.



lla
of Engineers ("SWANCC' ).!5 SWANCC did not in-
volve wetlands but held that "nonnavigable , isolated
intrastate waters" such as "an abandoned sand and
gravel pit" were not waters of the United States.
The Rapanos plurality recognized that the Act allows
states under delegated federal authority to regulate
wetlands adjacent" to "navigable waters

. . 

other
than those (navigable waters) which are presently
used, or are susceptible to use

. . 

. as a means to
transport interstate or foreign commerce " and that
SWANCC was not to the contrary. 17 In other words
the Government has jurisdiction over waters that
neighbor tributaries of navigable waters.

The evidence presented at trial is sufficient by
the plurality s measure of federal waters. One of the
Government' s expert witnesses at trial , Mike Wylie
described how he began at the westernmost drainage
of the property and moved across , finding "flowing
open water" north of the site and boat points on the
western portion of the property "at the confluence of
two tributaries. " These tributaries had "strong flow
and "high velocity." Wylie showed photographs of his
staff kayaking in tributaries connected to BHA wet-
lands as well as in several wetlands on the property.
A jury could have reasonably concluded that these

pictures show areas on the edge of the BHA property

531 U.S. 159 (2001).

16 Id at 162.

17 126 S. Ct. at 2220.

18 The definition includes wetlands that neighbor tributaries of
navigable waters because the plurality definition includes wet-
lands adjacent to "a relatively permanent body of water con-
nected to traditional interstate navigable waters. Id at 2227

(emphasis added).
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where "it is difficult to determine where the 'water
ends and the 'wetland' begins. "19 The Government
maps of Big Hill Acres presented at trial also show
Fort Bayou Creek , Bayou Costophia, tributaries to
Bayou Catophia , and tributaries to Little Bluff Creek
all connected to the development property, and all
eventually flowing into the navigable Tchoutach-

abouffa River , the Pascagoula River , and the Missis-
sippi Sound. Expert Peter Stokely testified that
there is a continuous band of wetlands and streams

and creeks that lead from the site to the waters " and
showed aerial photographs of "drainage and wetlands
patterns on the site" as well as drainage and wet-
lands patterns that "branch up towards the site" and
that lead "up on to the property itself."

The evidence presented at trial is also sufficient
by the measure of federal waters offered by the con-
curring justices. They concluded that the applicable
standard should be the "significant nexus " evoking
whether "wetlands , either alone or in combination
with similarly situated lands in the region , signifi-

cantly affect the chemical , physical , and biological in-
tegrity of other covered waters more readily under-
stood as navigable."20 The Government presented
evidence that the BHA wetlands control flooding in
the area and prevent pollution in downstream navi-
gable waters, evidence supporting the significant
nexus standard of the Rapanos concurrence.

A four-justice dissent found that United States v.
Riverside Bayvew Homes) Inc. 21 controls the defini-

19 Id at 2227.

20 Id at 2248 (Kennedy, J. , concurring).

474 U.S. 121 (1985).
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tion of waters of the United States and the Supreme
Court should defer to "the Corps ' judgment that
treating adjacent wetlands as 'waters ' would advance
the 'congressional concern for protection of water
quality and aquatic ecosystems."22 The evidence 
flood and pollution control provided by the BHA wet-
lands is sufficient by this measure , as well.

In sum , the evidence presented at trial supports
all three of the Rapanos standards and the jury
finding that Lucas, Thompson, and Wrigley were
guilty beyond a reasonable doubt" "of knowingly
causing the discharge of pollutants from a point
source into waters of the United States without a
permit as required by Section 404" of the CW A; that
Lucas , Thompson , and Wrigley were guilty of "know-
ingly causing the discharge of pollutants from a point
source; to wit , a septic system on (various lots), into
waters of the United States without a permit as re-
quired by . . . Section 402" of the CW A; and that all
Defendants were guilty "of conspiracy to commit an
offense against the laws of the United States in viola-
tion of Title 18 , United States Code , Section 371 . . .
as alleged in Count 1 of the indictment " alleging, in-
ter alia that all Defendants "caused the discharge of
sewage into wetlands that are waters of the United
States" and "caused the discharge of pollutants into
wetlands that are waters of the United States.

Finally, Defendants challenge the jurisdictional
elements of the CW A charges on the basis that the
CW A as applied to the regulation of wetlands is un-

constitutionally vague" and that "jurisdiction (under

22 126 S. Ct. at 2244 (Stevens , J. , dissenting).



l4a
the Act) continues to be determined on an ad hoc ba-
sis. "23 The district court denied their pretrial motion
on vagueness. We review this denial de novo. 24 Mul-
tiple agencies had warned Defendants that they were
violating the CW A and state law by installing septic
systems and dredging in federal waters.25 This does
not end our inquiry, as Defendants allege that they
disputed the agencies ' interpretation of the Clean
Water Act.

Even in the absence of disputed agency warnings
the prevalence of wet property at BHA and an area
network of creeks and their tributaries leading to the
Gulf, some of which connected to wetlands on the
property, should have alerted "men of common intel-
ligence"26 to the possibility that the wetlands were
waters of the United States under the CWA. As we
found in A voyelles Sportsmen s League Inc. 
Marsh

23 Defendant Lucas s Brief at 38.

24 Unjted States v. Nevers 7 F. 3d 59 , 61 (5th Cir. 2003) (review-
ing de novo the question of unconstitutional vagueness); Haspel
& Davis Milling Planting Co. v. Bd of Levee Comm'rs 493
3d 570 , 575 (5th Cir. 2007) (reviewing de novo denial of a mo-

tion to dismiss).

25 The District Health Officer for the Jackson County office of
MDH informed Thompson in 1997 that the septic systems that
he approved in wetland soils violated state law. On June 3
1999, the Corps of Engineers issued a cease and desist letter
ordering Lucas to stop putting filled or dredged material into
wetlands. On August 4, 1999 , an EP A Administrative Order or-
dered Lucas to stop fill activity at BHA. On October 27 , 1999 the
Mississippi DEQ sent a letter to Lucas indicating that he was
violating the CW A. On July 26, 2000 the EP A issued another
cease and desist letter.
26 Ford Motor Co. v. Tex. Dept. of Transp. 264 F. 3d 493, 507
(5th Cir. 2001).
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the landowners were well aware that 

least a significant portion of their land
was a wetland; if they wished to protect
themselves from liability they could have
applied for a permit and thus obtained a
precise delineation of the extent of the

wetland, as well as the activities permis-
sible on the land.

At trial , the Government presented evidence that one
of Lucas s employees told Lucas that the property
might contain wetlands , and that the property might
be regulated. Another employee also testified that
he had warned Lucas that the property was wet.

715 F. 2d 897 917 (5th Cir. 1983).

28 Direct Examination of John Mizelle. Q: "But when you were
working for Mr. Lucas in doing the work you described, you told
him that there might be a problem here and you knew about it;
right?" A "Possibly yes , sir. " Q: "And that problem was that you
were working in wetlands and thought you were; is that cor-
rect?" A "I thought I was , yes , sir. " Q: "And you raised that is-
sue with Mr. Lucas?" A: "At one point , yes , sir. " * * * Q: "SO you
explained to Mr. Lucas that the county (at another job that Mr.
Mizelle worked on , unrelated to BHA) had gotten in trouble and
had been fined for digging, trenching, side casting in wetlands
is that correct?" A "Well, yes and no. I mean , (at the county job)
I was working strictly in the water -- in the running creek or
running bayou. It' s totally different. " Q: "But you explained 
you explained that there were" A "We (the county) did get fined
yes , sir. " Q: "And you explained that to Mr. Lucas?" A "Yes , sir.
Q: "And you explained that in the context because you were
working in an area that you thought might be regulated in the
same way; is that correct?" A "It might be , yes. " Q: "And that'
why you raised it with Mr. Lucas -- " A "Yes , sir. " Q: " is that
correct? So you had a concern about it , and you raised that con-
cern that maybe you were working in wetlands with Mr. Lucas;
correct?" A: "Right.

29 Direct Examination of Phillip Johnson.
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Furthermore, the Government produced evidence
that the language in the deeds conveying property

from a timber company to Big Hill Acres indicated
that the land was subject to " (w)etlands, environ-
mental, hazardous or solid waste and flood plain
laws , rules , and regulations affecting said property,
while another deed from Robert Lucas to Big Hill
Acres was a special warranty deed "with language
saying any property which may constitute coastal
wetlands as defined in the coastal wetland protection
law is conveyed by quitclaim only." The district court
did not err in denying the vagueness motion.

We now turn from the jurisdictional question of
whether the wetlands were waters of the United
States , to challenges to the sufficiency of the indict-
ment and the instruction to the jury regarding the
CW A' NPDES permitting requirements. We first
address the challenges to the sufficiency of the in-
dictment with respect to the charges for discharging
pollutants from septic systems into waters of the
United States without an NPDES permit.

Counts 30-41 of the superseding indictment
charged some of the Defendants with "knowingly
caus(ing) pollutants , including sewage and domestic
wastewater , to be discharged from a septic system , a
point source , into wetlands that are waters of the
United States without a permit issued under the au-
thority of Section 402 of the Clean Water Act. "30

30 Counts 30- 32 charged Lucas , Wrigley, and Thompson; Counts
33-39 charged Lucas and Wrigley, and Counts 40-41 charged
Lucas.
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Defendants challenge the sufficiency of the in-

dictment with respect to the Section 402 charges , argu-
ing that " (b)ecause the regulation (enacting Section
402) unambiguously excludes septic tanks from the
definition of 'treatment works treating domestic sew-
age,' Defendants were not legally required to obtain
an NPDES permit , and therefore did not violate CWA

Section 402. "31 Defendants moved to dismiss these
counts before trial , arguing that " (dhe CWA regula-
tions require a Section 402 permit for point source dis-
charges and for 'treatment works treating domestic
sewage. ' An individual on- site septic system is nei-
ther a 'point source ' nor a ' treatment works treating
domestic sewage. "'32 The Government counters that
Defendants (on appeal) do not dispute that the re-

lease of sewage from septic tanks constitutes the dis-
charge of a pollutant from a point source. "33

Even if Defendants abandoned their argument
that septic systems are not a point source , and it ap-
pears they have not , there remains the broader ar-
gument that the indictment is insufficient because
Section 402 NPDES permitting requirements do not
apply to individual septic systems. Because the
NPDES program requires permits for point source
discharges and for certain treatment works , the defi-
nition of a point source is inherent to the applicability
of NPDES permitting to septic systems.

40 C.F.R. 9 122 and Sections 123 and 124

, "

imple-
ment the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination

31 Defendant Lucas s Brief at 33.

32 Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss Clean Water
Act Counts (30-41) For Failing to Charge an Offense , at 3-

33 Government' s Brief at 51.
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System (NPDES) Program under sections 3l8, 402 and
405 of the Clean Water Act (CWA). Section 122. l(b)
addresses the "Scope of the NPDES permit require-
ment" and defines the NPDES permitting require-
ment for point sources , stating,

The NPDES program requires permits for
the discharge of "pollutants" from any
point source" into "waters of the United

States." The terms "pollutant"

, "

point
source" and "waters of the United States
are defined at 9 122.

Section 122. 2 defines these terms , in relevant part , as
follows:

Point source means any discernible , con-
fined, and discrete conveyance , including
but not limited to , any pipe , ditch , chan-
nel , tunnel , conduit , well , discrete fissure
container rolling stock concentrated
animal feeding operation landfll
leachate collection system , vessel or other
floating craft from which pollutants are or
may be discharged.

Pollutant means dredged spoil , solid waste , incinera-
tor residue , filter backwash , sewage , garbage , sewage
sludge , munitions , chemical wastes , biological mate-
rials , radioactive materials (except those regulated
under the Atomic Energy Act of 1954 , as amended (42
Us.c. 20ll et seq.

)), 

heat, wrecked or discarded
equipment , rock , sand, cellar dirt and industrial , mu-
nicipal , and agricultural waste discharged into water.
It does not mean:

(a) Sewage from vessels; or
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(b) Water , gas , or other material which is
injected into a well to facilitate produc-
tion of oil or gas , or water derived in asso-
ciation with oil and gas production and
disposed of in a well , if the well used ei-
ther to facilitate production or for dis-
posal purposes is approved by authority
of the State in which the well is located

and if the State determines that the injec-
tion or disposal will not result in the deg-

radation of ground or surface water re-
sources.

Mter defining the scope of NPDES permitting to ap-
ply to any point source discharging a pollutant into
waters of the United States Section 122. l(b)(2) de-
scribes other sources (treatment works) that must
meet additional sewage sludge requirements as part
of the NPDES permitting process. Section 122. l(b)(2)
provides

The (NPDES) permit program established
under this part also applies to owners or
operators of any treatment works treating
domestic sewage, whether or not the
treatment works is otherwise required to
obtain an NPDES permit , unless all re-
quirements implementing section 405(d) of
the CWA applicable to the treatment
works treating domestic sewage are in-
cluded in a permit issued under the ap-

propriate provisions of subtitle C of the
Solid Waste Disposal Act, Part C of the
Safe Drinking Water Act , the Marine Pro-
tection , Research , and Sanctuaries Act of
1972 , or the Clean Air Act , or under State
permit programs approved by the Admin-
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istrator as adequate to assure compliance
with section 405 of the CWA.

Treatment works under 9 122. l (b)(2) do not in-
clude septic systems.35 Thus , the NPDES permitting
requirement applies to two types of sources -- point
sources and treatment works. The Government urges
that septic systems that discharge waste directly into
federal waters of the United States are point sources
and thus subject to the first permitting requirement
under 9 122. l(b)(l). Defendants , on the other hand
argue that privately-owned septic systems are not
subject to NPDES permitting requirements , impliedly
arguing that they are neither point sources nor
treatment works.

The crux of Defendants ' argument is that because
septic systems are not treatment works under 9
122. l(b)(2), they cannot be subject to NPDES permit-
ting. But as the Government argues , treatment works
are defined separately from point sources in the regu-
1ation: point sources are subject to the permitting re-
quirement, and certain treatment works are addi-
tionally subject to these requirements. In other
words , because 9 122. l(b)(2) provides that NPDES
permitting "also applies to owners or operators of any
treatment works treating domestic sewage whether
or not the treatment works is otherwise required to
obtain an NPDES permit,"36 the provision "is not ex-
clusionary, but includes additional sources that are

not otherwise covered. "37 Section 122. l (b )(l) provides

34 Emphasis added.
35 See infra note 38 and accompanying text.

36 Emphasis added.
37 Government' s Brief at 52.
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that point sources are subject to NPDES permitting,
the argument concludes , and that is the definition
that applies here. Section 122. l(b)(2), defining treat-
ment works that are also subject to NPDES permit-
ting, is not the basis for NPDES permitting in this
case. Section 122. l(b)(2)'s exclusion of septic systems
does not diminish 9 122. l(b)(l)'s applicability to septic

systems. We agree with this reading.

Section 122. l(b)(l) defines the sources requiring

NPDES permits , namely point sources that discharge
pollutants into U. S. waters. Section 122. l(b)(2) defines
additional sources that must either obtain NPDES
permits or fully meet the sewage disposal require-
ments of 9405 of the CWA. Section 122. l(b)(2) specifi-
cally exempts septic systems from its requirements; 
incorporates the definition of treatment works from 9
122. , and this definition "does not include septic
tanks or similar devices."3s But 122. l(b)(2) does not
address the sources under 9 122. l(b)(l) to which

NPDES permitting applies. Rather, it implements
NPDES permitting for certain sources of sewage
sludge subject to special sludge disposal require-
ments under the CW A.

The background material to the amendments in-
corp orating sewage sludge disposal into the NPDES
permitting program confirms this reading of the stat-
ute. It states that

the amendments direct that any permit
under section 402 of the Act (NPDES per-
mits) issued to a POTW or any other
treatment works treating domestic sew-
age shall include the sludge technical

40 C. R. ~ 122.
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standards unless such requirements
have been included in a permit issued

under subtitle C of the Solid Waste Dis-
posal Act, Part C of the Safe Drinking
Water Act , MPRSA, or the Clean Air Act
or under State permit programs approved
by the Administrator.

By exempting individual septic systems from these
technical sludge disposal and treatment standards
EP A prevented homeowners and other operators of
individual septic systems from facing these require-
ments. The sewage sludge regulations aim primarily
at "safe use and disposal of sewage sludge," allowing
permitting that is "compatible with beneficial reuse
projects (for sludge) such as agricultural land appli-
cation. "40 Once an entity physically removes sewage
from an individual septic tank , the owner of that tank
no longer has control over the disposal of the waste
and should not have to comply with sewage sludge
standards. Section 122. l(b)(2) therefore aims at the
disposers , not the initial producers and dischargers
of sludge.

54 F. R. 18716 (EP A 40 C. R. ~ 122 , 123 , 124, and 501 , May 2
1989).

40 

41 
See jd To regulate individual septic tanks (whether serving

one or several households) (under the sewage sludge disposal
regulations) obviously would be extremely difficult and ineffi-
cient. It would also be impractical in terms of achieving envi-
ronmental results since the owners and operators of septic tanks
have no effective control over the actual disposition of septage
pumped from their tanks (i. they cannot control the entjtjes
who pump and dispose of the septage (emphasis added)).

42 See jd Part 122 contains a second part to the definition of

treatment works treating domestic sewage. ' It provides that the
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In sum 40 C.F.R. 122. l (b)(l) defines the point

sources that are subject to NPDES permitting. 

C.F.R. 122. l(b)(2) is a separate portion of the regula-
tion , applying sewage sludge disposal requirements
to entities that might not otherwise be regulated by
NPDES permits under the point source requirement.
Although septic systems are explicitly excluded from
these sludge disposal requirements , Defendants have
not persuaded us that septic systems are not "point
sources" that discharge "pollutants" into U.S. waters
under 40 c.F.R. 122. l (b)(l) and that the indictment
fails to state an offense.43 The septic systems on BHA

Regional Administrator may designate a particular facility as a
treatment works treating domestic sewage ' for the purpose of
CWA section 405(f where necessary to protect public health and
the environment from poor sludge quality, use , handling or dis-
posal practices , or to ensure compliance with 40 C. R. Part 503.

This enables the Regional Administrator to carry out the intent
of Congress to ensure that all persons subject to the standards
for sludge use and disposal (e.g., persons who handle sewage
sludge but who do not generate or treat sewage sludge) operate
in compliance with such standards , and that adverse effects on
the environment resulting from poor sludge quality, use , han-
dling or disposal can be minimized. The authority to designate
facilities as ' treatment works treating domestic sewage ' on a
case-by-case basis is not required for either NPDES (Part 123)
or non-NPDES (Part 501) State programs. Under today s final

rule , States are required to have a program that requires per-
mits for POTW s and other treatment works as defined in 9
501.2, but are free to develop any appropriate program to regu-
late other users and disposers of sewage sludge to ensure com-
pliance with the technical standards. " (emphasis added)).
43 We recognize that we have not formerly encountered a case
charging an operator of a septic system with failure to obtain an
NPDES permit. This is likely because few cases have presented
us with these unique circumstances , where a developer hired an
engineer to approve and install septic systems directly in wet-
lands that are waters of the United States , thus making a sys-
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are "containers," thus suggesting that they fall under
the definition of "point source " incorporated into Sec-
tion 122. l(b)(l), and septic systems hold "solid waste
and "sewage" that fit within the definition of "pollu-
tion " as defined by Section 122. 2. The exemptions to 9
122. l(b)(l)'s NPDES permit requirement list sewage
from vessels but do not exempt individual septic sys-
tems from the permitting requirement.

We have never addressed whether the Clean Wa-
ter Act can require NPDES permits for septic sys-
tems , but by the language of the Act the septic sys-
tems at issue in this case are point sources that dis-
charged pollutants into waters of the United States
and required NPDES permits. Other case law pro-
vides support for this reading. The Supreme Court'
plurality decision in Rapanos in the context of 9 404
of the CWA found that

many courts have held that. . . upstream
intermittently flowing channels them-
selves constitute "point sources" under
the Act. The definition of "point source
includes "any pipe , ditch , channel , tunnel
conduit , well, discrete fissure , container
rolling stock , concentrated animal feed-
ing operation , or vessel or other floating
craft , from which pollutants are or may
be discharged. " 33 Us.c. l362(14). 

have held that the Act "makes plain that
a point source need not be the original

tem that is typically a diffuse, non-point source into a point
source.

44 See 40 C. R. ~ 122.
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source of the pollutant; it need only con-
vey the pollutant to 'navigable waters. "'45

The Court, in determining that intervening con-
duits can be point sources , cited to United States 
Ortiz!6 and Dague v. Burlington. 47 

In Ortiz the
Tenth Circuit reversed an acquittal after a jury trial
on a charge of "discharging pollutants from a point
source (a storm drain) into waters of the United
States. . . without (an NPDES) permit. "4s Defendant
dumped pollutants into a toilet, and the pollutants
eventually emptied through a storm drain into the
Colorado River.49 

Similar to Rapanos, Dague did not
involve a violation of NPDES permit requirements
but addressed the definition of "point source" that is
used in NPDES permitting.50 The Second Circuit held
that where pollutants ran off from a landfill into a
pond and then through a railroad culvert that con-
veyed the pollutants into a surrounding marsh , the

45 126 S. Ct. at 2227 
(emphasis added) (quoting S Fla. Water

Mgmt. Dist. v. Miccosukee Trjbe 541 U.S. 95 , 105 (2004)).

427 F. 3d 1278 (10th Cir. 2005).

935 F. 2d 1343 (2d Cir. 1991).

427 F. 3d at 1281.

49 Id at 1279-81.

50 33 U.S. C. ~ 1311 , the statute addressed in Dague uses the
definition of point source from 33 u.s.e. i 1362 (see Dague, 935
F.2d at 1354) and is identical to the definition of point source for
NPDES permitting contained in 40 C. R. ~ 122. 2. Section 1362
like ~ 122. , defines point source as "any discernible , confined
and discrete conveyance , including but not limited to any pipe
ditch , channel, tunnel, conduit , well, discrete fissure , container
rolling stock , concentrated animal feeding operation , or vessel or
other floating craft , from which pollutants are or may be dis-
charged. This term does not include agricultural stormwater
discharges and return flows from irrigated agriculture.
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railroad culvert was a point source.51 The Second Cir-
cuit followed a definition similar to the Supreme
Court' s in distinguishing point sources from nonpoint
sources , identifying point sources as "pollutants. 

. .

discharged from 'discernible , confined, and discrete
conveyance(s)' either by gravitational or nongravita-

tional means. "52

Several district courts have found that pollutants
discharged from failed septic systems into navigable
waters are point sources for the purposes of the Clean
Water Act. In United States v. Evans where the "dis-
charge alleged (was) overflow from a septic tank "53

the Middle District of Florida held that "the affidavits
established that pollutant was being discharged from

point source into the creek."54 In that case , some of
the sewage was bypassing the septic system and flow-
ing directly into the creek. In Minesota Center for
Environmental Advocacy v. United States EPA the
court found that a "straight pipe septic system,"56 one
that disposes "untreated sewage directly via a pipe to
rivers , lakes , drain tiles , or ditches," is a point source
under 33 U. C. 1362(14). 57 In Friends ofSakonnet

935 F. 2d at 1355.

52 Sierra Club v. Abston Constr. Co. 620 F. 2d 41 , 45 (1980)
(quoting 33 U.S. C. ~ 1362(14)).

53 No. 3:05-cr-159(S3)- 32MMH , 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 94369
at * , n. 32 (M.D. Fla. July 14, 2006).

54 Id at 132.

55 Id at 108.

56 No. 03- 5450 , 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 12652 at * 17 (D. Minn.
June 23 , 2005).

57 Id at 17- 18.
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v. Dutra58 the court held

, "

The owners of (a) (v)illage
(development) septic system are required to obtain an
NPDES (national pollutant discharge elimination
system) p ermi t un der 33 US c. 9 l3 42 as they are dis-
charging pollutants into navigable waters. "59 The 

homes had sewage lines connecting to a "large com-
munal septic tank "GO and the sewage then "deposited
in a leach field"Gl and was chlorinated, then sent
through a pipe into the Sakkonet River. When the
septic system failed, raw sewage flowed into the
river. The court held that the system was a "privately
owned treatment works" and that " (t)here is no ques-
tion . . . that the owners of the failed septic system
are liable under 33 Usc. l311 (including 'effluent
limitations for point sources, other than publicly
owned treatment works )."G2

The septic systems on BHA are not a commun-
ally-used septic system or a straight-pipe system and
are not privately owned treatment works. However
the evidence produced at trial was sufficient to sup-
port a finding that they were a point source and could
be subject to NPDES permitting requirements under
the CW A. The indictment was sufficient in charging a
violation of the CW A for failure to obtain NPDES
permits for the septic systems.

738 F. Supp. 623 (D. R.I. 1990).

59 Id at 630 n. 13.

60 Id at 627.

61 

62 
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The jury instructions on point source pollution
from BHA under Section 402 of the CWA were also suffi-
cient. All Defendants object to the instructions as
misleading because the language in the instruction

stated multiple times 'from a point source , to wit , a
septic system , "'63 arguing that this language could
have suggested that a septic system is a point source
and established an essential element of the crime.
The "to-wit" language arises frequently within the
jury instructions because that language was part of
the counts in the indictment , which the court read to
the jury. The court's instructions after reading the
counts did not include the phrase "to wit , a septic sys-
tem" but instead required the jury to find

First , that the defendants knew that they
were discharging or causing to be dis-
charged pollutants; Second from a point
source; Third, that the defendants knew
the physical characteristics of the prop-

erty into which the pollutant was dis-
charged that identify it as a wetland;

Fourth , that the defendants knew of the
facts establishing the required link be-

tween the wetland and waters of the
United States; And fifth , that the defen-
dants knew that they did not have a per-
mit as required by the National Pollutant
Discharge Elimination System Program
Section 402 of the Clean Water Act.

These instructions did not establish that a septic sys-
tem was a point source; they required the jury to find

63 Defendant Lucas s Brief at 55.

64 Emphasis added.
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beyond a reasonable doubt that element of the crime.
As the court found in overruling Thompson s attor-

ney s objections to the instruction

, "

the essential ele-
mend) -- Element No. 2 requires the jury to find be-
yond a reasonable doubt that there is a point source
without telling them what it is. It's up to them to de-
cide based on the evidence that they ve heard
whether these septic tanks even qualify as a point
source.

Defendants also argue that "the law imposes the
requirement to obtain a Section 402 NPDES permit
solely upon the actual discharger or operator of a fa-
cility" and that the court's instructions misstated the
law by allowing the jury to convict defendants for
causing" a discharge. The court, in overruling De-

fendants ' objections to the instruction , found

I think the government's theory of the

case is that they -- although they may not
have discharged the pollutant, they cre-
ated the instrumentality through which a
pollutant could have been discharged.
And I'll let the jury -- I'll let the jury
make a determination as to whether or
not that theory is sufficient to satisfy the
causing of a pollutant or a causing of a

discharge of a pollutant.

The court instructed the jury,

For you to find the defendants guilty of
these crimes , you must be convinced that
the government has proved each of the
following beyond a reasonable doubt:
First , that the defendants knew that they
were discharging or causing the discharge
of pollutants; Second, from a point source;
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Third that the defendants knew the
physical characteristics of the property
into which a pollutant was discharged
that identify it as a wetland; Fourth , that
the defendants knew of the facts estab-
lishing the required link between the wet-
land and waters of the United States;
And fifth , that the defendants knew that
they did not have a permit as required by
Section 404 of the Clean Water Act.

Although the court instructed the jury that 

could find defendants guilty for "causing" a discharge
Lucas s attorney argued in closing,

The EPA wants to hold Mr. Lucas respon-
sible for septic tank problems even
though he had no control over what the
owners of those systems were doing to
them or how they were using them. Mr.
Lucas and Big Hill Acres do not operate
septic systems on mobile homes in Big
Hill Acres. And the evidence showed that
the EP A doesn t require any kind of per-
mit to operate a septic system. But the
government is here telling you that it' s a
crime for Mr. Lucas not to have had a
permit or , even worse , do what the De-
partment of Health and Environmental
Protection Agency encouraged him to 
(i. , take action to counter the failing
septic systems).

Defendants ' argument against the court' s instruc-
tions turns partly on the construction of 40 C. R. ~

l22.2l(b), providing, "When a facility or activity is
owned by one person but is operated by another per-
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son , it is the operator s duty to obtain a permit" and
on whether an individual who causes a discharge can
be considered an operator. Defendants point to New-
ton County Wildle Ass'n v. Rogers 65 where the court
held that the Forest Service , in approving timber
sales , did not need to obtain NPDES or dredge and
fill permits. If any permits were required, the con-

tractors doing the harvesting and building roads
would have the responsibility of obtaining them.

The Government argues that Congress amended
the CW A in 1987 to broaden criminal liability under
the Act and in doing so , provided that its intent was
to "provide penalties for dischargers or individuals
who knowingly or negligently violate or cause the vio-
lation of certain of the Act's requirements." 67 The
Government further argues that "defendants may. . .
be held indirectly liable for the discharges as aiders
and abettors under l8 usc. 9 2. In each of the CWA
counts , defendants were charged as principals pursu-
ant to this provision. A principal is criminally culpa-

ble for causing an intermediary to commit a criminal
act even where the intermediary has no criminal in-
tent and is innocent of the substantive crime. "6s We

are persuaded by the latter argument.

In Abston Construction Co. we addressed the
question of causation in the context of defining a

point source of pollution. The Sierra Club brought a

65 141 F. 3d 803 (8th Cir. 1998).

66 Id at810.

67 Government' s Brief at 79 (quoting H.R. Rep. No. 99- 1004 at
136 (1986) (Conf. Rep.); H.R. Rep. No. 99- 189, at 29- 30 (1985)
(emphasis added)).

68 Government' s Brief at 80-81.
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citizen suit against a mmmg company that con-
structed sediment basins to catch the run -off from
spoil piles.69 The basins occasionally overflowed dur-
ing rainy weather , thus discharging pollutants into a
creek. The company argued that it was not legally
responsible for the discharge because "natural" dis-
charge in the form of rain caused the discharge from
the spoil piles;71 it argued that the discharge from the
spoil piles was not a point source of pollution. 
held that although the mining company had not cre-
ated the gullies and ditches formed by the rainwater
which channeled the mining pollutants into the
creek , the company was responsible for a point source
discharge because it collected the "rock and other ma-
terials" that eventually caused creek pollution.72 Spe-

cifically, we held that

(n)othing in the (Clean Water73) Act re-
lieves miners from liability simply be-
cause the operators did not actually con-
struct those conveyances , so long as they
are reasonably likely to be the means by
which pollutants are ultimately deposited
into a navigable body of water.

This case did not apply specifically to NPDES
permits , however. Defendants ' activities in construct-
ing the septic systems fall somewhere between the

620 F. 2d at 43.

70 

71 Id at 44.

72 Id at 45.

73 The opinion referred to the Clean Water Act by its full name
the Federal Water Pollution Control Act.
74 Id at 45.
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standards in Newtown County Wildle Ass'n and Ab-
ston Construction Co. Under the Newtown County
Wildle Ass'n standard, Defendants here could have
been considered the "operators," as they were directly
responsible for designing and certifying the septic
systems that collected and discharged the waste , al-

though a contractor handled the actual installation.
The Government also provided evidence that Lucas
voluntarily worked on the septic systems when own-
ers complained that they were failing, filling them
with dirt and extending the drain fields. In Abston
Construction Co. the mine created the waste (rocks
and other mining materials) that was collected in a
point source , the sediment basins; at BHA, Defen-

dants did not create the waste collected in the septic
systems.

We have not addressed whether individuals and
corporations "causing" discharge are required to ob-
tain NPDES permits. Several district courts have. In
Evans the Middle District of Florida upheld the con-
stitutionality of searches challenged by the owner
and operator of a labor camp. The Government had
obtained search warrants to investigate , among other
things , potential violations of the Clean Water Act for
discharging human waste into a creek without an
NPDES permit. Although the waste came from the
workers in the labor camp, the Defendants may have
constructed the "illegal bypass" around the septic sys-

75 Defendants provided evidence that the state and the EP A had
determined that they would not prosecute installers at BHA for
temporary repairs of septic problems that Defendants claimed at
trial were the lot owners ' responsibility. The Government pre-
sented evidence that Lucas did not follow required procedures
for the repairs and attempted to repair at least one septic sys-
tem on an uninhabited lot that he wished to re-sell.
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tem 76 that allowed raw human waste to flow through
a PVC pipe into a creek or ditch. 77 

Evans asked, of
course , whether there was probable cause to believe
that there was CW A jurisdiction. Friends of Sakkonet
addressed a treatment works rather than a point
source but also speaks to the issue of causation.

There , the defendants were the corporate owners and
former landowners of the land holding a large septic
tank serving 33 homes. The district court granted
summary judgment under the federal CW A against
the "corporate owner of the land on which the failed
sewage system is located" and "the sole trustee of the
Trust" that owned the corporation.

Defendant Lucas hired M.E. Thompson to design
and certify the septic systems that discharged pollut-
ants into navigable waters. Although Defendants

personal septic waste was not the waste that entered
federal wetlands , the attempted technical distinction
between the "discharge of any pollutant" and "caus-
ing" this discharge is unavailing here. The lot owners
eventually used the systems , but Defendants were
the cause of their operation and their unlawful dis-
charge from the systems. At minimum , they aided
and abetted the operation of the septic systems and
the resulting discharges. A jury instruction allowing

conviction for "causing" the discharge of pollutants
was not an abuse of discretion.

In addition to challenging the sufficiency of the
indictment and jury instructions pertaining to

2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 94369 at * 108.

77 Id at 108-09.

78 738 F. Supp. at 626 , 635.
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NPDES permitting, all Defendants challenge the
court' s denial of their motion for acquittal on consti-
tutional grounds. Counts 30-35 of the superseding in-
dictment charged Lucas , Wrigley, and Thompson
with causing the discharge of pollutants into waters
of the United States without a Section 402 permit. Fol-

lowing the close of the Government's case, Defen-

dants moved for acquittal on all counts. The district
court initially granted acquittal for counts 30-35 but
after a weekend recess reversed its ruling. The court
in reversing the acquittal , stated

I could be in error. And if I am in error , I
should be corrected. And the only way to
preserve that would be to take the matter
-- reserve ruling on the Rule 29 motion and
allow the case to go forward to the jury
with proper instructions.

The court , in other words , questioned its initial de-
termination that there was "no evidence" on the
counts. This decision did not subject Defendants to
double jeopardy, and the court did not abuse its dis-

cretion in denying their acquittal motion.

Reversal of a final judgment of acquittal would
place a defendant in double jeopardy. "A judgment of
acquittal, whether based on a jury verdict of not
guilty or on a ruling by the court that the evidence is
insufficient to convict , may not be appealed. . . "79

But an initial ruling of acquittal followed by a change
of mind before any further proceedings occur is not a
final judgment. Smith v. Massachusetts confirmed
that "a prosecutor can seek to persuade the court to

79 Unjted States v. Scott 437 U.S. 82 , 91 , 98 S. Ct. 2187 , 57 L.
Ed. 2d 65 (1978).
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correct its legal error (i. , an "ill-considered acquittal
ruling( ),,) before it rules , or at least before the pro-
ceedings move forward. " so

The district court made its initial ruling outside
of the jury s presence at the end of the week and an-
nounced that the Government could appeal the rul-
ing. The court considered the Government's argu-
ments against the ruling during the weekend recess
and, before the trial progressed any further, reversed
its initial ruling on the acquittal. The court's final
ruling was a denial of the motion for acquittal on the
CW A counts , and no double jeopardy attached after
the initial ruling.

Defendants also contest counts 30-35 on the
grounds that the Government's evidence for those

counts did not prove CW A jurisdiction , and that the
court should have granted the motion for acquittal on
these counts. "So long as a reasonable trier of fact
could find that the evidence established guilt beyond
a reasonable doubt, the evidence need not exclude
every reasonable hypothesis of innocence or be wholly
inconsistent with every conclusion except that of
guilt. "s2 Where a reasonable trier of fact could find
guilt beyond a reasonable doubt

, "

the jury (is) free to
choose among the reasonable constructions of the
evidence: one of which (is) consistent with (Defen-
dant' s) guilt,"S3 and the judge need not grant a motion

543 U.S. 462 , 474 (2005) (citing Pnce v. Vincent 538 U.S. 634
637- , 643- , and n. 1 (2003)).

81 The prosecution argued that despite the court' s intent to allow
an appeal of the judgment , the Government would not be able to
appeal a ruling of acquittal on the counts.
82 Unjted States v. Loe 262 F. 3d 427 , 434 (5th Cir. 2001).

83 
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for acquittal. We are persuaded that there was suffi-
cient evidence to support conviction on the counts
including evidence that the wetlands on BHA were
waters of the United States under the Rapanos stan-
dards , as we have discussed.

All Defendants argue that the indictment was in-
sufficient on the mail  fraud charges and that the evi-
dence does not support their mail fraud conviction

alleging that a breach of the warranty of habitability
is necessary to show fraud for lot sales in Mississippi
and that all lot buyers signed contracts making a
breach of the warranty impossible.s4 Defendants also
allege that no one testified that the lots were "unin-
habitable" and that the Government failed to prove
that septic systems backed up and caused problems

because of their placement in wetlands. They con-
clude that a "breach of a warranty of habitability
cannot support the mail  fraud conviction.

The mail  fraud charges were not limited to alle-
gations of a breach of warranty. Rather , they charged
a broader scheme of fraudulent misrepresentation
that induced buyers to purchase lots and use of the
mails to further this scheme. The indictment charged
in relevant part

84 The contract contained a waiver provision stating, "It is un-
derstood and agreed that Buyer. . . has inspected the above de-
scribed property and that the same is , and has been purchased
by Buyer as a result of said inspection and not upon any repre-
sentation made by Seller or its agents. . . that Buyer waives any
and all claims for damages because of any representation made
by any person whomsoever; and that Seller or its agent or
agents shall not and are not responsible for any inducement
promise , representation , agreement , condition , or stipulation not
specifically set forth herein.
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in advertisements to the public and in
statements to individuals , represented to
potential purchasers of Big Hill Acres lots
that the lots were habitable and suitable
for home sites when in fact they were not
. . . . submitted. . . a letter certifying that
the below-ground septic system. . . had
been installed in compliance with Missis-
sippi state law when in fact it was not
(charge against M.E. Thompson) 
represented to customers that the lots
they were marketing at Big Hill Acres

development had or would have properly
designed and correctly installed septic
systems that made the lots suitable for
purchase as home sites. . . entered into
contracts with purchasers of Big Hill
Acres to buy home sites that were not
suitable for habitation requiring the pur-
chasers to make monthly payments to the
Big Hill Acres office in Lucedale , Missis-
sippi. .. knowingly caused a payment for
the sale of the lot (identified in counts 2
through 18) to be delivered by the United
States Postal Service to BIG HILL
ACRES , INC.

, . . . 

each such mailing be-

ing a separate count. . . 

The mail  fraud statute attaches criminal liability 

Whoever , having devised or intending to
devise any scheme or artifice to defraud
or for obtaining money or property by
means of false or fraudulent pretenses
representations , or promises. . . for the
purpose of executing such scheme or arti-
fice or attempting so to do , places in any
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post office or authorized depository for
mail matter, any matter or thing what-
ever to be sent or delivered by the Postal
Service. . . or takes or receives therefrom
any such matter or thing. . . . S5

Specifically, a jury must find three elements to sup-
port a mail fraud conviction: ''' (1) a scheme to de-
fraud; (2) use of the mails to execute that scheme;
and (3) the specific intent to defraud. "'s6 A misrepre-
sentation must be material to constitute fraud under
the statute S7 meaning it "has a natural tendency to
influence , or is capable of influencing, the decision of
the decision-making body to which it was ad-
dressed. "ss

We are not persuaded that the disclaimer provi-
sion of these individual sales contracts insulates De-
fendants from the federal chargesS9 or that the fraud
alleged and shown in this case was limited to a viola-
tion of that narrow warranty.

We have not addressed the question of whether a
working septic system is required for the implied
warranty of habitability that arises from a contract of
the sale of a house and land under Mississippi law.
Mississippi courts have held that the warranty covers

85 18 U.S. C. ~ 1341 (emphasis added).

86 Unjted States v. Dotson 407 F. 3d 387 391-92 (5th Cir. 2005)
(quoting United States v. Strong, 371 F. 3d 225 , 227 (5th Cir.
2004)) .

87 See Neder v. Unjted States 527 U.S. 1 , 22, 119 S. Ct. 1827

144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999).

88 Unjted States v. Harms 442 F. 3d 367, 372 (5th Cir. 2006),
cert. denjed, 127 S. Ct. 2875 (2007).

89 Defendants do not cite to any case law for this proposition.
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mobile homes and septic systems. 90 We have deter-
mined in an Alabama case that a realtor s misrepre-
sentation that a vacant lot's soil was suitable for a
septic tank may have constituted intentional and
negligent misrepresentation and a breach of implied
warranty, remanding to the district court to consider
the issue.

The contracts for the lots purportedly waived the
liability of Defendants and their agents for any repre-
sentations made outside of the written contract , in-
cluding "inducements." A broad contract waiver can-
not exempt Defendants from federal mail fraud con-
viction in this case. "The Supreme Court has repeat-
edly noted that misrepresentation cannot be justified
by incorrectness of the position of the party to whom
the misrepresentation is made. "93 Although residents

90 See, e.g., Moorman v. Tower Management Co. 451 F. Supp.

2d 846 , 851 (S. D. Miss. 2006) (quoting Staley v. Bounl, 718 A.2d
283, 284-85 (1998)) (finding that the warranty of habitability
applies to mobile home lots and citing the Staley case , which
recognized that ' in leasing improved lots in a mobile home

park ' tenants 'bargain for a similar bundle of goods and ser-
vices ' including, for example

, '

potable water , adequate septic
service, and proper electrical connections ' all of which are ' es-
sential components of a habitable residence
91 See Mann v. Adams Realty Co. , Inc. 556 F. 2d 288 , 291 (5th
Cir. 1977) (The realtor had stated that " (e)verything (was) fine

concerning the septic system).
92 Id at 297.

93 Dotson 407 F. 3d at 393- 94 (citing Unjted States v. Mandu-
jano 425 U.S. 564 (1976) ("sanctions for false statements or per-
jury allowed even when inquiry was unconstitutional") and
Denms v. Unjted States 384 U.S. 855 (1966) ("' It is no defense
to a charge based upon (conspiracy to circumvent a law through
deceit) that the statutory scheme sought to be evaded is some-
how defective.

)).
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inspected the lots and verified this inspection in the
contract.

Defendants made misrepresentations that di-
rectly contradicted inspecting buyers ' observations.
Wrigley misrepresented the dryness of the site , for
example , when buyers noticed wetlands and wetlands
vegetation and questioned her about the wetlands.

The Government presented evidence that Defen-
dants , despite warnings from agencies that they were
installing septic systems in saturated soils, adver-

tised the lots as "high and dry" and, when asked by
owners if there were wetlands on the property, re-
sponded that there were none. .. (T)he mail fraud

statute does not require a completed fraud, just that
the defendant has 'devised or intend(ed) to devise ' a
scheme to defraud,"94 but the Government presented
evidence of a completed fraud, indicating that the lots
were not in fact dry, as Defendants had advertised
and that residents encountered sewage problems on
their wet lots. At least one witness also testified
that Wrigley or Lucas added language to her contract
after she signed it; the language stated that she had
been notified about potential wetlands on her prop-
erty, while the owner testified that Defendants had

94 Unjted States v. Ratcljff, 488 F. 3d 639, 645 n.7 (5th Cir.
2007) .

95 Patrick Brossett , Sr. testified that he "had a problem with it
(the septic) flooding up on the ground all the time. Every time it
rains , it comes up. " Winford Patterson testified that "within the
first month" his septic system "filled up. Commodes wouldn
flush. " Sewer " (w)ater was coming up into the bathtubs and the
sinks and the showers. " He testified that he had to drain waste
from the system out of his yard and " into the property ditch.
Patricia Griswold testified that sewage "was still backing up
inside the trailer even after the septic tank was pumped.
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not informed her of wetlands or shown her any wet-
lands maps when she was purchasing the property.
Other witnesses testified that their land was wet and
that their septic systems backed up. A witness who
had asked Wrigley whether there were any wetlands
on the property testified that it "would have made a
huge difference" in her decision to buy the property if
Wrigley had informed her that it contained wetlands.
Although Defendants presented some evidence that
the septic systems failed because lot owners had mis-
used their septic systems , other lot owners testified
that they only disposed of proper waste in their sys-
tems , yet the systems still failed. Based on this evi-
dence

, "

a reasonable trier of fact could conclude that
the Government proved beyond a reasonable doubt"97
that Defendants made material misrepresentations
in selling the lots and that the septic systems failed
because they were placed in wetlands.

The Government also presented evidence that De-
fendants used the mail  to accomplish fraudulent
sales: they caused lot owners to send payments
through the mail  to the BHA, Inc. office and sent re-
ceipts through the mail  for these payments. We are

96 Pansy Maddox, district environmental supervisor for MDH
also testified that " (m)ost of the systems were failing because
fled drains had been placed in soils that were too wet and do not
drain adequately to absorb the wastewater.
97 Harms 442 F. 3d at 374.

98 Defendants allege that "proof of mailing was lacking for
Counts 10 and 16. " Count 10 involved lot GG-4. Patricia Gris-
wold, the former owner of lot GG- , testified that she made a
payment in the mail  for that lot and verified that a receipt for

that payment (Government's Exhibit 50(ii)) came through the
mail. Count 16 involved lot YY- 1. The owner "involved in pur-
chasing YY- l and YY-2" testified that " (w)e paid cash and some-
times by check" for the lot payments. "We mailed them. " He also
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persuaded that the mailings were sufficiently con-
nected to the fraudulent misrepresentations. "One
causes ' an article to be delivered by mail if he acts
with the knowledge that use of the mail  wil follow in

the ordinary course or if use of the mail  is reasonably
foreseeable. . . . "99

Mter purchasing a lot based on fraudulent mis-
representations, prospective lot owners committed
themselves to years of installment payments to be
made through the mail. Although many owners made
payments after the EP A had informed them that
their lots were on wetlands, these payments con-
nected directly back to contracts that they signed
prior to agency warnings.

Defendants challenge the court's instructions on
mail fraud, arguing that the court abused its discre-
tion by failing to instruct on materiality. For jury in-
structions

, "

the omission of an element is subject to
harmless-error analysis."lOo Although the district
court erred in stating that the Fifth Circuit Pattern

Jury Instructions for mail fraud do not mention ma-
teriality, lOl the district court's instructions defined
false representations as constituting "a half truth , or
effectively conceaHing) a material fact , provided it is
made with the intent to defraud. "102 But this does not

verified that Government's Exhibit 79(a) contained "envelopes
that Mr. Lucas had given us to send our money in to them.
99 Unjted States v. Blankenshjp, 746 F. 2d 233 , 240 (5th Cir.
1984) .

100 Neder, 527 U.S. at 10.

101 The pattern jury instructions require inter aHa That the
scheme to defraud employed false material representations.
2001 Fifth Circuit Criminal Jury Instructions.
102 Emphasis added.
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end our inquiry. The inclusion of the word " " be-

tween "half truth" and "conceals a material fact"
could have suggested to the jury that a false repre-
sentation could be defined as a half truth that con-
cealed a non -material fact. The court's instruction
under either definition of false representation -- one
that is a "half truth" or "conceals a material fact" --
correctly required the jury to find, for a mail fraud
conviction, that defendants "knowingly created a
scheme to defraud. That is , obtain money by inducing
individuals to lease , rent or purchase lots or subdi-
vided real property in (BHA) under representations
that were false. "103

The court's instructions included a requirement of
materiality. As indicated above

, "

a false statement is
material if it has a natural tendency to infuence
(is) capable of influencing, the decision of the deci-
sion-making body to which it was addressed."104 By

instructing the jury that the misrepresentations must
have induced individuals to lease the property to con-
stitute fraud, the court required that the jury estab-
lish materiality.

VII

Moving from mail fraud to conspiracy, M.
Thompson -- the engineer who designed and certified
the septic systems -- and Wrigley and Lucas 105 con-

103 Emphasis added.
104 Neder, 527 U.S. at 16 (internal quotations and citations omit-
ted, emphasis added).

105 Lucas , BHA, Inc. , and Consolidated Investments , Inc. briefed
the conspiracy issues. Wrigley and Thompson adopted the ar-
guments from that brief. Thompson additionally argued that the
evidence did not support his conviction for conspiracy.
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test the sufficiency of the conspiracy charge in the in-
dictment and the sufficiency of the evidence proving
conspiracy. They also argue that because the conspir-
acy convictions "are contingent upon the underlying
charges" of violation of the CW A and mail fraud
there is insufficient evidence to support the conspir-
acy charges. Because we have found sufficient evi-
dence to support the underlying charges , we need not
address their final argument.

We review "the sufficiency of an indictment 
novo taking the indictment's allegations as true. "106

To prove a conspiracy under ~ 371 , the evidence must
prove and the indictment must allege "(1) an agree-
ment between the defendant and a co-conspirator to
violate a law of the United States; (2) an overt act by
one conspirator in furtherance of the conspiracy; and
(3) the specific intent to further an unlawful objective
of the conspiracy. "107 The agreement "must be arrived
at knowingly," and ''' (m)ere association with those in-
volved in a criminal venture is insufficient to prove
participation in a conspiracy. "'lOS The Government
may prove an agreement using "circumstantial evi-
dence," and "in a conspiracy case: an agreement may
be inferred from concert of action , voluntary partici-
pation may be inferred from a collocation of circum-
stances , and knowledge may be inferred from sur-
rounding circumstances. "109

106 
Unjted States v. Ratcljff, 488 F. 3d 639 , 643 (5th Cir. 2007).

107 Unjted States v. Bjeganowski: 313 F. 3d 264, 276 (5th Cir.
2002) .

108 Id at 277 (quoting Unjted States v. Ballard, 663 F. 2d 534
543 (5th Cir. 1981).
109 Id (internal quotations omitted).
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With respect to the sufficiency of the indictment
Defendants only challenge the unlawful objective
prong, arguing that the object of the conspiracy -- the
sale of wetlands -- was not illegal. The indictment
sufficiently alleged unlawful objectives and placed
Defendants on notice of the offenses charged. The
unlawful objectives charged included inter alia

Use of the United States Mail in further-
ance of a scheme to defraud by inducing
individuals to lease , rent, and purchase
residential lots in the Big Hill Acres de-
velopment . . . by making material repre-
sentations they (Defendants) knew to be
false that the lots were suitable for habi-
tation when they were not , in violation of
Title , United States Code, Section l34l 

* *

* By installing septic systems in water-
saturated soils and wetlands , knowingly
causing pollutants including human
waste to be discharged from point
sources , into waters of the United States
specifically, wetlands located in Van-
cleave , Mississippi, without a permit. . .
in violation of Title 33 United States Code
Section l3l9(c)(2)(A).

Defendants also challenge the sufficiency of the
evidence for the conspiracy conviction , arguing that
there was insufficient evidence to show an agreement
between Thompson and anyone of the other Defen-
dants , or that any of the Defendants intended to vio-
late the mail  fraud statute or the CW A. When prov-
Ing conspIracy,

(a)n express agreement is not required; a
tacit, mutual agreement with common
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purpose , design, and understanding will
suffice." Because secrecy is the norm
each element may be established by cir-
cumstantial evidence. llo

The circumstantial evidence showed that Thomp-
son agreed to the conspiracy, participated in overt

acts in furtherance of the conspiracy, and that he had
knowledge of the unlawful objectives of the conspir-
acy. The evidence also was sufficient to support a
finding that Defendants intended to commit mail
fraud or to violate the CW A. The Government pre-
sented evidence that Thompson attended meetings
about the septic system designs with MDH and a
representative" of Lucas. ll1 The MDH informed

Thompson in letters that many of the septic systems
he had certified were illegal and that he had certified
septic systems on sites where the MDH had rejected
the installation of septic systems. The MDH sent a
letter to Lucas informing him that the MDH had re-
scinded many of its former recommendations of septic
systems , and an MDH employee met with Wrigley to
explain why the MDH could not recommend under-
ground septic systems for the property. Mter MDH
brought legal action against Thompson for illegally
approving wastewater disposal systems at a non-

110 Unjted States v. Farjas 469 F. 3d 393 , 398 (5th Cir. (quoting
Unjted States v. Infante 404 F. 3d 376 , 385 (5th Cir. 2005)), cert.
denjed, 127 S. Ct. 1502 (2007).

111 Maddox testified that Mr. Thompson requested a meeting
with her "to discuss the regulations" regarding septic systems in
saturated soils and that Tommy Brodnax attended the meeting
and "said he was there on behalf of Mr. Lucas and his develop-
ment in Vancleave. " She testified that "a couple weeks later
Tommy Brodnax and M.E. Thompson requested another meet-
ing" with her.
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BHA site , Wrigley told the MDH to stop interfering
with Thompson s certifications.1 The MDH also sent
letters to Thompson warning him that he was ille-
gally installing systems. The Government presented
evidence that Thompson ignored the MDH's warnings
and certified systems to allow lot sales to move for-
ward.113 The Government also presented evidence
that Thompson did not inspect many of the systems
that he certified and infrequently supervised installa-
tion. A reasonable jury could have determined beyond
a reasonable doubt that Thompson , Lucas , and Wrig-
ley conspired to profit from the sale of lots that were
not habitable and to violate the CW 

Thompson , Lucas , and Wrigley also challenge the
court' s jury instructions on conspiracy, alleging that
the court erred in refusing to instruct the jury on
unanimity and that the Government also requested a
unanimity instruction , which the court failed to give.
The district court viewed the conspiracy claim as a
single conspiracy to commit several offenses , instruct-
ing the jury to find

that the defendant and at least one other
person made an agreement to commit at
least one of the offenses charged in the

112 Jim Weston , branch director of the division of on site waste-
water at MDH , testified that Wrigley "picked (him) up, and she
(rode) him around Ocean Springs" and told him that "she felt
that Mr. Thompson was doing a very good job for them out
there. As far as she knew , that he knew more about it than we
did. And that we should be ashamed of ourselves for having him
arrested. "

113 Defendants presented evidence that Thomspon disagreed
with the MDH' s standards for interpreting soil charts and iden-
tifying saturated soils , arguing that his alleged non-compliance
was a result of this disagreement.
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indictment. That is, the crime of mail
fraud or to knowingly violate Section 404
of the Clean Water Act or to knowingly
violate Section 402 of the Clean Water
Act as charged in the indictment.

Defendants allege that these instructions created a
genuine risk that the jury (would be confused) or
that a conviction (might) occur as the result of differ-
ent jurors concluding that a defendant committed dif-
ferent acts" and that the court should have instructed
on unanimity for this charge. The district court did
not abuse its discretion in refusing to do so. The in-
structions did not risk confusing the jury, and they
reasonably instructed the jury that it must find that
Defendants agreecJ14 to commit "at least one of the
offenses" to convict for conspiracy, suggesting that
the jurors had to concur on the specific offense -- or

114 See Unjted States v. Dillman 15 F. 3d 384, 391-92 (5th Cir.
1994) (citations omitted) ("The appellants ' argument fails be-
cause it is based on a fundamental misunderstanding of the crux
of a conspiracy charge under 18 U.S. C. ~ 371: The defendant'
voluntary agreement with another or others to commit an of-
fense against or to defraud the United States. It does not matter
that a single conspiracy was comprised of several objects to
which the defendant did not specifically agree to accomplish , if
those acts were reasonably foreseeable. Once the defendant had
joined the agreement , the acts of the other conspirators became
his acts irrespective of whether he physically participated in
those particular acts or expressly agreed to the various specific
objectives that constituted the respective stages of the overarch-
ing conspiracy. When twelve jurors believe beyond a reasonable
doubt that the defendant under consideration agreed to achieve
an ultimate criminal purpose against the United States , all ju-
rors need not agree on which particular offenses that defendant
intended personally to commit as long as there is but one con-
spiracy that encompasses the particular offenses charged. ,,
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the several offenses -- that Defendants agreed to
commit.

Finally, Defendants argue that the "District
Court erred in failing to instruct the jury that if the
objective of the conspiracy was legal, Defendants
could not be convicted of conspiracy." Although De-

fendants' proffered instruction was an accurate
statement of the law, the court's instructions sub-

stantially covered the alternative language. They re-
quired that , in order to find conspiracy, the jury must
find that Defendants agreed to commit the crime 

mail fraud or to knowingly violate Section 404 of the
Clean Water Act or to knowingly violate Section 402

of the Clean Water Act as charged in the indictment,"
thus indicating that the jury must find that Defen-
dants agreed to do something illegal.

VIII

All of the Defendants contest several evidentiary
rulings of the court. 115 At trial , the Government pre-
sented Phillip Johnson , a lot owner and worker at
BHA, as a witness. The Government provided Defen-
dants with "The Statements of Phillip Johnson" prior
to trial but substantially redacted the statements by
cutting out large paragraphs and repasting the mate-
rial. The redacted portions included allegations that
Robert Lucas had bribed local officials to further his
business on BHA. Defendants were unaware of the
redacted bribery allegations until Johnson mentioned
them in direct examination. For the first time at oral
argument, the Government claimed that it had not

115 Lucas, BHA, Inc. , Consolidated Investments, Inc. , and
Thompson adopted Wrigley s evidentiary arguments.
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planned to elicit the bribery testimony and that John-
son s statements came as a surprise.

Regardless of whether or not the Government an-
ticipated that Johnson would testify about bribery, its
behavior was wrong. By redacting the statements in a
non -obvious manner and failing to reveal material
that would arise at trial , the Government shortened
Defendants ' time to prepare an adequate defense.

When improper evidence is introduced to the jury
but a defendant's subsequent motion for mistrial is
denied, we review the denial for abuse of discretion 116

and, if we find error, we apply harmless error re-
view.1 Further

New trial is required only when , after a
review of the entire record, it appears

that there is a significant possibility that
the prejudicial evidence had a substantial
impact on the jury verdict. We give great
weight to the trial court's assessment of
the prejudicial effect of the evidence , and
prejudice may be rendered harmless by a
curative instruction. 11s

116 Unjted States v. Valles 484 F. 3d 745 756 (5th Cir. 2007) (ct-
ing Unjted States v. Dupre 117 F. 3d 810, 823 (5th Cir. 1997)),
cert. denjed, 127 S. Ct. 3025 (2007), and petjtjon fOr cert. hied
(Jul. 6, 2007) (No. 07- 8373), and cert. denjed, 128 S. Ct. 238

(2007) .

117 See, e.g., Dorsey v. Quarterman 494 F. 3d 527 , 531 (5th Cir.
2007) urors saw non -redacted version of a redacted transcript
that had been introduced at trial; defendant moved for mistrial;
court denied motion; we reviewed for harmless error and found
that any error was harmless), petjtjon for cert. hied (Oct. 27

2007) (No. 07- 7371).

118 Valles 484 F. 3d at 756.
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The FBI had interviewed Johnson and had pre-
pared a summary of the interviews. The Government
provided a redacted version of this summary to de-
fendants before trial , as required by Rule l6 for organ-
izational defendants. 119 The redacted version of the
FBI summary omitted the following language:

While employed at BHA he (Johnson)
knew several other men who worked for
LUCAS (followed by the names of em-
ployees). He believes that most of these
employees are still around. DANNY
ANDERSON moved to Newberry, South
Carolina.

JOHNSON heard rumors from other em-
ployees that LUCAS paid off county offi-
cials in order to develop land he was not
supposed to , build roads in an inferior
manner , and get approval for septic tanks
in areas where they would clearly not
function correctly. JOHNSON always as-
sumed that these were just rumors and
that LUCAS was doing things correctly.

However , one day he saw something that
troubled him. Around that spring of 1998
he was repairing a piece of equipment on
the job site. LUCAS pulled up in his car
then two males pulled up in a Ford
Crown Victoria with county tags dis-
played on it. LUCAS handed each of the
men a brown envelope. They stood at the
back of the car and spoke. Then TOMMY
BROADNAX (sic), a county supervisor

119 FED. R. CRIM. P. 16(a)(1)(C).
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pulled up. BROADNAX (sic) also received
a brown envelope from Lucas. . . All four
men then got in the county car and drove
off. They were only gone for a few min-
utes. When they returned BROADNAX
(sic) and LUCAS got out and got in
LUCAS' car and drove towards the BHA
office. The two men got in the county car
and drove away.

BROADNAX (sic) would frequently come
out to the area and ride around with
LUCAS. Other employees told him that
BROADNAX leased a dump truck 
BHA. The dump truck was very seldom
used but , LUCAS paid for it on a monthly
bases (sic) whether or not it was utilized.

Johnson, in response to a Government question
about a meeting that Johnson had with Brodnax , tes-
tified that Lucas "pulled out a couple of envelopes
and gave one to Tommy," and that there was "some
greenback" in the envelope. This testimony was 
surprise to both the court and Defendants. This sur-
prise introduction of the bribery evidence was unfair
but did not rise to a deprivation of Defendants ' due
process rights.

Mter Johnson testified about bribery, the court
changed its prior ruling that Defendants could not
introduce Johnson s criminal background, allowing

them to extensively cross-examine him about his
prior convictions and arrests. The court also gave
curative instructions and reminded the jury about the
testimony on Johnson s prior convictions , stating,

You have been told that the witness Phil-
lip Johnson was previously convicted of
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several felony offenses. A conviction is a
factor you may consider in deciding
whether to believe that witness , but it
does not necessarily destroy the witness

credibility. It has been brought to your at-
tention only because you may wish to
consider it when you decide whether your
believe the witness ' testimony. * * * You
are here to decide whether the govern-
ment has proved beyond a reasonable
doubt that the defendants are guilty of

the crimes charged. The defendants are

not on trial for any other act , conduct or
offense not alleged in the indictment.

Although Defendants argue that despite these meas-
ures , the bribery evidence tainted the entire case and
moved the direction of the trial from a mail fraud

wetlands , habitability, Clean Water Act case into a
public bribery case," the evidence from the record
does not suggest that the case was tainted to this de-
gree or that it led the jury to settle upon a verdict
that it would not have otherwise reached. The Gov-
ernment presented evidence of Defendants ' continued
and knowing violations of the law, despite several

agencies ' orders to stop. The evidence in the case did
not focus unduly on bribery but rather on the hydrol-
ogy of the area , the problems that residents faced as a
result of septic systems installed in wet areas , and
Defendants ' methods for advertising, selling, and re-
ceiving payments for the lots. The Government did
not mention bribery in its closing argument; its only
discussion of Phillip Johnson referred to his warnings
to Lucas that the land was wet , his complaints about
the failed septic system on his lot, and his road con-
struction work as an employee for Lucas.
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Defendants also argue that the Government , in
providing Johnson s redacted statements to Defen-

dants prior to trial, failed to properly disclose Rule
l6(a)(l)(c) evidence of statements by an organiza-
tion s representative; failed to comply with the court'
discovery order in violation of Rule 26; violated the
Jencks Act; and introduced improper 404(b) character
evidence of "bad acts. " The Government did not vio-
late the Jencks Act because it provided an unredacted
version of the statements after Johnson testified.
Even assuming that the Government violated the
court' s discovery order and Rule l6(a)(l)(c) by failing
to provide a full, unredacted version of Johnson
statements prior to trial , we are not persuaded that
the introduction of the testimony and the Govern-
ment' s failure to disclose the nature of that testimony
in advance rose to the level of reversible error . 120

The day after Johnson had mentioned the bribery
incident , the court advised Johnson to "make a con-
scious effort to try to limit (his) responses to the ques-
tions so that (he would be) responsive to the question
and (not) give us more. . . more of a colorful com-
ments (sic) and colorful testimony than is really nec-
essary for this jury to resolve the issues." The court
also allowed the Defendants to extensively cross ex-
amine Johnson and gave the jury cautionary instruc-
tions , as discussed above.

120 See Unjted States v. Ramjrez, 174 F.3d 584 587 (5th Cir. 1999)
Even when a (Jencks Act) violation is found, the failure to pro-

duce prior statements is subject to a harmless error analysis.
Unjted States v. Gonzalez, 661 F.2d 488, 494 (5th Cir. 1981) As-
suming that th(e) failure to disclose (under 16(a)(1)(C)) was the
government' s error, it is not cause to reverse unless prejudicial
to the substantial rights of the accused.
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Finally, the district court did not abuse its discre-
tion in refusing to strike Johnson s testimony and rul-
ing that Johnson s testimony was evidence of overt

acts and not Rule 404(b) character evidence , finding,

The government's theory of the conspir-
acy from the beginning has included the
allegation that Mr. Brodnax was at a
minimum helpful in obtaining favorable
zoning decisions and resolutions from the
board of supervisors, exerting influence

upon the health department in an overall
effort to assist Mr. Lucas.

We have held that "all the government need do
(to show that Rule 404(b) does not apply) is suggest a
logical hypothesis of the relevance of the evidence for
a purpose other than to demonstrate (the defen-
dant' s) propensity to act in a particular manner. "121

In its opening arguments , the Government stated:

(T)he Jackson County board of supervi-
sors granted Mr. Lucas variance after
variance , freeing him from any platting
requirement. . . . These variances from
the Jackson County board of supervisors
were an additional benefit to Mr. Lucas
and Ms. Wrigley. . . . The variances freed
them from the scrutiny of the planning
department.

The Government then introduced evidence of the
unusual number of variances granted to Lucas , in-

cluding the testimony of Johnson , who worked for
Lucas and witnessed his interactions with the board.

121 Unjted States v. Kraut 66 F. 3d 1420, 1431 (5th Cir. 1995).
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Defendant Thompson argues that the court
abused its discretion in denying his motion to sever
following the introduction of Johnson s surprise tes-
timony. We review a district court's denial of a mo-
tion for severance for an abuse of discretion 122 and

reverse only if "there is clear prejudice to the defen-
dant"123 as a result of the denial. Defendants argue

that "Thompson suffered extreme prejudice from the
joint trial with Robert Lucas. . . (because) a new but
uncharged crime da)me before the jury (bribery)
which he had no opportunity to defend since he was
not aware of any such purported act and the Gov-

ernment concealed the prejudicial testimony in dis-
covery." They further argue

, "

The prejudice suffered
by Defendant Thompson is patently compelling and
the court could do nothing to mitigate same , as it was
impossible to mitigate the effect on the jury or give
the defendant sufficient time to prepare a defense. .

Thompson cites the court's remarks regarding its
surprise over the introduction of Johnson s bribery

evidence. A court's surprise over the introduction of
evidence does not demonstrate clear prejudice , and
Thompson fails to indicate how he was otherwise
prejudiced.

Defendants also sought leave to depose a witness
Bobby Strickland, and present his deposition at trial
to counter the evidence introduced by Johnson. The
district court denied the motion. Mr. Strickland was

122 Unjted States v. Hickerson 489 F. 3d 742 , 746 (5th Cir. 2007)
(citing Unjted States v. McCarter, 316 F. 3d 536 , 538 (5th Cir.
2002)), cert. denjed, 128 S. Ct. 521 (2007).

123 Id (quoting Unjted States v. Holloway, 1 F. 3d 307 , 310 (5th
Cir. 1993)).
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unable to testify at trial due to "distance, surgery,
and death in his family." Defendants allege that
Strickland would have countered Johnson s claims

about his relationship with Strickland.

District courts have "broad discretion" to grant or
refuse a Rule l5(a) motion , and they "should review
these motions on a case-by-case basis, examining
whether the particular characteristics of each case
constitute 'exceptional circumstances. "'124 "The words

exceptional circumstances ' bespeak that only in ex-
traordinary cases will depositions be compelled. "125

Such extraordinary circumstances include , for exam-
pIe , situations where a potential deponent would not
likely be able to return to the United States.1 Even
if extraordinary circumstances are present, the pro-
posed deposition must be "material,"127 and we sub-
ject any error caused by denial of a motion for deposi-
tion to harmless error review.1 Where "even as sum 
ing the greatest benefit to the defendants from (the
proposed deponent's testimony, that testimony still
could not have exculpated (the defendant),"129 we find
harmless error.

Although Strickland's testimony would have been
material" in the sense that it may have discredited

some of Johnson s claims , the circumstances of "dis-
tance , surgery, and death in his family" are not ex-

124 Dillman 15 F. 3d at 389 (quoting Unjted States v. Bello 532
2d 422 , 423 (5th Cir. 1976)).

125 

126 

127 

128 

129 
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traordinary. Even if they were, Strickland's testi-
mony would not have necessarily helped to exculpate
Defendants from their direct charges , as bribery was
not included in the charges but was evidence relevant
to the conspiracy, of which there was substantial evi-
dence unrelated to bribery, as we have described.

Finally, Defendants argue that the Government
committed many unforgivable errors throughout the
trial by making multiple speaking objections , men-
tioning in front of the jury that Defendants had filed
a motion to dismiss , suggesting that Defendants had
the burden of proof 130 alluding to the fact that
Thompson had not testified 131 and asking "prejudi-
cial questions" with "no good faith basis. "132 The court
instructed the jury that Defendants had no burden of
proof and that statements by lawyers are not evi-
dence , stating,

(dhe law does not require a defendant to
prove his innocence or to produce any evi-
dence at all and no inference whatever

may be drawn from the election of a de-
fendant not to testify. The government
has the burden of proving each of the de-
fendants guilty beyond a reasonable

130 The prosecution asked one of Defendants ' witnesses on cross
And you re asking the jury to rely on this beyond a reasonable

doubt , and there are no data points here at all on it, right?"

131 The prosecution stated, in referring to defense counsel' s cross
examination

, "

Your honor, he s just simply testifying. If they
want to put Mr. Thompson on to say what happened. But he
testifying. I object to it.
132 Claiming, for example , that " the Government elicited testi-
mony about the drinking water that the Government knew to be
baseless , but which was highly prejudicial to Appellants.
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doubt; and, if it fails to do so , you must
acquit that defendant. * * * Remember
that any statements , objections or argu-
ments made by the lawyers are not evi-
dence in the case.

Mter the Government alluded to Mr. Thompson s de-

cision not to testify and Mr. Thompson s attorney

made a motion for mistrial , the court also gave a cau-
tionary instruction , stating,

the government's attorney made a com-
ment during an objection which may have
been taken by you as an indication that
Mr. M.E. Thompson would or should tes-
tify in this case. First , I want to remind
you the defendants are presumed inno-
cent until proven guilty. The burden of
proof is on the government until the very
end of the case. The defendants have no
burden to prove their innocence or to pre-
sent any evidence or to testify. Since the
defendants have the right to remain si-
lent , the law prohibits you in arriving at
your verdict from considering that the de-

fendants may not have testified. I specifi-
cally instruct you that Mr. Thompson has
absolutely no duty to testify. And you are
not to hold it against him or to consider
that in any way as to whether or not he is
guilty or not guilty of the crimes that are
charged against him in the indictment.
He has an absolute right under the Con-
stitution of the United States not to tes-
tify. And that is not to be held against
him by the jury. And I want you to keep
that in mind at all times. I don know
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whether Mr. Thompson will testify or not.
However, any remarks counsel for the
government may have made that might
lead you to expect Mr. Thompson to tes-
tify should be put out of your minds en-
tirely.

Defendants understandably take issue with the tac-
tics of the Government, but none of their examples
suggest that the tactics were so out of line that 
must find that the district court abused its discretion
in refusing to grant a mistrial. That does not mean
that we approve of this want of professionalism.

The court , following the guidelines , sentenced Lu-
cas to 108 months ' imprisonment and three years ' su-
pervised release and fined him $15 000. It sentenced
both Wrigley and Thompson to 87-month sentences
with three years ' supervised release and assessed
$15 000 in fines against each of them. It fined BHA
Inc. $4. million and Consolidated Investments
$500 000, and assessed $1 407 400 in restitution
against each Defendant. 133 Defendants argue that the
restitution is based on an erroneous calculation of
loss and the number of victims. Defendants also con-
test the court's refusal to grant downward departures
for acceptance of responsibility.

'''

Although the determination of loss is a factual
finding reviewed for clear error , the court's choice of
the method by which losses are determined involves

133 The court also sentenced BHA, Inc. and Consolidated In-
vestments to 5 years ' probation and made special assessments of

600 and $400 against BHA and Consolidated Investments
respectively.
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an application of the sentencing guidelines , which is
reviewed de novo. "'134 Defendants argue that the dis-
trict court erred in calculating a loss range between
$1 and 2.5 million based on the eighteen lots in the
mail fraud counts and in calculating the number of
victims. They assert that even if the loss figure were
correct , the court should have authorized a lower loss
figure because "the offense level determined under
this guideline substantially overstated the serious-
ness of the offense. " Defendants also argue that the
court erred in identifying 67 victims when calculating
loss , as only 21 residents and former residents testi-
fied, and MDH evaluations indicated that 25 septic
systems malfunctioned.

The court properly used the sales price of the lots
to calculate the amount of money that Defendants in-
tended to receive from the fraud -- i. , the loss to the
victims of the fraud. This is an acceptable measure
under United States v. Pennell135 The court also cor-
rectly determined the number of victims by identify-
ing the individuals included in the indictment. 136 The
number of victims should not be limited to those who
testified at trial or to the MDH evaluations that
showed that 25 septic systems malfunctioned, as De-
fendants argue. Defendants were convicted for a
fraudulent scheme that affected many lot buyers , not
just those that Mississippi determined to have been
affected by septic system problems.

134 Harms 442 F. 3d at 379 (quoting Unjted States v. Deavours
219 F. 3d 400 , 402 (5th Cir. 2000)).

135 409 F. 3d 240 244 (5th Cir. 2005).
136 Unjted States v. Cothran, 302 F.3d 279 290 (5th Cir. 2002) un-
der our precedent , the district court could award restitution to
all of the victims of the broader scheme
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Finally, Defendants argue that the court should
have granted a downward departure from the sen-
tencing guidelines because they accepted responsibil-
ity for their acts , arguing that Lucas did not chal-
lenge the underlying facts presented by the Govern-
ment but rather disputed the constitutionality of the
CW A. We review a court's interpretation of the guide-
lines de novo and its findings of fact in the sentencing
hearing for clear error . 137 We "lack() jurisdiction to
review a downward-departure denial unless. . . the
district court held a mistaken belief that the Guide-
lines do not give it the authority to depart."13S Appel-

lants produce no evidence that the court was un-
aware of its authority.

AFFIRMED.

137 Unjted States v. Austin 479 F. 3d 363 , 367 (5th Cir. 2007).

138 Unjted States v. Sam 467 F. 3d 857 , 861 (5th Cir. 2006).
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APPENDIX B

IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FIFTH CIRCUIT

No. 06-60289

) Plaintif-Appellee

ROBERT J LUCAS , JR;)
BIG HILL ACRES INC; 
CONSOLIDATED )
INVESTMENTS INC; ROBBIE 
LUCAS WRIGLEY; 
ME THOMPSON JR ) Defendants-Appellants

UNITED STATES
OF AMERICA

Appeals from the United States District Court
for the Southern District of Mississippi

ON PETITION FOR REHEARING EN BANC

(Filed Mar. 4 , 2008)

(Opinion 2/1/08 5 Cir. - - F. 3d 

Before HIGGINBOTHAM , SMITH and OWEN , Cir-
cuit Judges.
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PER CURIAM:

(-0 Treating the Petition for Rehearing En Banc as a
petition for Panel Rehearing, the Petition for Panel
Rehearing is DENIED. No member of the panel nor
judge in regular active service of the court having re-
quested that the court be polled on Rehearing En
Banc (Fed. R. App. P. and 5th Cir. R. 35), the Petition
for Rehearing En Banc is DENIED.

( ) 

Treating the Petition for Rehearing En Banc as a
Petition for Panel Rehearing, the Petition for Panel
Rehearing is DENIED. The court having been polled
at the request of one of the members of the court and
a majority of the judges who are in regular active
service and not disqualified not having voted in favor
(Fed. R. App. P. and 5th Cir. R. 35), the Petition for
Rehearing En Banc is DENIED.

ENTERED FOR THE COURT

Isl Patrick Higginbotham
United States Circuit Judge
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APPENDIX C

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF

MISSISSIPPI
SOUTHERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF 

AMERICA 

:04CR60GuRo

ROBERT J. LUCAS , JR.
ROBBIE LUCAS
WRIGLEY

E. THOMPSON , JR.
BIG HILL ACRES , INC.
CONSOLIDATED
INVESTMENTS , INC.

ORDER DENYING DEFENDANTS'
MOTION TO DISMISS

CLEAN WATER ACT (COUNTS 30-41)
FOR FAILING TO CHARGE AN OFFENSE

BEFORE THIS COURT is a Motion to Dismiss
Clean Water Act Counts (30-41) For Failing 
Charge an Offense filed September 23, 2004, by
Robert J. Lucas , Big Hill Acres , Inc. and Consolidated
Investments, Inc.1 Defendants move the Court 
dismiss Counts 30-41 of the Indictment on the
grounds that the Government has failed to ade-
quately charge the Defendants with violations of the
Clean Water Act. The Defendants contend that be-
cause the Clean Water Act does not expressly require

1 Defendants M. E. Thompson and Robbie Lucas Wrigley filed a
notice of joinder in this motion on September 24, 2004.
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individual onsite septic permits, the Government
cannot charge Defendants with failure to obtain Na-
tional Pollutant Discharge Elimination System per-
mits.

Defendants were , by indictment returned on June
, 2004 , and superceding indictment returned on No-

vember 5 , 2004 , charged with violation of the Clean
Water Act, 18 U. C. ~ 1319(c)(2)(A). The record be-
fore the Court demonstrates that , even after consid-
eration of the parties supplemental authorities , there
are disputed questions of fact that require resolution
by a properly instructed jury, including whether the
named Defendants were responsible for or exempt
from obtaining permits for discharging pollutants and
whether pollutants were discharged from a point
source directly into wetlands that are waters of the
United States. As such, the Defendants' Motion
should be denied.

IT IS ORDERED AND ADJUDGED , that the Mo-
tion to Dismiss Clean Water Act Counts (30-41) For
Failing to Charge an Offense filed September 23
2004 , (571-) should be and is hereby DENIED.

SO ORDERED AND ADJUDGED this the 7th
day of January 2005.

Sf Louis Guirola, Jr.
LOUIS GUIROLA, JR.
UNITED STATES DISTRICT
JUDGE
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APPENDIX D

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF

MISSISSIPPI
SOUTHERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF 

AMERICA 

:04CR60GuRo

ROBERT J. LUCAS , JR.
ROBBIE LUCAS
WRIGLEY

E. THOMPSON , JR.
BIG HILL ACRES , INC.
CONSOLIDATED
INVESTMENTS , INC.

ORDER DENYING DEFENDANTS'
MOTION TO DISMISS CLEAN WATER ACT

(COUNTS 20-41) FOR VAGUENESS

BEFORE THIS COURT is the Motion to Dismiss
Clean Water Act Counts (20-41) For Vagueness filed
September 23, 2004, by Robert J. Lucas , Big Hill
Acres , Inc. and Consolidated Investments , Inc. 1 De-
fendants move the Court to dismiss Counts 20-41 of
the Indictment on the grounds of lenity and due proc-
ess of law. On December 13 , 2004 , the Court heard
oral arguments on these motions.

In the instant motion , Defendants assert that the
Clean Water Act fails to provide adequate notice.

1 Defendants M. E. Thompson and Robbie Lucas Wrigley filed a
notice of joinder in this motion on September 24, 2004.
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Specifically, Defendants contend that the Clean Wa-
ter Act is vague in its general application and in both
notice and the discretionary powers under the act.
Defendants move the Court to dismiss the indictment
by declaring the Clean Water Act unconstitutional
under the Fourteenth Amendment.

In the absence of clear authority from the United
States Supreme Court or the Fifth Circuit Court of
Appeals , this Court declines taking declare that the
Clean Water Act is unconstitutional. The Court finds
that Defendants ' Motion is not well taken and should
be denied.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED AND
ADJUDGED , that the Motion to Dismiss Clean Wa-
ter Act Counts (20-41) For Vagueness filed September

, 2004 , (59- 1) should be and is hereby DENIED.

SO ORDERED AND ADJUDGED , this the 29th
day of December , 2004.

Sf Louis Guirola, Jr.
LOUIS GUIROLA, JR.
UNITED STATES DISTRICT
JUDGE
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APPENDIX E

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI

SOUTHERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF 

AMERICA 

:04CR60GuRo

ROBERT J. LUCAS , JR.
ROBBIE LUCAS
WRIGLEY

E. THOMPSON , JR.
BIG HILL ACRES , INC.
CONSOLIDATED
INVESTMENTS , INC.

ORDER DENYING DEFENDANTS'
MOTION TO DISMISS

CLEAN WATER ACT (COUNTS 20-41) FOR LACK
OF JURISDICTION

BEFORE THIS COURT is the Motion to Dismiss
Clean Water Act Counts (20-41) For Lack of Jurisdic-
tion filed September 23 , 2004 , by Robert J. Lucas , Big
Hill Acres , Inc. and Consolidated Investments , Inc. 1

Defendants move the Court to dismiss Counts 20-41
of the Indictment on the grounds that under the
Clean Water Act , specifically 402 and 404, the
Government lacks jurisdiction to prosecute these De-
fendants. For the reasons stated herein and on the
record, the Court finds that Defendants ' Motion is not
well taken and should be denied.

1 Defendants M. E. Thompson and Robbie Lucas Wrigley filed a
notice of joinder in this motion on September 24, 2004.
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Defendants were charged with violation of the

Clean Water Act pursuant to 18 U. C. 
1319(c)(2)(A). Twenty-two counts of the indictment
are based on alleged violations of the Clean Water
Act. Counts 20 through 29 allege the defendants
filled wetlands without a permit from the Corps of
Engineers in violation of Section 404 of the Clean
Water Act. Counts 30 to 41 charge the defendants
with discharging sewage into the wetlands without a
National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System

NPDES") permit from the EP A in violation of Sec-
tion 402 of the Clean Water Act.

Defendants contend that the entire indictment is
premised on the Clean Water Act which is not appli-
cable to the Big Hill Acres development. According to
the Defendants , for Clean Water Act jurisdiction to
attach , the wetlands at issue must themselves 
navigable or must be actually adjacent to a navigable
body of water. Defendants contend that the indict-
ment fails to allege that the wetlands on Big Hill
Acres are navigable. Further, Defendants contend
that the indictment fails to allege that Big Hill Acres
is adjacent to a navigable body of water. The instant
Motion asserts that the Government is without juris-
diction to prosecute the Defendants under the Clean
Water Act.

The Court has thoroughly considered the evi-
dence before it , including the pleadings on file , the
briefs and arguments of counsel, and the relevant le-
gal authorities. The Court finds that there is a valid
indictment in this case which adequately places the
defendants on notice of the alleged violations of the
provisions of the Clean Water Act.
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IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED AND
ADJUDGED , that the Motion to Dismiss Clean Wa-
ter Act Counts (20-41) For Lack of Jurisdiction filed
September 23 , 2004, (55- 1) should be and is hereby
DENIED.

SO ORDERED AND ADJUDGED , this the 29th
day of December , 2004.

Sf Louis Guirola, Jr.
LOUIS GUIROLA, JR.
UNITED STATES DISTRICT
JUDGE
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APPENDIX F

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI

SOUTHERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF 

AMERICA 

:04CR60GuRo

ROBERT J. LUCAS , JR.
ROBBIE LUCAS
WRIGLEY

E. THOMPSON , JR.
BIG HILL ACRES , INC.
CONSOLIDATED
INVESTMENTS , INC.

ORDER DENYING DEFENDANTS'
MOTION TO DISMISS CLEAN WATER ACT

(COUNTS 27-41) FOR FAILURE TO ESTABLISH
INTENT

BEFORE THIS COURT is the Motion to Dismiss
Clean Water Act Counts (27-41) For Failure to Estab-
lish Intent filed September 23 , 2004 , by Robert J. Lu-
cas, Big Hill Acres, Inc. and Consolidated Invest-
ments , Inc. 1 Defendants move the Court to dismiss
Counts 27-41 of the Indictment on the grounds that
the named Defendants did not possess the requisite
intent or mens rea to commit a criminal act in viola-
tion of the Clean Water Act. On December 13 , 2004
the Court heard oral arguments on these motions.
For the reasons stated on the record, the Court finds

1 Defendants M. E. Thompson and Robbie Lucas Wrigley filed a
notice of joinder in this motion on September 24, 2004.
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that Defendants ' Motion is not well taken and should
be denied.

IT IS THERFORE ORDERED AND ADJUDGED
that the Motion to Dismiss Clean Water Act Counts
(27-41) For Failure to Establish Intent filed Septem-
ber 23 , 2004 , (53- 1) should be and is hereby DENIED.

SO ORDERED AND ADJUDGED , this the 29th
day of December , 2004.

Sf Louis Guirola, Jr.
LOUIS GUIROLA, JR.
UNITED STATES DISTRICT
JUDGE
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APPENDIX G

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI

SOUTHERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES ) Plaintifs
OF AMERICA 

) CIVIL ACTION NO.
) 1:04cr60GuRo

ROBERT J. LUCAS
JR., ET AL ) Defendants

COURT REPORTER' S TRANSCRIPT OF TRIAL

BEFORE HONORABLE LOUIS GUIROLA, JR.
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

- and a jury -

January 2005
Gulfport , Mississippi

DAILY COPY
NOT PROOFREAD

APPEARANCES:

JEREMYF. KORZENIK, ESQUIRE
DEBORAH HARRIS , ESQUIRE

S. Department of Justice
O. Box 23985

Washington , DC 20026- 3985

JAYT. GOLDEN , ESQUIRE
S. Attorney s Office

1575 20th Avenue
Gulfport , MS 39501
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APPEARANCES (CONT'D):

Representing the Government

WILLIAM LEE GUICE , III , ESQUIRE
Rushing & Guice

O. Box 1925
Biloxi , MS 39533- 1925

PHILLIP A. WITTMAN , ESQUIRE
DARIA B. DIAZ , ESQUIRE
PAUL MASINTER , ESQUIRE
Stone , Pigman , Walther
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546 Carondelet St.
New Orleans , LA 70130-3588

Representing the Defendants
Robert J. Lucas , Jr. , Big Hill Acres , Inc. and
Consolidated Investments , Inc.

LESLIE D. HOLLEMAN , ESQUIRE
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Representing the Defendant
Robbie Lucas Wrigley
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Representing M. E. Thompson , Jr.

David McLeod , EPA
Robert J. Lucas , Defendant
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Robbie Lucas Wrigley, Defendant

COURT REPORTER:
Margaret W. Seal , RMR , CRR
701 N. Main Street , Room 253
Hattiesburg, MS 39401
(601) 583-4383

ALSO PRESENT:
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(February 3 2005 , 1:36 p.m.)

(Off the record discussion)

THE COURT: All right. Has the government had
an opportunity to review the defendants ' motion for
judgment of acquittal under Rule 29 and the support-
ing memoranda?

MS. HARRIS: Yes , Your Honor , we have.

THE COURT: All right. I' ll state what is obvious
and that is that Rule 29 motions for judgment of ac-
quittal require the Court to consider all of the gov-
ernment' s evidence in the light most favorable to the
government. That means that the Court grants all
reasonable inferences since the jury is permitted to
draw conclusions and is permitted to deduce or 
make deductions based on the evidence that they
hear. Thus , that's where we get the language in the
light most favorable to the government.

The Court has to consider based upon that stan-
dard whether there is evidence from which a jury can
conclude that the government has sustained their
burden , which is beyond a reasonable doubt. And I
have to say that the defendants ' motion for judgment
of acquittal is quite succinct. It's to the point. And it
seems to frame the issues.

Now , I do have some -- let me ask it this way. In
addition to the motion and the memoranda , do the
defendants feel any necessity for any further argu-
ment?

MR. WITTMAN: Your Honor , we tried to put eve-
rything we could into this memorandum. And Ms.
Diaz worked very late last night trying to even get
transcript references. All I want to add, Your Honor
is that in addition to the transcript references we pro-



79a

vided the Court , those are really illustrative. There
are obviously many other transcript references we
haven t had time to pull together and give to Your
Honor. But I believe our memorandum captures the
essence of why we believe a judgment of acquittal is
appropriate.

THE COURT: All right. Very well. I think then 
and Mr. Holder , I'll invite your comments if you have
any additional at this point.

MR. HOLDER: No , Your Honor. I think that --

THE REPORTER: I can t -- I'm sorry. I can t hear
you.

MR. HOLDER: I' sorry. I think that pretty

much summarizes all the defendants ' position.

THE COURT: And Mr. Holleman , I'll extend the
same courtesy to you.

MR. TIMOTHY HOLLEMAN: Yes , Your Honor.
We join -- we move also on the same grounds.

THE COURT: All right. Then I think it -- what I
will do is I will move then to the government. Is there
anything that the government wishes to state into
the record in response to the motion and to the
memoranda?

MS. HARRIS: Your Honor--

THE COURT: And please forgive me if I ask you
to either slow down or repeat something. I'm not
nearly as quick of finger or of wit as the court re-
porter may be. And I might need for you to go back
over something for me. And I may in all likelihood
also want to ask you some questions.

MS. HARRIS: Okay. Then I'll--
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THE COURT: Why don t you make your argu-
ment , and then I'll ask questions if I have any.

MS. HARRIS: Well , what I was going to do -- and
this is only if the Court thinks it's necessary. I was
gonna go count by count and put into the record what
we believe we have in evidence to prove each count.

THE COURT: I think that that type of -- that
kind of detail is unnecessary.

MS. HARRIS: Okay.

THE COURT: I heard the evidence , and I heard
the testimony. There s some portions of it I may have
some questions about. But by and large , I did hear it
and I did try to take notes as best I could as to what
the evidence was. I'm more interested in your legal
arguments at this point.

MS. HARRIS: Well , our legal arguments -- I'll be-
gin with the jurisdictional argument. We believe that

ve provided more than enough evidence to show
beyond a reasonable doubt that these are jurisdic-
tional wetlands. And we ve done this through the tes-
timony and exhibits of Peter Stokely, who through
the use of aerials , corroborative resources such as the
national wetlands inventory, the hydric soils maps
and MARIS waterways maps and ground-truthing
established that there was connectivity between the
wetlands , which everybody concedes exist on Big Hill
Acres , and the Section 10 waters.

We believe that we ve shown in two different
ways that these wetlands are jurisdictional. The first
is our theory from -- that stems from the Riverside
Bayview case that Big Hill Acres is part of a wetland
system that extends all the way to the Section 10 wa-
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ters. The Section 10 waters being by definition navi-
gable-in -fact.

re in no way conceding that there are not
navigable-in -fact waterways north of those Section 
waters , but we believe we ve established a wetland
system all the way to those Section 10 lines.

We also believe that we ve --

THE COURT: What' s that on your finger?

MS. HARRIS: It's a Band-Aid.

THE COURT: Is that a Band-Aid?

MS. HARRIS: And it's got Elmo on it.

THE COURT: All right. As you were gesturing
with your hands , I found it just a tad distracting. But
now that I know what it is , I'll feel better.

MR. TIMOTHY HOLLEMAN: I thought she was
doing it to me , Your Honor.

THE COURT: Go ahead. I apologize.

MS. HARRIS: Okay. The second way that we be-
lieve we ve established jurisdictional wetlands is by
showing that we have wetlands that are adjacent to
tributaries of navigable-in -fact waterways.

Other testimony and exhibits in support of this
in addition to Peter Stokely, that was the testimony
of Mike Wylie , who again used aerials , the corrobora-
tive resources of the NWI , the hydric soils maps and
the MARIS waterways. He talked of flyovers that he
did in an airplane , on and off site wetland determina-
tions and walking and boating the connections from
Big Hill Acres in five different drain ways to the Sec-
tion 10 waters.
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The testimony of Delaney Johnson , who not only
did on site determinations but had worked for several
years putting together the hydric soils survey for
Jackson County and was familiar with that area.

The testimony of Palmer Hough from the EP A
who was doing the work with D.R. Sanders back
when the delineations were being done. And with his
colleague , Lee Pelej, who had 25 years experience do-
ing ground-truthing and following the connections 

the Section 10 waters. The report of D.R. Sanders
which has been admitted into evidence and which in-
side of the report states that these are jurisdictional
waters. We also have put into evidence letters from
Jimmy Palmer that state that these are jurisdictional
wetlands.

In addition , the testimony of Troy Ephriam and
Frank Hubiak from the Corps of Engineers. Frank
Hubiak indicated that -- this is part of what he does
every day. He did a desk top jurisdictional assess-
ment. And both he and Troy Ephriam made asser-
tions to Lucas back in 1996 and 1999 that these were
jurisdictional wetlands.

As far as evidence of the lack of a 404 permit and
the lack of a 402 permit , that came in through all of
our witnesses from EP A and the Corps of Engineers
as well as the witnesses from DEQ.

I was gonna try to avoid going count by count.
And while I'm shortcutting this , let me try to figure
out where to go next. I believe that the first argument
that the defense made was regarding the jurisdic-
tional waters. So 

THE COURT: I think you ve answered that --
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MS. HARRIS: There has been -- as far as proof
that septic tanks are point sources , I believe that that
evidence clearly came in through the testimony of
Jim Weston from the Department of Health who de-
scribed in detail what a septic system is made of and
that it includes discreet conveyances that channelize
water. He talked about the pipes that come from the
septic tank and the pipes that go into the field drain.

And that along with the testimony of all of our
experts that the wetlands themselves are waters of
the U. , we believe that that was sufficient proof
that these septic tanks are point sources because they
are placed directly in waters of the U.

The evidence that the defendants are not opera-

tors of the septic systems , we believe that we ve put
on sufficient proof of that. I will remind the Court of
testimony that came from Ralph Kennedy, an em-
ployee of Mr. Lucas. When we asked about repairs to
these septic systems , he said Mr. Lucas is the owner
of these septic systems and that he authorized these
different repairs.

It also seems to be that the defendants have total
access to all this property. We , of course , pled aiding
and abetting. We ve proved that. But they have total
access to this property given all of the photographs
you ve seen of people s property while they still in-
habit it , that the defense has taken. So I would say
there seems to be no expectation of privacy out there
and that we have shown that these are operators --
that the defendants are operators.

On the mail  fraud counts , I do believe that there
been more than sufficient evidence that these lots
were obtained through misrepresentations made on
behalf of the defendants. The various victims who
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testified were misled into believing that they were
gonna have this turnkey operation where they walk
in and everything has been done according to code

and done according to regulation. And that it turns
out that things were , in fact , not done according to --
whether it was Mississippi state law or the Clean
Water Act.

And everything that has come out tends to go to
the conspiracy count. Starting with the meeting back
in December -- December 20th of 1996 where instead
of Mr. Lucas showing up, Tommy Brodnax came as
his agent. And it went on from there with the sharing
of information and this scheme that developed to in-
stall septic systems in lands where the health de-
partment had tried to shut it down.

Court' s indulgence.

(Off the record discussion between
government counsel)

MS. HARRIS: And unless the Court has specific
questions about specific counts , then --

THE COURT: I do.

MS. HARRIS: Okay. Go ahead.

THE COURT: I do. Before I get to the specific
counts , though , I want to be sure that I understand
your jurisdictional theories. The first of those is that
the Big Hill Acres comprises a smaller part of a lar-
ger wetlands ecosystem , which is adjacent to Section
10 waters. That's your first theory of jurisdictional
wetlands.

And your second theory is that the Big Hill Acres
even if the Court were to determine that it' s not one
big wetlands but lots of little wetlands , that the Big



85a

Hill Acres wetlands are adjacent to tributaries which
ultimately flow into navigable waters.

MS. HARRIS: Navigable-in-fact waters , yes.

THE COURT: Right. All right. Now , let me ask
you about some specific counts.

MS. HARRIS: Okay.

THE COURT: And I'll move very quickly to Count
No. 24.

MS. HARRIS: Yes.

THE COURT: That is one of the counts in which
the defendants are accused or charged with --

MS. HARRIS: A Section 404 violation by install-
ing a septic system into wetlands on April 24th , 1999
on lot KK-2.

THE COURT: Right. All right. Can you point to
or can you tell me where -- I don t remember -- and
listen , juries are the ones that have to remember
these facts. Not necessarily me. But I'm trying to re-
member the specific testimony that Big Hill Acres or
one of these defendants or someone on behalf of one
of these defendants actually installed a system.

MS. HARRIS: And the evidence would be -- the
first evidence is in -- I believe it' s Exhibit 205. It
would be page 158 of that , which is the Wylie slide
presentation. That' -- Wylie was on that lot and
showed that there was a system installed into wet-
lands. In addition , we introduced into evidence a re-
ceipt from Bo Shields which showed that as an instal-
lation date.

THE COURT: All right. Well , that shows that Bo
Shields installed it and that it was installed. What
m looking for is: Where was the evidence or the tes-
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timony or the documentation that one of these defen-
dants installed it?

MS. HARRIS: The rest of the testimony that goes
to that lot , for which we did not call a property owner
is the design submitted by M.E. Thompson --

THE COURT: I'll give you that. They designed it.

MS. HARRIS: -- and the certification.

THE COURT: I'll give you that , too. They certi-
fied it. I guess what I'm looking at , Ms. Harris , is:

Where is the evidence that one of these defendants
scratched in the dirt , excavated and otherwise in-
stalled a system in wetlands in violation of Section
404?

MS. HARRIS: The evidence is through those
documents that our co-conspirators designed the sys-
tem , had it installed by Bo Shields --

THE COURT: That' s my question then. I guess 
now we re zeroing in on it. Where is the evidence that
any of these defendants told Bo Shields to install that
system?

MS. HARRIS: Well , the evidence is the receipt it-
self of Bo Shields and the fact that Mr. Thompson
then sent a letter certifying that the system was in-
stalled as designed. That letter went to the planning
department. And then Mike Wylie came and verified
that there is , in fact, a system there placed in wet-
lands.

THE COURT: All right. So your theory then on
Count No. 24 and I presume also Count No. 25 and
Count No. 26 is that when Mr. Shields installed these
systems in wetlands , he did so at the behest of the
defendants and that is the actual -- what I'm calling
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excavation or disturbing of the wetlands in violation
of Section 404?

MS. HARRIS: That is so and that he was paid for
his work , yes.

THE COURT: All right.

MS. HARRIS: And in addition , on Count 25 , we
also introduced through Eleanor Johnson that the
system was in place at that time.

MR. KORZENIK: Your Honor , if I can add to that

THE COURT: No. I'm only gonna listen to one
argument from one lawyer. Okay? Ms. Harris is doing
a magnificent job. You ll just confuse me if we get too
many arguers.

(Off the record discussion between
government counsel)

MS. HARRIS: I'm sorry. There is one additional
thing. It's that the contracts for these lots , which are
also in evidence , established that the septic systems
were part of that contract and were gonna be in-
stalled pursuant. Those dates also correlate.

THE COURT: All right. And I presume that that
is also your argument in Count No. 28 , although no
landowner testified concerning that property. But
there are documents in evidence which would tend to
show that underground pipes and a below ground

disposal system was installed in Count No. 28.

MS. HARRIS: In addition , on Count No. 28 , the
EPA expert , Mike Wylie , had photographs and testi-
fied that there had been recent disturbance and that
the drain field had been extended. And I believe John
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Mizelle testified that the drain field had been ex-
tended on that lot in April of--

THE COURT: That must be what I missed. Be-
cause I made notes on all of the drain fields that Mr.
Mizelle testified that he extended, but I don t remem-
ber him saying he extended U- 17. But I think I un-

derstand your theory. And that's all I really need.

MS. HARRIS: Okay.

THE COURT: I'm not gonna resolve disputed
questions of fact. I just want to try to understand
what your arguments are. All right. Now , with regard
to Count No. 30 --

MS. HARRIS: Yes.

THE COURT: And this was recent testimony that
we heard from - - I think her name was Eleanor John-
son.

MS. HARRIS: That's correct.

THE COURT: About lot No. AF- 18. Now , these
are charges -- or these defendants are charged with
violations of Section 402 of the Clean Water Act. And
I presume that this is the discharging of a pollutant
on a wetland.

MS. HARRIS: That's correct.

THE COURT: And of course , these questions that
I ask you about these individual counts assume
without deciding, that they are jurisdictional wet-
lands. What evidence is there in Count No. 30 or
what is -- point me , please , to the evidence which
would tend to show that these defendants or someone
on behalf of one of these defendants discharged a pol-
lutant.
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MS. HARRIS: The evidence on Count 30 specifi-
cally was testimony from Eleanor Johnson that she
was living on the property at the time and that there
was an ever growing pool of sewage in her yard. And
in addition , there was testimony from Mike Wylie
that her system is placed in wetlands.

THE COURT: Wait. Let me try to understand it
now. Ms. Johnson testified that she s having a prob-

lem with her septic system and it is overflowing and
there is an arguably -- well , not arguably -- in fact
there is a pollutant on the ground. What is the evi-
dence that these defendants are the ones that put the
pollutant on the ground?

MS. HARRIS: This is an 18 U. C. 2 -- one of the
18 U. C. 2 charges. And what we re contending is
that it was the defendants who made it possible.
They re the ones who through their scheme illegally
installed a septic system in wetlands , then put an oc-
cupant on that property knowing that person was go-
ing to use the system and thereby made it possible for
this pollutant to be discharged.

THE COURT: That would make Ms. Johnson a
principal to the offense; isn t that so?

MS. HARRIS: That's correct. Unwitting in this
case.

THE COURT: All right. Would that be true also
of Count No. 31 and Count No. 32?

MS. HARRIS: That's correct. In 31 , however , we
did not call the landowner. These sewage surfacing
on the property was testified to by Mike Wylie. And
that' s at page 112 of his presentation.

THE COURT: Wait a minute. Count what?
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MS. HARRIS: Count 31 , Z-9. No landowner. The
testimony came in through Mike Wylie. And I believe
it starts on page 112 of that slide presentation.

THE COURT: Correct. That there was actually 

MS. HARRIS: Surfacing sewage.

THE COURT: u sewage on the ground.

MS. HARRIS: Correct.

THE COURT: But the evidence u and let me try
to be u insofar as Count 30 , 31 , 32 and 33 are con-
cerned, the government's theory is that by placing or
having placed a septic system in wetlands that failed
the persons that came along later and actually filled
it with sewage become the u somehow the unwitting
agents of these defendants.

MS. HARRIS: Correct.

THE COURT: All right. Would that also hold true
for Count No. 28 u Count No. 35?

MS. HARRIS: 35 ulet me see. We re back at 402.

THE COURT: No landowners testified about 35.
m trying to --

MS. HARRIS: Norris Jones was the occupant. He
did testify on lot G-2B.

THE COURT: Oh , I've got G-28. It's G-2B?

MS. HARRIS: It's G-2B.

THE COURT: Oh , I am so u that is my error.
That' s G-2B.

MS. HARRIS: And both Norris Jones
laney Johnson testified about that lot.

THE COURT: Wait just a minute.

and De-
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MS. HARRIS: Okay.

THE COURT: All right. So that I get this straight
in my mind, Counts No. 30 , 31 , 32 , 33 , 34 and 35
those are all instances in which the government'
theory is that the homeowners -- that is , the ones
that actually live there and use the septic tanks -- are
agents of the defendants who constructed or had put
in place these failing septic tanks in the first place.

MS. HARRIS: That's correct.

THE COURT: And as such , they re in violation of
the permitting requirement under Section 402 of the
Clean Water Act.

MS. HARRIS: That's correct. And just to be per-
fectly clear , M.E. Thompson is not named in 33 and
34. It' s just Robert Lucas and Robbie Wrigley.

THE COURT: All right. Okay. Thank you , Ms.
Harris.

MS. HARRIS: Is that it?

THE COURT: That' s it.

MS. HARRIS: No more questions?

THE COURT: Thank you.

MS. HARRIS: Thank you.

THE COURT: All right. I' ll invite rebuttal argu-
ment , Mr. Wittman.

MR. WITTMAN: Yes , Your Honor.

THE COURT: And I may have some questions for
you , too. And perhaps you may want to caucus with
Ms. Diaz , and you may do so when I get to the ques-
tioning part.
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MR. WITTMAN: I'll probably need to , Judge. Let
me just, if I may, briefly respond to the legal argu-
ments.

Insofar as Mr. Stokely s testimony was concerned
about jurisdictional wetlands , he didn't actually de-
lineate the wetlands between Big Hill Acres and
navigable-in -fact waters. And neither did any other
government witness. They looked at some aerial pho-
tographs. They looked at some maps. And they didn
actually go and try and delineate or ground-truth
that entire area extending from Big Hill Acres to
navigable-in -fact waters.

What they ve really attempted to do throughout
the case , Your Honor, is to establish a hydrological
connection between a stream or a drain at Big Hill
Acres and a navigable waterway located some four or
five , six miles away.

Now, the Fifth Circuit in Needham pointed out
that adjacency could not possibly include every possi-
ble source of water that flows into a navigable-in -fact
waterway. And we established on cross-examination
of the Corps of Engineers ' witness -- Mr. Ephriam
Mr. Hough , even Mr. Stokely and Mr. Wylie -- that
the wetlands at Big Hill Acres are not navigable-in-
fact.

And if Your Honor will recall , I sort of painstak-
ingly took Mr. Wylie through those pictures he had in
his PowerPoint. And you saw the trees growing in the
drains and the logs across the waterway that he said
he found. And he had to admit really that all of those
drains were not navigable-in -fact, nor is there any
part of Big Hill Acres that's adjacent to a navigable-

in-fact waterway.
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Now , insofar as the point source argument is con-
cerned, I remember that Ms. Pansy Maddox and sev-
eral other representatives of the Mississippi Depart-
ment of Health testified that a failed septic system
constituted nonpoint source pollution. And the EP A'

regulations themselves don t require an NPDES per-
mit for a septic system.

So I think the government has totally failed to
prove any discharge from a point source insofar as
they re attempting to use a septic system as a point
source. And I think that , just as a matter of law , is
fatal to those counts.

Insofar as the mail  fraud is concerned, Judge , the
core of the fraud that the government has asserted in
all of the mail  fraud counts is that somehow the de-
fendants conspired to represent -- or misrepresent
lots as being suitable for habitation when, in fact

they re not.

Now, there are about 600 lots out at Big Hill
Acres. There are hundreds of homeowners living out
there. And people are living there every day with
their children. And they re walking over those lots
living on those lots. Even the government witnesses
who testified that they were living in streams of sew-
age , all when they went bankrupt went in and begged
the bankruptcy court to let them keep the lot. They
wanted to keep that property. They didn't want to let
go of it.

And witness after witness that the government
put on this stand proved inescapably that not only

are these lots habitable, they re desirable. They
wanted them. And they stayed there throughout all of
the travails that they talked about. They re very hab-
itable. And people wanted to stay there.
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And I submit to Your Honor that that' s the test.
The habitability of the property at Big Hill Acres was
proven conclusively by the government's own wit-
nesses. So the fraud that they re talking about simply
doesn t exist.

Moreover, if I'm right and the defendants are
right on the jurisdictional wetlands issue , then there
could not have been a misrepresentation as to wet-
lands that are subject to Section 404 of the Clean Wa-
ter Act because they re not.

So I think that the mail  fraud case falls under its
own weight , Your Honor , based on the witnesses that
the government itself produced. And that' s my argu-
ment. And I'll be happy to answer any questions that
the Judge has for me.

THE COURT: All right. Let me ask you a couple
of questions. And this goes to the question of the ju-
risdictional wetlands. In your memorandum brief
you make a statement on page 3 --

MR. WITTMAN: Let me get my brief, Judge.

THE COURT: You make an assertion on page 3
which is repeated on page 4. And I will -- I'll quote
from the last full sentence on page 3. "The govern-
ment' s regulation of wetlands that have a mere hy-
drologic connection with navigable waters is constitu-
tionally invalid.

And then moving to the first full paragraph 
page 4 , I read this statement as well. "Mter expressly
finding that wetlands which are hydrologically con-
nected to navigable-in -fact waters are not regulated
under CW A, the Fifth Circuit determined that the
term adjacent cannot include every possible source of
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water that eventually flows into a navigable-in -fact
waterway.

My question is this: Did the Fifth Circuit say 
let me be sure that I -- I want to define my terms. Not
that they inferred. Not that they -- not that they did
anything else other than say that a hydrological con-
nection , as you stated on page 3 -- a mere hydrologi-
cal connection is not sufficient to show a significant
nexus between a wetland and a navigable waterway.
Has the Fifth Circuit said that?

MR. WITTMAN: I don t think the Fifth Circuit

actually said that , quite frankly. I infer that from the
language used in the opinion.

THE COURT: I think that -- I appreciate your
candor. I think you could with a straight face argue
that they re almost there or that they meant that.
But they ve not said that , have they?

MR. WITTMAN: Not in exactly those words. I
think we are , in effect , interpreting Needham the way
we think the Court -- the Fifth Circuit intended the
act to apply.

But in further response , if I could, Your Honor , I
don t think there s been any showing of a significant
nexus at this point either by the government.

THE COURT: Okay. Al right. Do you wish to re-
spond to the government's theory in Counts No. 30
through 35? And that is , that these homeowners were
-- that by the -- the mere placing or causing to be
placed of a septic tank on a wetland which was ulti-
mately used by the homeowner, that somehow the
homeowner became the agent of the -- agent of the
defendants and then , therefore , the defendants are
liable --
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MR. WITTMAN: Yes , Your Honor.

THE COURT: -- for --

THE REPORTER: Liable for what , Judge?

THE COURT: The pollutants.

MR. WITTMAN: Your Honor , to begin with , sim-
ply putting a septic system on a lot in and of itself
doesn t implicate Section 402. There s got to be a dis-
charge. Now , it's true that there had to be a septic
system on these properties because they re not con-

nected to a central wastewater disposal system. Eve-
rybody knew that , including the people that bought
those lots.

And they knew or should have known that in us-
ing septic systems you had to be careful to maintain
them , not have them break down , not overload them.
All the things that we ve heard way too much testi-
mony on over the course of the last four weeks.

But no matter how you cut it up, it' s crystal clear
that Mr. Lucas , Robbie Lucas and those two corpora-
tions did not operate those septic systems and didn'
discharge themselves anything on to any navigable

waterway, even assuming that that there s some con-
nection between this property and a navigable wa-

terway.

And when you look at the fact that under Section
402 and the regulations that the Corps itself has is-
sued , it' s only an operator of a facility that has to ap-
ply for and obtain an NPDES permit.

THE COURT: What is that section number? I had
it at my fingertips earlier.

MR. WITTMAN: It's 40 C. R. Section 122.21(b).
I never let that section escape my mind, Your Honor.
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THE COURT: It's up here somewhere. I remem-
ber reading it. I think I left it on my desk. I don
need it right this second. Give me that again. 40

R. 122?

MR. WITTMAN: Ms. Diaz said I may be wrong.
Let me make sure.

THE COURT: I think it' s 33 C. , isn t it?

MS. DIAZ: No. It's 40 C.

MR. WITTMAN: The cite I have in the footnote
Judge , is 40 C. R. Section 122.21(b).

THE COURT: I think that' s correct. I had it here
earlier. I think that regulation says , in essence , that
as between the owner and the operator , it is the op-
erator that has the responsibility to apply for the
permit.

MR. WITTMAN: That' s correct.

THE COURT: Did I state that accurately? Do you
take issue with that , Ms. Harris? Did I state that ac-
curately?

MS. HARRIS: I'm sorry. I don t have it in front of
me.

THE COURT: Okay. I'll look at that to be sure.
All right.

MR. WITTMAN: Anyway, I think it goes without
saying that the government surely hasn t proven that
any of the defendants operated septic systems at Big
Hill Acres that are included in any of the counts of

this indictment.

THE COURT: Do you concede , however -- let me
ask you this. Do you concede , however , that in Counts
36 through 41 , which are all instances in which the
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defendants or an employee of the defendants actually
did remedial work to these septic systems and as sum -
ing that the jury were to believe that and they were
to believe that these are jurisdictional wetlands , that
that would have required a permit if they did reme-
dial work which resulted in the spillage or the addi-
tion of --

MR. WITTMAN: No , Your Honor , I don t. Because
first of all , if you will recall , there was an exchange of
correspondence among the EP A, the Department of
Health and Mr. Jimmy Palmer in which it was ex-
pressly stated that repairs -- temporary repairs to
septic systems would be permitted and installers
would not be prosecuted. There s that correspondence
out there.

There s also testimony from the Mississippi De-

partment of Health officials that you didn't need any
kind of permission from the Mississippi Department
of Health to repair a failing septic system. And given
the fact that there s also been a lot of testimony that
40 to 50 percent of the installed septic systems in the
State of Mississippi are indeed failing, it seems to me
Your Honor , that these Counts 36 through 41 cannot
be sustained as a matter of law.

THE COURT: All right. I think you ve answered
my question. Yes.

MR. HOLDER: Your Honor , if I could just inter-
ject there. I don t think there s any proof that M.
Thompson had any -- performed any remedial work
at all.

THE COURT: Well , do you concede , though , that
Mr. Thompson is charged in the conspiracy count?
And that if the jury were to believe that there is a
conspiracy here to violate the Section 402 Clean Wa-
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ter Act provisions and if you also believe -- well , if you
believe that there s a conspiracy and that it does in-
volve Mr. Thompson , that then Mr. Thompson is , by
law , if the jury believes that , liable for the substan-
tive conduct of his co-conspirators?

MR. HOLDER: No , sir , I wouldn't concede that.
But then , again , I'm not getting into that part of it
yet , of course. I don t see where there s been any proof
of any conspiracy either. But no , I think at that point
-- at the very most, they might have proved Mr.
Thompson designed the system and certified it had
been installed.

At that point , he s terminated from the situation.
Was never notified of anything else. Never knew of
anything else that went on. The government , if they
notified anybody of any problem , certainly it wasn
Mr. Thompson.

THE COURT: Well , let me see if I can -- I may
have -- my question may have been too compound.

MR. HOLDER: I understand. You re saying once

s in the conspiracy, he s in.

THE COURT: No, not only that. Under the
Pinkerton doctrine , once a conspirator is in , is he not
liable for the substantive offenses that are committed
by the co-conspirators in furtherance of the conspir-
acy? Isn t that the law?

MR. HOLDER: But I think your question was
they operated -- when you talked about the operators
of the system -- of course , Mr. Thompson never had
any involvement in it from that point on. So once the
operators -- initially, that' s the -- that would be the
initiating point insofar as he s continuing with the

conspIracy.
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THE COURT: Okay. Al right.

MR. HOLDER: So I would say no , he s not --

THE COURT: I think we may be at cross pur-
poses. We may be talking about two different things.

m past the aiding and abetting theory that the gov-
ernment has. I'm now talking about the remedial
work that was done. And that' s Counts 36 through
41.

MR. HOLDER: Yes , sir.

THE COURT: And I know that Mr. Thompson
didn t actually do the remedial work. But it was done
-- and this is -- again , these are questions of fact for
the jury, but it was done by employees of Big Hill
Acres.

And if the jury believes that Mr. Thompson was a
member of the conspiracy, even though Mr. Thomp-
son may not have participated in any of the substan-
tive counts , 36 through 41 , could the jury not con-
clude or could the jury not find under the Pinkerton
doctrine that he is liable just like everybody else for
the acts of his confederates -- substantive acts of his
confederates? I think that' s the law.

MR. HOLDER: I understand what you re saying,

Judge. You re asking me my opinion , no , sir.

THE COURT: Okay. I'm trying to pin down the
theories here so we can determine whether there are
facts which support these theories. Okay. Go ahead
Mr. Wittman. I'm sorry.

MR. KORZENIK: May I just ask? Your Honor
keeps referring to Counts 36 through 41. The group-
ing is from 34 -- I'm sorry -- 33 on , that there s -- that
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the same individuals are charged. It's under Para-
graph 87 of the indictment. Yeah.

And Mr. Thompson is not charged in those
counts.

THE COURT: He s not charged in 34 and 35. In
, 34 and 35.

MR. KORZENIK: 33 , 34 , 35 through 41.

THE COURT: Mr. Thompson is not charged with
any of those substantive offenses?

MR. WITTMAN: No , Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. Well , then that's a
nonissue then, isn t it? Al right. But I think -- I
think , Mr. Wittman , you answered my question.

MR. WITTMAN: Okay.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. WITTMAN: Any
Honor?

other questions, Your

THE COURT: Hold on just a minute. I think I
had another question for Ms. Harris. Ms. Harris , I
have heard Mr. Wittman interpretation of the

Needham case. What is the government's interpreta-
tion of the Needham case?

MS. HARRIS: First of all , Needham --

THE COURT: What are the limitations -- and
recognizing that I am bound to apply the law in the
Fifth Circuit and bound to apply the law that comes
from the United States Supreme Court and flows
through the Fifth Circuit and I'll not venture beyond
those jurisdictions , if that -- if there is law there that
I have to draw from. What is your -- what is the gov-
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ernment' s interpretation of what the Fifth Circuit
said in Needham?

MS. HARRIS: One of the first things I'd want to
point out is 

THE COURT: Actually, Needham and Rice. Be-
cause you have to read Needham and Rice together.

MS. HARRIS: I mean , I believe it's Footnote 4 in
Rice that specifically says this is not a wetlands case
nor is Needham. And so for the defense to argue in
their motion that Needham states this about wet-
lands, that's incorrect. They re not wetlands cases.
And --

THE COURT: But didn't the Fifth Circuit in
Needham , they do refer to wetlands , though. I notice
in their conclusion under Headnote 15 that under
Rice -- I quote now under Rice: "The OPC permits the
recovery of cleanup costs in only two instances: One
if oil spills into navigable-in-fact waters; or two , if oil
spills into nonnavigable waters or wetlands that are
truly adjacent to an open body of navigable water.
Aren t they --

MS. HARRIS: Where are you reading from?

THE COURT: Isn t the Fifth Circuit telling me
here that this law, whatever it may be, applies to

wetlands?

MS. HARRIS: Could you tell me where you were
reading from? I'm sorry.

THE COURT: Under Headnote 15 , the conclu-
slOn --

MS. HARRIS: Okay.

THE COURT: -- of Needham. That's on page 
That would be at 354 F.3d -- this would be page 
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MS. HARRIS: I see it.

THE COURT: Do you see it?

MS. HARRIS: Yes. It does say that. But what I'
saying is I think in the facts of Needham , the oil
spilled on to dry land and then went into a ditch
which went to something else. The fact is the court
did find jurisdiction in that case.

And what we ve been arguing all along is even
under what the court says here in Needham , which --
I mean , I do believe where it' s stated it's dicta about
what the jurisdiction is , that we meet that test. 
have shown that we are adjacent to navigable-in -fact
waters.

And there are a couple of more things , if I could
that I want to point out. First of all, the defense
keeps making a lot out of the fact that the wetlands
themselves are not navigable-in -fact. That you can
float a boat on them.

ve established that the parameters to identify
wetlands include hydric soils and hydrophytic vegeta-
tion. They re not meant to be navigated. So I don
know that argument is getting them anywhere , but I
do think it' s kind of misleading.

I would also point out that --

THE COURT: I am not misled.

MS. HARRIS: Okay. The jury may be , but --

THE COURT: If it' s intended to be --

MS. HARRIS: Okay.

THE COURT: -- misleading, I am not misled.

MS. HARRIS: That although -- we were talking
about 40 C. R. Section 122 , the owner operator.
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ve been saying all along in this case that the
landowners here are not the owners. They don t own
this land yet. None of them do.

THE COURT: Well , are they the operators then?

MS. HARRIS: They re operators , but they re not

the true owner.

THE COURT: As between the owner and the op-
erator , who has the responsibility to get the NPDES
permit?

MS. HARRIS: Well, we argued that in our mo-
tions. And I'll just have to refer the Court back to the
brief. Because like I said, I don t have the C. R. in
front of me. And I can t -- I just can t answer this at
this moment.

THE COURT: My recollection is that it is the op-
erator rather than the owner that would have the re-
sponsibility. For example , if I had a septic tank sys-
tem and I owned it and I called Bo Shields to come
out and fix it, it would be the responsibility of Bo
Shields to get a permit to pollute. I keep calling it a
permit to pollute. That's just the easy way to refer to

, a permit to pollute. Not me as the owner of the
septic tank.

Because if Bo Shields is gonna spill pollutants all
over the ground, he s the one that's got to have the
permit to do that. I think that' s -- am I wrong? Is it
the other way around then? I can hire Bo Shields and
he can spill sewage allover the ground, but it's my
responsibility to -- the homeowner s responsibility to

get the permit?

MS. HARRIS: I don t think it would be the in-
staller s responsibility.
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THE COURT: Okay.

MS. HARRIS: The other thing I wanted to point
out is this argument we keep hearing also about re-
pairs to systems. It may be that the regulations state
that you don t -- you don t need a permit or whatever.
But this was an unusual case. There had been a cease
and desist issued regarding these systems by every-
body. DEQ had sent letters. DOH. The Corps of En-
gineers had put out cease and desist. The EP A. And
the letters clearly state that any repairs are to be
made with health department involvement. So I just
wanted to make that clear.

THE COURT: Okay. Well , to me , that's a ques-
tion of fact for the jury. And whether the EPA decided
to give somebody a freebie -- do you know how to spell
that , Margaret , a freebie?

THE REPORTER: Yes , sir.

THE COURT: A freebie or not , the essential ele-
ments of the offense would still have been proven.
That' s a matter of defense rather than a question of
law.

Okay. Is there anything else that anyone else
needs to add that might be helpful?

MR. WITTMAN: I just want to add one point
Your Honor.

THE REPORTER: I can t hear you. I'm sorry.

MR. WITTMAN: That Mr. Guice called to my at-
tention while I was sitting at counsel table while you
were talking with Ms. Harris. In the Needham opin-
ion at page 6 , the Fifth Circuit stated the govern-

ment' s position with respect to the Clean Water Act.
And I'm quoting it. The Court said

, "

According to the
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government , the definition covers all waters exclud-
ing groundwater that have any hydrological connec-

tion with navigable waters. " And the Court then dis-
cussed that concept for a minute and went on to say:
In our view , this definition is unsustainable under

SWANCC.

THE COURT: And that is why I believe that the
defendant can argue with a straight face that the

Fifth Circuit almost said it. But they did not come
right out and say that a mere hydrological connection
by itself was insufficient to establish a significant
nexus. And had they said that , we might be going
home.

MR. WITTMAN: Well , if you look a little further
in that same paragraph , Judge , the Court goes on to
say that the Clean Water Act and the Oil Pollution
Act are not so broad as to permit the federal govern-

ment to impose regulations over tributaries that are
neither themselves navigable nor truly adjacent to
navigable waters. And they cite Rice.

They go on finally to conclude: "Consequently, in
this circuit , the United States may not simply impose
regulations over puddles, sewers, roadside ditches

and the like; under SW ANCC , a body of water is sub-
ject to regulation if the body of water is actually navi-
gable or is adjacent to an open body of navigable wa-
ter. " And I think that's the test , Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. I think I see where you
going. And I --

MR. KORZENIK: Your Honor --

THE COURT: I think that what has happened
here is that , in the Fifth Circuit at least , the govern-
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ment may have great dificulty convincing anyone
that there are any tributaries involved 

MR. TIMOTHY HOLLEMAN: Your Honor 

THE COURT: -- in this case.

MR. TIMOTHY HOLLEMAN: -- if I may on be-
half of my client -- and I can stand here because it'
not gonna be very long.

THE COURT: Yeah. We ve got all day, Mr. Hol-
leman. And anything that you think would be helpful

ll be glad to hear.

MR. TIMOTHY HOLLEMAN: Well , I just want to
make sure that my client's position is stated in the
record on behalf of -- about Needham. The problem I
have with the government's theory -- and Ms. Harris
related the testimony to -- while I would argue with
some of it, most of it she related accurately about
Wylie and Stokely and others.

The problem I have with her testimony is that is
what the Fifth Circuit said was quote/unquote not
sustainable. The definition that all of their witnesses
applied in this case , the Fifth Circuit requoted it and
said

, "

In our view, this definition is unsustainable
under SWANCC.

And so , you know, I don t see how -- and they
even in a footnote talked about that that doesn t pass
constitutional muster to stretch it as far as the gov-
ernment is attempting to stretch it.

The thing that Ms. Harris stated about Needham
a minute ago that I think is absolute incorrect is that
Needham found jurisdiction because the oil flowed
down through the tributaries and the ditches , et cet-
era , and so even there they found jurisdiction.



108a

The Fifth Circuit held because the oil made it into
the open body of water or into a body of water that
was immediately adjacent to an open body of water --
take that back. I misstated it. Because the parties
stipulated that the oil made it into an open body of
water or actually into Bayou Folse -- I don know
how you say that , F-O-L-S-E -- which was immedi-
ately adjacent to an open body of water. They found
jurisdiction in that case.

We have no testimony in this case at all that any-
thing ever made it in anything -- into any open body
of navigable waters at all.

No testimony. No testing. The government went
through great length to put on testing. And all that
testing was right there on Big Hill Acres. It really
surprised me a lot that they dipped the cup down in a
septic tank that was failing and found that there was
fecal coliform in there , but -- I was kind of shocked by
that testimony. But that did not -- there s no testi-
mony that ever left Big Hill Acres or even went into
an open body of water anywhere.

And so I don t see how Needham is even subject
to argument looking at the facts in Needham , what
the Fifth Circuit said in Needham and applying it to
what the government -- in the light most favorable to
the government , I don t see how they even make an
argument that they have sustained their burden of
proof.

They re doing exactly what the government ar-
gued in Needham that the Fifth Circuit said was not
sustain -- or unsustainable. And while -- I don t know
how much more -- when Ms. Harris says that that'
dictum, I don t know how much more specific the
Fifth Circuit can get to say the definition that their
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witnesses gave -- to state it almost succinctly -- ex-
actly what their witnesses stated. And then to say,
In our view, that definition is unsustainable under

SW ANCC. " And then to say, "In this circuit , you may
not simply impose regulations.

And we re talking about -- we re not talking about
Mississippi Department of Health regulations or vio-
lations of that. As Your Honor has repeatedly stated
this is not about violations of Mississippi law. It's a
violation of the Clean Water Act.

And I think that' s what the Court is saying here.
That these are not regulations that should be im-
posed where the state should have jurisdiction. It' s a
limited jurisdiction issue. And that' s all it is. And in
this case , their own witnesses testified exactly to
what the Fifth Circuit in Needham , in my opinion
said was not -- was unsustainable.

THE COURT: All right. Again , I think I may
have said it once before , that in this circuit , it may be
very difficult for the government to sustain its propo-
sition that intermittent streams, ditches, drainage

swales and drainage ways are tributaries after
Needham. But that' s a matter of proper instructions
to the jury.

Because the Fifth Circuit has never retreated
from what the Supreme Court said in -- you all call it
SWANCC , and I call it SWANNC , S-W-A-N-N-C. And
that is that the test here is whether the wetlands
here have a significant nexus.

All right. Let me take a look at all of this one
more time. And I appreciate your arguments , and I
appreciate your motions. I think you ve helped me a
great deal. Let me take a look at it. And we ll take a
recess. And I'll come back and rule on the motions.
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MR. TIMOTHY HOLLEMAN: I' sorry, Your
Honor. Are we excused for? How long did you say we
were excused for?

THE COURT: I didn t say.

MR. TIMOTHY HOLLEMAN: Okay.

THE COURT: Stick around, though. I don t think
ll be too terribly wrong.

MR. TIMOTHY HOLLEMAN: I don t want to be
sitting here come Wednesday morning waiting on
you. I would if you wanted me to. Lawyers are very
literal creatures.

THE COURT: Thank y all.

(Recess at 2:30 p. , until 2:54 p.m.)

THE COURT: All right. Ms. Harris, I did have
one more question that I needed to ask the govern-
ment that needed to be cleared up. If you could clear
that up for me. That is as to Count 1 of the indict-
ment. I think I know the answer , but I want to hear it
from the government to be sure.

In Count 1 in the indictment , do you allege one
conspiracy or three?

MS. HARRIS: One conspiracy with two objects;
right? Let me just make sure. One conspiracy with
three objects.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. HARRIS: I'm sorry.

THE COURT: Thank you. I appreciate that.

All right. Let me take these counts in order. First
of all , Count No. 1 alleges a violation of Title 18 of the
United States Code Section 371. That is the general
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conspiracy statute. It is a one count indictment which
alleges a conspiracy to commit three separate of-
fenses.

As such , the government would be required to
prove that there was an agreement between two or
more persons to join together to accomplish some
unlawful purpose. Specifically, that these defendants
with other persons -- at least one other -- made an
agreement to commit at least one of the predicate of-
fenses in Count No. 1 -- that is , mail fraud -- violation
of Section 404 of the Clean Water Act or violation of
Section 402 of the Clean Water Act , as charged in the
indictment.

Secondly, they would have to prove that the de-

fendants knew the unlawful purpose of the agree-
ment and joined it willfully -- that is , with an intent
to further the unlawful purpose.

And finally, the government would have to prove
-- and these all would have to be proven beyond a
reasonable doubt -- that one of these conspirators
during the existence of the conspiracy committed at
least one overt act to accomplish the unlawful pur-

pose.

It' s the opinion of the Court that there are suffi-
cient facts from which a jury could conclude beyond a
reasonable doubt that the government has met each

of these essential elements of the offense of conspir-
acy in Count No. 1. The defendants ' motion for judg-
ment of acquittal as to Count 1 is denied.

Each of these defendants is charged in Counts
No. 2 through 19 with a violation of Title 18 of the
United States Code Section 1341 -- that is, mail

fraud. The government would be required to prove in
each of these separate counts that the defendants
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knowingly created a scheme -- that is , a scheme to
defraud or to obtain money from these individual
landholders through leases or purchases or rentals of
property at Big Hill Acres under representations that
the lots were suitable for habitation when, in fact

they were not.

The government will also have to prove beyond a
reasonable doubt that each of these defendants acted
with a specific intent to commit fraud.

And third, that the defendant or the defendants
mailed something or caused another person to mail
something through the United States postal service
for the purpose of carrying out the scheme.

In the opinion of the Court , there are sufficient
facts viewed in the light most favorable to the gov-
ernment from which a finder of fact could conclude
beyond a reasonable doubt that each of these ele-
ments have been met. The defendants ' motions to
dismiss the mail  fraud counts , Counts 2 through 19 --
not motion to dismiss -- motion for judgment of ac-
quittal , Counts No. 2 through 19 , is denied.

Now , none of this is particularly easy, but I think
ve just gone over those parts which in my view are

the easiest for me. Those were the conspiracy counts
and the mail  fraud counts.

What presents more of a challenge are Counts 20
through -- oh , gee. What is it , 41? Or 20 through 40? I
don t remember how many counts there are. 20
through 41.

MR. WITTMAN: 41.

THE COURT: Which , in essence , constitute viola-
tions of the federal Clean Water Act in two particular
methods -- two particular ways. One of which is fail-
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ure to obtain a permit, and knowingly discharging
pollutants from a point source during what I've re-
ferred to as the excavation or the creation of the Big
Hill Acres properties. That would be under Section
404 of the Clean Water Act under which , I think , the
permit would be required by the Army Corps of Engi-
neers.

Under Section 402 of the Clean Water Act , that
would be discharging a pollutant from a point source
into wetlands , which are waters of the United States
without a permit , which under those circumstances
would be a permit that is provided by the Environ-
mental Protection Agency.

For purposes -- for purposes of these remaining
counts for the time being, I am going to assume
without deciding, that these are jurisdictional wet-
lands -- that is , wetlands that constitute waters of the
United States.

The government's theory as to Counts 30 , 31 , 32
, 34 and 35 , I think , are unsustainable under the

facts of this case. The defendants , which are charged
with failing to obtain a permit under Section 402
have been charged under the theory that they created
the circumstances under which the homeowner later
on would come along and actually be the discharger
of the pollutants into the ground and that somehow
the homeowner would be the agent or , in essence , the
principal involved in the offense.

Now , while the law certainly recognizes that any
person can do for himself by causing someone else to
do for him , this other person must -- the third person
-- I'll call that the homeowner in this case -- must be
not only acting under the direction of the defendant
but also agree to commit -- or to assist in committing
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the offense. There is no evidence in this case that any
of these homeowners had the slightest idea that their
conduct by causing the flushing of their toilet and
adding to the pollutants in the ground somehow be-
came the agents of these defendants.

It' s the opinion of the Court that under this the-
ory, there is insufficient evidence from which a jury
could conclude that the defendants are guilty of viola-

tion of Section 402 of the Clean Water Act in Counts
, 31 , 32 , 33 , 34 and 35. Judgment of acquittal is

granted as to those counts.

Now , again , for purposes of the remaining counts
both under Section 404 and Section 402 , I will as-
sume , without deciding, that these are jurisdictional
wetlands. Counts 20 through 29 allege that the de-
fendants discharged pollutants into waters of the
United States by excavating wetlands , which consti-
tute waters of the United States , without a permit
under Section 404.

If one were to assume that these wetlands were
in fact , waters of the United States, all of those es-
sential elements are present. There is evidence from
which a jury could conclude in each of the counts --
and that is , Counts 20 through 29 -- that these defen-
dants or agents on behalf of these defendants exca-
vated or caused to be excavated and ultimately dis-
charged pollutants as alleged in the indictment into
wetlands.

Likewise , in Counts 36 through 41 , there was
evidence which tended to show that agents on behalf

of the defendants engaged in repairs or extensions of
drain field lines which would have resulted in the
discharge of additional pollutants into wetlands
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without a permit as required by Section 402 of the
Clean Water Act.

And assuming, without deciding, that these are
in fact , jurisdictional wetlands , the government will
have made or would have made out a case sufficient
for jury resolution on those facts.

Now, the more difficult question in this case is
whether the wetlands at Big Hill Acres are or are not
jurisdictional wetlands -- that is , wetlands which con-
stitute waters of the United States. This Court is
bound by United States Supreme Court precedent
and by precedents in the Fifth Circuit Court of Ap-
peals. Specifically, I am guided by the Riverside case
the SW ANCC case -- which come from the United
States Supreme Court case -- Rice v. Harken Explo-
ration and In Re Needham.

The Supreme Court , as well as the Fifth Circuit
Court of Appeals , has clearly pointed out that in or-
der for wetlands to be considered waters of the
United States , they must be adjacent to a navigable
body of water.

The question of adjacency is somewhat more clear
because they go on to say that in order for a wetland
to be adjacent to a navigable body of water , it must
have a significant nexus. In other words , there must
be a significant nexus between the wetland and the
navigable-in-fact body of water. That much is clear.

What becomes somewhat unclear from that point
forward is: What does it take for the government to
prove beyond a reasonable doubt that there is a sig-
nificant nexus between the wetlands in this case and
a navigable-in -fact body of water?
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The government's evidence in this case -- and I
think the government would -- I'm not gonna ask
them to , but I think they would concede that it is in
large part -- what I'll refer to as a hydrological con-
nection between the Big Hill Acres wetlands and Sec-
tion 10 waters downstream.

By that, I mean to say, it is the government'
primary theory in this case that ditches and drainage
swales, intermittent tributaries and the like are
tributaries of Section 10 waters and , as such , are pro-
tected under the Clean Water Act as they down-
stream connect with navigable bodies of water.

The Fifth Circuit has clearly rejected that. They
have rejected the concept that drainage ditches , in-
termittent streams and drainage swales constitute
tributaries of navigable bodies -- navigable-in -fact
bodies of water.

But the Fifth Circuit has never said and has
never retreated from the concept of a significant
nexus between a wetland and a navigable-in -fact
body of water. They have never said that a hydrologi-
cal connection in and of itself is insufficient to prove
that significant nexus.

My research indicates that at least one district
court case has concluded that a mere or a hydrologi-

cal connection alone is insufficient to constitute a sig-
nificant nexus. But that case kind of stands out there
on its own. There are not very many cases that so
conclude. And frankly, many of the other circuits
have concluded otherwise.

So we re left again with a question here: What
constitutes a significant nexus between the wetlands
and the navigable-in -fact body of water? I would be
much more impressed with the government's case if
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there were some evidence -- because in reading the
Rice opinion and in reading the Needham opinion , I

think that the Fifth Circuit does give us some indica-
tion -- some clue as to what might be factors that
could be considered in determining whether there is a
significant nexus between the wetland and navigable
body of water , in fact.

For example , if there were some evidence of the
flow ratio or the flow -- the flow of water from the
wetlands to the navigable body of water. And we do
not have that here. Some evidence that there is con-
tamination at the Section 10 navigable body of water
which is adjacent to the wetland. Whether there is
some evidence which tends to show that there will be
future contamination or a danger of contamination.
And we don t have any of that here.

I would feel much more comfortable with the gov-
ernment' s theory if there were some evidence of that.
However, it's my opinion that even despite the fact
that there is no hard evidence of contamination of a
navigable body of water or hard evidence that any of

the water from Big Hill Acres ever really reaches a
navigable body of water , that with the proper instruc-
tions , a jury faced with all of the evidence that it has
before it can make the proper determination -- can
make the proper decision of whether or not these wet-
lands are adjacent to a navigable-in-fact body of wa-
ter. And by adjacent to , I mean , whether there is a
significant nexus. And that decision will be up 
them.

m going to take the motion for judgment of ac-
quittal under Rule 29 under advisement. I am per-
mitted to do so , I believe , under Section C -- Section B
of Rule 29 , which allows the Court to reserve ruling.
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And I am going to permit the jury to decide this fact 
this significant nexus question.

That is the -- that is the gravamen of this entire
case and I think one that a properly instructed jury
can -- a properly instructed jury can determine and
give us their -- the product of their collective wisdom.

All right. Insofar as Counts No. 36 through 41 of
the indictment are concerned as well as Counts 
through 29 , the Court will reserve ruling and permit
the jury to decide the case with appropriate instruc-
tions.

Any questions on behalf of the government? Have
I sufficiently, unintended, muddied up the waters? I
didn t mean to put y all on the spot. Not any ques-
tions about the law or about the facts. Any questions
about the ruling that you don t understand?

MR. GOLDEN: I thought you were entertaining
grousmg.

THE COURT: I beg your pardon?

MR. GOLDEN: I thought you were entertaining
grousing on the part of the government. General

complaints about --

THE COURT: Oh , okay. No. Whining is excluded.
No whining.

MR. TIMOTHY HOLLEMAN: I'm glad you came
up with the appropriate term rather than grousing,
Your Honor.

THE COURT: Let me try to summarize. The de-
fendants ' motions for judgment of acquittal in Counts
1 through 19 are denied.

Counts 20 through 29 are taken under advise-
ment , and the Court reserves ruling after submission
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to the jury under Rule 29(c) of the -- 29(b) of the Fed-
eral Rules of Criminal Procedure.

Counts 30 through 35 , the motion for judgment of
acquittal is granted.

And on Counts 36 through 41 , I likewise have
taken those under advisement and reserved decision
pursuant to Rule 29(b) of the Federal Rules of Crimi-
nal Procedure.

MS. HARRIS: Your Honor , the only question is:
In the grouping, Counts 33 through 39 , which are all
charged, like I said, in the indictment as one group,
you re making a distinction between 33 and 35 and 36
and 39 that we don t quite follow.

THE COURT: You candidly agreed that the only
evidence on Counts 30 through 35 that these defen-

dants did anything is that they put in the system or
caused the system to be put in. There was no evi-
dence that you could point to that any of these defen-
dants actually added the effuent or pollutant into the
ground.

MR. KORZENIK: May I respond at all, Your
Honor?

THE COURT: Go ahead, Mr. Korzenik.

MR. KORZENIK: It was -- the government's the-
ory in all those counts was pretty much the same.
And that was that those defendants had control over
those systems. Not simply in placing them in the
ground, but in their continued acceptance. And it
goes with the ongoing nature of the control of accept
-- of leasing this property in the same way that if a
landlord were to rent an apartment and it was the
understanding of the tenant that when he used his
shower or toilet , that went into the city sewer system.
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But unbeknownst to that tenant , the landlord decided
he wasn t gonna pay his sewage bills any more , and
he simply ran a straight pipe out into a creek.

The ownership and control of the actual apart-
ment isn t the issue. Sure , it's being inhabited by a
tenant who is using the facilities as any landlord
would expect that tenant to use those facilities. But
the liability for running that pipe into the stream
would not be on the part of the tenant. It would be on
the person who knew where that sewage was going.

So in that sense , there would be a -- technically
speaking, a permit requirement placed upon the per-
son who is in greatest control and knows where that
sewage is going. And the same way here , this is a
lease.

The defendants here had ongoing and continuous
control even to the point -- I think there was evidence
in the record here that even where lots were vacated
with this same septic system -- and we had that just
today with the testimony of Connie Taylor. Mter pre-
vious owners operating the same septic tank system
left, they then simply signed another lease to sale
contract with a new tenant.

So those who were in control of the system are
those who were responsible for its proper operation.
And that is the government's theory in this case.

There is a notion of agency, Your Honor , but it's a
rather passive notion of agency. It's not as if people --
there s a notion of agency under which the agent un-
derstands the agency and willingly accepts activity or
action on behalf of a principle. That's not the case

here , Your Honor. These are passive agents.
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The defendants set up a system in which no sew-
age was placed. But they set it up, our theory is
knowing -- not only knowing, but with full intent that
those systems -- those lots would be leased and those
systems would be used. It is unreasonable to expect 
and I think there was testimony here that the people
owning -- buying these systems were not technically
buying them because they were really leasing them
or renting them.

Those people had no knowledge. And it was elic-
ited from virtually every mail fraud witness here.
They didn t know anything about permitting re-
quirements. They didn t -- they were city people , they
said. They didn know one septic system from an-
other. It was their understanding that it was func-
tional and had whatever permits were required.

The government went into great lengths present-
ing testimony about what those regulatory require-
ments were , how much the defendants knew about
those regulatory requirements , how many notices of
warning they got not to continue placing septic sys-
tems in saturated soil. Voluminous testimony from
various witnesses and from documents and letters.

Now , those were the people who were -- the de-
fendants were clearly in control here. And the theory
of -- under the Clean Water Act, an operator -- and
this was -- all of these issues , Your Honor, with all
due respect -- we cited in the briefs -- and honestly,
we weren t expecting to be answering some of the
same legal issues that we felt or understood the
Court had resolved on all of the motions to dismiss in
which all of these same issues were raised and we
understood were resolved in favor of the indictment.



122a

But I reiterate those arguments here. That under
the Clean Water Act , the permit requirement goes to
the -- goes to control. And in the Iverson case that we
cited, it clearly states that --

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Korzenik, just an-
swer me this question. Answer me this question can-
didly and into the record. Where is the evidence that
these -- these defendants discharged a pollutant?

MR. KORZENIK: Your Honor, that' -- I was
speaking to -- in the same way the renter of an
apartment , knowing -- full well knowing what is go-
ing to happen with the toilets and the -- the showers
that -- it' s an issue of control. That the septic system
sitting there isn t discharging at all. It's --

THE COURT: All right. I think I understand your
theory. I reject it. And I'll give you an opportunity to
argue it to the Fifth Circuit. But there is no evidence
on the counts that I have granted judgment of acquit-
tal that these defendants -- these defendants -- not
the homeowners , not anyone else -- that these defen-
dants discharged anything in violation of Section 402.

What you want to do is you want to make them
responsible for having designed a system or having
put a system into the ground. But that's not what the
act requires. An essential element of the act is that
they must discharge a pollutant. And I don t think
the government has made -- has met the burden of
proof on that element.

MR. KORZENIK: Your Honor , if I may, the lan-
guage is caused to be discharged. And that was what
was alleged in the indictment. They caused to be dis-
charged a pollutant. And that is the theory the gov-
ernment has had. That is our understanding of the
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law. And those are the facts , to the best of my knowl-
edge , we ve presented.

That they caused it to be discharged by designing
a system in violation -- in spite of warnings , placing it
in the ground and leasing it not once or twice , but of-
ten many times knowing that by leasing it , by having
people occupy it , sewage would be discharged.

And there was ample notice as well from various
witnesses that -- and this witness today that they
were telling the defendants that sewage was being
discharged. And it is the cause to be discharge theory,
Your Honor , that we rely on.

THE COURT: I do not doubt your enthusiasm. I
simply doubt your theory. And if I am in error , I wel-
come being corrected so I will not make this error
again at sometime in the future. But this is a -- well
I state the obvious. This is a serious criminal matter.
It' s not a civil case. It's not a permit case. An admin-
istrative matter. It is a criminal case. And I think
there must be some evidence that meets that essen-
tial element of the offense. And it is not here.

All right. That' s my ruling.

MR. KORZENIK: Your Honor may I ask the
Court to allow the government to brief this issue?

THE COURT: I beg your pardon?

MR. KORZENIK: Could I ask the Court to allow
us to brief this issue?

THE COURT: No. The ruling stands , Mr. Kor-
zenik. And if I am in error , I will be corrected. I 
not think that I am , or I wouldn t have done it this
way. But I think that on those counts -- I'll give you
the opportunity to argue that -- that theory to the
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Fifth Circuit. Perhaps it' s one that the government
can employ in other cases as well under an aiding
and abetting theory or a control and agency theory. I
don t buy it. Motion is granted as to those counts.

All right. Anything else?

MR. WITTMAN: No , Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. GOLDEN: Are we just gonna show up
Wednesday and find out who their witnesses are?

THE COURT: No , we re not. Have you got a list
for them? I think we talked about that yesterday.

MR. WITTMAN: I was gonna give it to them
Tuesday night. But since he s made the request , I'
give it to him today. With one reservation. We re still
working on this. It's a work in progress. But I think

ve got enough witnesses for the government to get
started on. And we may call over the weekend and
tell counsel for the government that we are taking
some of these folks off. In fact, I suspect we will.

re working with it. But we re giving the list to the
government today --

THE COURT: All right.

MR. WITTMAN: -- which has a total of 66 wit-
nesses , including character witnesses. And we expect
to pare that down , Your Honor , to the level I men-
tioned to you yesterday afternoon in chambers.

THE COURT: Very good. Thank you.

MR. TIMOTHY HOLLEMAN: Your Honor, just
so the record is clear and Your Honor understands
we are actively looking for some witnesses that would
be specifically responsive to some of the witnesses
who have testified both previously and recently. And
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so we may supplement that witness list depending on
the results of our search.

THE COURT: Oh , okay. You re looking for wit-
nesses to pick on Mr . Johnson?

MR. TIMOTHY HOLLEMAN: And others , Your
Honor.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. TIMOTHY HOLLEMAN:
search for the truth for the record.

THE COURT: All right. Well , this is all -- I think
re all kind of fighting over the scraps that fall un-

der the table. The truth of the matter is that the
lynch pin of this case is whether or not these are ju-
risdictional wetlands or not. And that -- insofar as
those wetlands -- Clean Water Act cases are con-
cerned. That is not going to be answered here. Not
today. Yes , sir.

MR. GOLDEN: Your Honor , I have received a list
now of 66 people. I just wondered -- you know , the
government was required to give them a list the day
before of at least the ones they expected to call. I
know we didn't go by it completely, but they pretty
much tracked.

I call it more a

THE COURT: The truth is I didn t require it. You
were just nice enough to do it. I would hope that the
defendants will do the same.

MR. WITTMAN: We re gonna do the same.

MR. GOLDEN: That' s what they said, that they
would do that. So maybe Mardi Gras Day, you ll give
it to us.

MR. WITTMAN: Mardi Gras morning, you will
have it.
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MR. TIMOTHY HOLLEMAN: If you ll meet me in
front of the Biloxi City Hall at noon over there , I
might be able to tell you.

THE COURT: Please -- for the same reason, so

that the government will have the full opportunity to
have meaningful cross-examination , please let them
know at least the day before who you intend to call --

MR. WITTMAN: We will , Your Honor.

MR. TIMOTHY HOLLEMAN: We fully intend to
do that

Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Well , enjoy your weekend
and I'll see you back here Wednesday morning at
9:00.

MR. WITTMAN: Thank you , Judge.

(Recess at 3:28 p.m.)
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(February 9 2005 9:23 a.m.)

THE COURT: Good morning. I hope everyone is
well. I had the opportunity to meet with counsel in
chambers briefly, at which time everyone indicated
they re refreshed, renewed and ready to move for-
ward.

Let me , first of all , put on the record something
that I've already discussed with the lawyers , and that
is in regards to the Court's ruling on the defendants
Rule 29 motion for judgment of acquittal. I am re-
versing myself to this extent. I am going to reserve
ruling on all of the Clean Water Act counts. And any
counts that I've granted judgment of acquittal on
heretofore , I have reversed myself in that regard and
I will reserve ruling.

I do so because , as Mr. Korzenik pointed out , that
would not be appealable. And I am not so naive -- I'
pointed out to the lawyers in chambers , I'm not so na-
ive that I would believe that I am infallible. I could 
in error. And if I am in error , I should be corrected.
And the only way to preserve that would be to take
the matter -- reserve ruling on the Rule 29 motion
and allow the case to go forward to the jury with
proper instructions.

All right. Any questions? Mr. Wittman?

MR. WITTMAN: No , Your Honor. It's not a ques-
tion really. But I think just for the sake of the record
and so that I preserve our rights , I think that with
respect to the Court's ruling on Thursday on Counts

, 31 , 32 , 33, 34 and 35, I do believe that Your
Honor s ruling does constitute a dismissal of those
counts on the record. And I would suggest that our
clients cannot continue to be tried under those counts
without being twice placed in jeopardy. And for that
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reason , Your Honor , we would object to the Court'
ruling. But that's the only thing I have to say about
it.

THE COURT: I considered the possibility of that
objection. I presume that the rest of the defendants
join in that objection as well.

MR. TIMOTHY HOLLEMAN: Yes, sir, Your
Honor.

MR. HOLDER: Yes , Your Honor.

THE COURT: But I note that there has been no
evidence presented by the defendants yet and that

nothing has occurred since the motion was ruled on.
And I think I had pointed out in chambers that it'
not that I have -- it's not that I have been inspired
over the weekend by the government's theory of the
case. Instead, it's more along the lines of preserving
the matter for review. And I think that the govern-
ment is entitled to that opportunity in the event that
I am in error.

All right. Anything else on behalf of the defen-
dan ts?

MR. WITTMAN: No , Your Honor.

THE COURT: Anything else on behalf of the gov-
ernment?

MR. KORZENIK: No , Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Then I presume we
ready to proceed? Please ask the jury to join us.

(Jury in at 9:28 a.m.)

THE COURT: Good morning, ladies and gentle-
men. I met briefly with the attorneys in chambers
this morning, and I think the consensus of the group
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was they were refreshed and renewed and ready to
move forward. I presume that the jury is likewise re-
freshed and renewed. Long time no see. It's good to
have you back.

We made some changes in the jury room to try to
make it a little more homier, I guess would be the
word for it. Hung some pictures and moved some
things around. It's always nice when the judge gets in
there with a laser level and levels up all the pictures
and puts them up. But we had a great deal of help
from the staff as well. And I hope that you enjoyed
the surroundings. We re still moving in. And we
getting better at it every day.

The parties have indicated that they are ready to
move forward. So Mr. Wittman , you may call your
first witness.

MR. WITTMAN: Thank you , Your Honor. The de-
fense calls Mr. James Palmer as its first witness.

THE COURT: Mr. Palmer , would you stand and
be sworn , sir.

JAMES PALMER

DC:559424.
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APPENDIX H

Clean Water Act , 33 D. C. 1251-52, 1311, 1319(c),
1342, 1344, 1362

1251. Congressional declaration of goals and policy

(a) Restoration and maintenance of chemical
physical and biological integrity of Nation s waters;

national goals for achievement of objective

The objective of this chapter is to restore and
maintain the chemical , physical , and biological integ-
rity of the Nation s waters. In order to achieve this

objective it is hereby declared that , consistent with
the provisions of this chapter--

(1) it is the national goal that the discharge of
pollutants into the navigable waters be eliminated by
1985;

(2) it is the national goal that wherever attain-
able , an interim goal of water quality which provides
for the protection and propagation of fish , shellfish
and wildlife and provides for recreation in and on the
water be achieved by July 1 , 1983;

(3) it is the national policy that the discharge of
toxic pollutants in toxic amounts be prohibited;

(4) it is the national policy that Federal financial
assistance be provided to construct publicly owned
waste treatment works;

(5) it is the national policy that areawide waste
treatment management planning processes be devel-
oped and implemented to assure adequate control of
sources of pollutants in each State;

(6) it is the national policy that a major research
and demonstration effort be made to develop technol-
ogy necessary to eliminate the discharge of pollutants
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into the navigable waters , waters of the contiguous
zone , and the oceans; and

(7) it is the national policy that programs for the
control of nonpoint sources of pollution be developed
and implemented in an expeditious manner so as to
enable the goals of this chapter to be met through the
control of both point and nonpoint sources of pollu-
tion.

(b) Congressional recognition , preservation , and
protection of primary responsibilities and rights of
States

It is the policy of the Congress to recognize , pre-
serve , and protect the primary responsibilities and
rights of States to prevent , reduce , and eliminate pol-
lution , to plan the development and use (including
restoration , preservation , and enhancement) of land
and water resources , and to consult with the Admin-
istrator in the exercise of his authority under this
chapter. It is the policy of Congress that the States
manage the construction grant program under this
chapter and implement the permit programs under
sections 1342 and 1344 of this title. It is further the
policy of the Congress to support and aid research re-
lating to the prevention , reduction , and elimination of
pollution , and to provide Federal technical services
and financial aid to State and interstate agencies and
municipalities in connection with the prevention , re-
duction , and elimination of pollution.

(c) Congressional policy toward Presidential ac-
tivities with foreign countries

It is further the policy of Congress that the Presi-
dent , acting through the Secretary of State and such
national and international organizations as he de-
termines appropriate , shall take such action as may
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be necessary to insure that to the fullest extent pos-
sible all foreign countries shall take meaningful ac-
tion for the prevention , reduction , and elimination of
pollution in their waters and in international waters
and for the achievement of goals regarding the elimi-
nation of discharge of pollutants and the improve-
ment of water quality to at least the same extent as
the United States does under its laws.

(d) Administrator of Environmental Protection
Agency to administer chapter

Except as otherwise expressly provided in this
chapter , the Administrator of the Environmental Pro-
tection Agency (hereinafter in this chapter called "Ad-
ministrator ) shall administer this chapter.

(e) Public participation in development , revision
and enforcement of any regulation , etc.

Public participation in the development , revision
and enforcement of any regulation , standard, effuent
limitation , plan, or program established by the Ad-
ministrator or any State under this chapter shall be
provided for , encouraged, and assisted by the Admin-
istrator and the States. The Administrator, in coop-
eration with the States, shall develop and publish
regulations specifying minimum guidelines for public
participation in such processes.

(f Procedures utilized for implementing chapter

It is the national policy that to the maximum ex-
tent possible the procedures utilized for implement-
ing this chapter shall encourage the drastic minimi-
zation of paperwork and interagency decision proce-
dures , and the best use of available manpower and
funds , so as to prevent needless duplication and un-
necessary delays at all levels of government.
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(g) Authority of States over water

It is the policy of Congress that the authority of
each State to allocate quantities of water within its
jurisdiction shall not be superseded, abrogated or

otherwise impaired by this chapter. It is the further
policy of Congress that nothing in this chapter shall
be construed to supersede or abrogate rights to quan-
tities of water which have been established by any
State. Federal agencies shall co-operate with State
and local agencies to develop comprehensive solutions
to prevent , reduce and eliminate pollution in concert
with programs for managing water resources.

~ 1311. Effuent limitations

(a) Illegality of pollutant discharges except in
compliance with law

Except as in compliance with this section and sec-
tions 1312 , 1316 , 1317, 1328 , 1342 , and 1344 of this
title , the discharge of any pollutant by any person
shall be unlawful.

~ 1319. Enforcement

(c) Criminal penalties

(1) Negligent violations

Any person who--

(A) negligently violates section 1311 , 1312 , 1316
1317, 1318 , 1321(b)(3), 1328 , or 1345 of this title , or
any permit condition or limitation implementing any
of such sections in a permit issued under section 1342
of this title by the Administrator or by a State , or any
requirement imposed in a pretreatment program ap-

proved under section 1342(a)(3) or 1342(b)(8) of this
title or in a permit issued under section 1344 of this
title by the Secretary of the Army or by a State; or
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(B) negligently introduces into a sewer system or
into a publicly owned treatment works any pollutant
or hazardous substance which such person knew or
reasonably should have known could cause personal
injury or property damage or , other than in compli-
ance with all applicable Federal , State, or local re-

quirements or permits , which causes such treatment
works to violate any effluent limitation or condition
in any permit issued to the treatment works under
section 1342 of this title by the Administrator or a
State;

shall be punished by a fine of not less than $2 500
nor more than $25 000 per day of violation , or by
imprisonment for not more than 1 year, or by

both. If a conviction of a person is for a violation
committed after a first conviction of such person
under this paragraph , punishment shall be by a
fine of not more than $50 000 per day of violation
or by imprisonment of not more than 2 years , or
by both.

(2) Knowing violations

Any person who--

(A) knowingly violates section 1311 , 1312 , 1316

1317, 1318 , 1321(b)(3), 1328 , or 1345 of this title , or
any permit condition or limitation implementing any
of such sections in a permit issued under section 1342
of this title by the Administrator or by a State , or any
requirement imposed in a pretreatment program ap-

proved under section 1342(a)(3) or 1342(b)(8) of this
title or in a permit issued under section 1344 of this
title by the Secretary of the Army or by a State; or

(B) knowingly introduces into a sewer system or
into a publicly owned treatment works any pollutant
or hazardous substance which such person knew or
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reasonably should have known could cause personal
injury or property damage or , other than in compli-
ance with all applicable Federal , State, or local re-

quirements or permits , which causes such treatment
works to violate any effluent limitation or condition
in a permit issued to the treatment works under sec-
tion 1342 of this title by the Administrator or a State;

shall be punished by a fine of not less than $5 000
nor more than $50 000 per day of violation , or by
imprisonment for not more than 3 years , or by
both. If a conviction of a person is for a violation
committed after a first conviction of such person
under this paragraph , punishment shall be by a
fine of not more than $100 000 per day of viola-
tion , or by imprisonment of not more than 
years , or by both.

(3) Knowing endangerment

(A) General rule

Any person who knowingly violates section 1311
1312 , 1313, 1316, 1317, 1318, 1321(b)(3), 1328 , or
1345 of this title , or any permit condition or limita-
tion implementing any of such sections in a permit
issued under section 1342 of this title by the Admin-
istrator or by a State , or in a permit issued under sec-
tion 1344 of this title by the Secretary of the Army or
by a State , and who knows at that time that he
thereby places another person in imminent danger of
death or serious bodily injury, shall , upon conviction
be subject to a fine of not more than $250 000 or im-
prisonment of not more than 15 years , or both. A per-
son which is an organization shall , upon conviction of
violating this subparagraph, be subject to a fine of
not more than $1 000 000. If a conviction of a person
is for a violation committed after a first conviction of
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such person under this paragraph, the maximum
punishment shall be doubled with respect to both fine
and imprisonment.

(B) Additional provisions

For the purpose of subparagraph (A) of this para-
graph --

(i in determining whether a defendant who is an
individual knew that his conduct placed another per-
son in imminent danger of death or serious bodily in-
Jury- -

(I) the person is responsible only for actual
awareness or actual belief that he possessed; and

(II) knowledge possessed by a person other than
the defendant but not by the defendant himself may
not be attributed to the defendant;

except that in proving the defendant's possession
of actual knowledge , circumstantial evidence may
be used, including evidence that the defendant
took affirmative steps to shield himself from rele-
vant information;

(iO it is an affirmative defense to prosecution that
the conduct charged was consented to by the person
endangered and that the danger and conduct charged
were reasonably foreseeable hazards of--

(I) an occupation , a business , or a profession; or

(II) medical treatment or medical or scientific ex-
perimentation conducted by professionally approved
methods and such other person had been made aware
of the risks involved prior to giving consent;

and such defense may be established under this
subparagraph by a preponderance of the evi-
dence;
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(ii) the term "organization" means a legal entity,
other than a government , established or organized for
any purpose , and such term includes a corporation
company, association, firm, partnership, joint stock

company, foundation , institution , trust, society, un-
ion , or any other association of persons; and

(iv) the term "serious bodily injury" means bodily
injury which involves a substantial risk of death , un-
consciousness , extreme physical pain , protracted and
obvious disfigurement , or protracted loss or impair-
ment of the function of a bodily member , organ , or

mental faculty.

(4) False statements

Any person who knowingly makes any false ma-
terial statement, representation, or certification in
any application , record, report , plan , or other docu-
ment filed or required to be maintained under this
chapter or who knowingly falsifies , tampers with , or
renders inaccurate any monitoring device or method
required to be maintained under this chapter , shall
upon conviction , be punished by a fine of not more
than $10 000 , or by imprisonment for not more than 2
years , or by both. If a conviction of a person is for a
violation committed after a first conviction of such
person under this paragraph , punishment shall be by
a fine of not more than $20 000 per day of violation
or by imprisonment of not more than 4 years , or by
both.

(5) Treatment of single operational upset

For purposes of this subsection, a single opera-

tional upset which leads to simultaneous violations of
more than one pollutant parameter shall be treated
as a single violation.
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(6) Responsible corporate officer as "person

For the purpose of this subsection , the term "per-
son" means , in addition to the definition contained in
section 1362(5) of this title , any responsible corporate
officer.

(7) Hazardous substance defined

For the purpose of this subsection , the term "haz-
ardous substance" means (A) any substance desig-
nated pursuant to section 1321(b)(2)(A) of this title
(B) any element, compound, mixture, solution, or
substance designated pursuant to section 9602 of Ti-
tle 42 , (C) any hazardous waste having the character-
istics identified under or listed pursuant to section
3001 of the Solid Waste Disposal Act (42 U. A. ~

6921) (but not including any waste the regulation of
which under the Solid Waste Disposal Act (42

A. ~ 6901 et seqJ has been suspended by Act of
Congress), (D) any toxic pollutant listed under section
1317(a) of this title , and (E) any imminently hazard-
ous chemical substance or mixture with respect to
which the Administrator has taken action pursuant
to section 2606 of Title 15.

~ 1342 (codied as section 402). National pollutant
discharge elimination system

(a) Permits for discharge of pollutants

(1) Except as provided in sections 1328 and 1344
of this title , the Administrator may, after opportunity
for public hearing, issue a permit for the discharge of
any pollutant , or combination of pollutants , notwith-
standing section 1311(a) of this title , upon condition
that such discharge will meet either (A) all applicable
requirements under sections 1311 , 1312 , 1316 , 1317
1318 , and 1343 of this title , or (B) prior to the taking
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of necessary implementing actions relating to all such
requirements , such conditions as the Administrator
determines are necessary to carry out the provisions
of this chapter.

(2) The Administrator shall prescribe conditions
for such permits to assure compliance with the re-
quirements of paragraph (1) of this subsection , in-
cluding conditions on data and information collection
reporting, and such other requirements as he deems
appropriate.

(3) The permit program of the Administrator un-
der paragraph (1) of this subsection , and permits is-
sued thereunder , shall be subject to the same terms
conditions, and requirements as apply to a State
permit program and permits issued thereunder under
subsection (b) of this section.

(4) Al permits for discharges into the navigable
waters issued pursuant to section 407 of this title
shall be deemed to be permits issued under this sub-
chapter, and permits issued under this subchapter
shall be deemed to be permits issued under section
407 of this title , and shall continue in force and effect
for their term unless revoked, modified, or suspended
in accordance with the provisions of this chapter.

(5) No permit for a discharge into the navigable
waters shall be issued under section 407 of this title
after October 18 , 1972. Each application for a permit
under section 407 of this title , pending on October 18
1972 , shall be deemed to be an application for a per-
mit under this section. The Administrator shall au-
thorize a State , which he determines has the capabil-
ity of administering a permit program which will
carry out the objective of this chapter to issue permits
for discharges into the navigable waters within the
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jurisdiction of such State. The Administrator may ex-
ercise the authority granted him by the preceding
sentence only during the period which begins on Oc-
tober 18 , 1972 , and ends either on the ninetieth day
after the date of the first promulgation of guidelines
required by section 1314(i)(2) of this title , or the date
of approval by the Administrator of a permit program
for such State under subsection (b) of this section
whichever date first occurs , and no such authoriza-
tion to a State shall extend beyond the last day 

such period. Each such permit shall be subject to
such conditions as the Administrator determines are
necessary to carry out the provisions of this chapter.
No such permit shall issue if the Administrator ob-
jects to such issuance.

~ 1344 (codied as Section 404). Permits for dredged
or fi material

(a) Discharge into navigable waters at specified
disposal sites

The Secretary may issue permits , after notice and
opportunity for public hearings for the discharge of

dredged or fill material into the navigable waters at
specified disposal sites. Not later than the fifteenth
day after the date an applicant submits all the infor-
mation required to complete an application for a
permit under this subsection, the Secretary shall
publish the notice required by this subsection.

(b) Specification for disposal sites

Subject to subsection (c) of this section , each such
disposal site shall be specified for each such permit

by the Secretary (1) through the application of guide-
lines developed by the Administrator , in conjunction
with the Secretary, which guidelines shall be based
upon criteria comparable to the criteria applicable to
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the territorial seas, the contiguous zone, and the
ocean under section 1343(c) of this title , and (2) in
any case where such guidelines under clause (1) alone
would prohibit the specification of a site , through the
application additionally of the economic impact of the
site on navigation and anchorage.

(c) Denial or restriction of use of defined areas as
disposal sites

The Administrator is authorized to prohibit the
specification (including the withdrawal of specifica-
tion) of any defined area as a disposal site , and he is
authorized to deny or restrict the use of any defined
area for specification (including the withdrawal 
specification) as a disposal site , whenever he deter-
mines , after notice and opportunity for public hear-
ings , that the discharge of such materials into such
area will have an unacceptable adverse effect on mu-
nicipal water supplies , shellfish beds and fishery ar-
eas (including spawning and breeding areas), wildlfe
or recreational areas. Before making such determina-
tion , the Administrator shall consult with the Secre-
tary. The Administrator shall set forth in writing and
make public his findings and his reasons for making
any determination under this subsection.

(d) "Secretary" defined

The term "Secretary" as used in this section
means the Secretary of the Army, acting through the
Chief of Engineers.

(e) General permits on State , regional, or nation-
wide basis

(1) In carrying out his functions relating to the
discharge of dredged or fill material under this sec-
tion , the Secretary may, after notice and opportunity
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for public hearing, issue general permits on a State
regional , or nationwide basis for any category of ac-
tivities involving discharges of dredged or fill mate-
rial if the Secretary determines that the activities in
such category are similar in nature , will cause only
minimal adverse environmental effects when per-
formed separately, and will have only minimal cumu-
lative adverse effect on the environment. Any general
permit issued under this subsection shall (A) be
based on the guidelines described in subsection (b)(l)
of this section , and (B) set forth the requirements and
standards which shall apply to any activity author-
ized by such general permit.

(2) No general permit issued under this subsec-
tion shall be for a period of more than five years after
the date of its issuance and such general permit may
be revoked or modified by the Secretary if, after op-
portunity for public hearing, the Secretary deter-
mines that the activities authorized by such general
permit have an adverse impact on the environment or
such activities are more appropriately authorized by
individual permits.

(f Non -prohibited discharge of dredged or fill ma-
terial
~ 1362. Definitions

Except as otherwise specifically provided, when
used in this chapter:

(6) The term "pollutant" means dredged spoil
solid waste, incinerator residue, sewage, garbage

sewage sludge , munitions , chemical wastes , biological
materials, radioactive materials, heat, wrecked or
discarded equipment , rock , sand, cellar dirt and in-
dustrial, municipal, and agricultural waste dis-
charged into water. This term does not mean (A)
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sewage from vessels or a discharge incidental to the
normal operation of a vessel of the Armed Forces
within the meaning of section 1322 of this title; or (B)
water , gas , or other material which is injected into a
well to facilitate production of oil or gas , or water de-
rived in association with oil or gas production and
disposed of in a well, if the well used either to facili-
tate production or for disposal purposes is approved
by authority of the State in which the well is located
and if such State determines that such injection 
disposal will not result in the degradation of ground
or surface water resources.

(7) The term "navigable waters" means the wa-
ters of the United States , including the territorial
seas.

(12) The term "discharge of a pollutant" and the
term "discharge of pollutants" each means (A) any
addition of any pollutant to navigable waters from
any point source , (B) any addition of any pollutant to
the waters of the contiguous zone or the ocean from
any point source other than a vessel or other floating
craft.

(14) The term "point source" means any discerni-
ble , confined and discrete conveyance , including but
not limited to any pipe , ditch , channel , tunnel , con-
duit , well, discrete fissure , container, rollng stock
concentrated animal feeding operation, or vessel or

other floating craft , from which pollutants are or may
be discharged. This term does not include agricul-
tural storm water discharges and return flows from
irrigated agriculture.
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APPENDIX I

40 C. R. 122

122.

(a) Coverage.

(1) The regulatory prOVISIOns contained in this
part and parts 123 , and 124 of this chapter imple-
ment the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination
System (NPDES) Program under sections 318 , 402
and 405 of the Clean Water Act (CW A) ( Public Law
92- 500 , as amended , 33 D. C. 1251 et seq.)

(2) These provisions cover basic EP A permitting
requirements (this part 122), what a State must do to
obtain approval to operate its program in lieu of a
Federal program and minimum requirements for ad-
ministering the approved State program (part 123 of
this chapter), and procedures for EP A processing of
permit applications and appeals (part 124 of this
chapter) .

(3) These provisions also establish the require-
ments for public participation in EP A and State per-
mit issuance and enforcement and related variance

proceedings , and in the approval of State NPDES pro-
grams. These provisions carry out the purposes of the
public participation requirements of part 25 of this
chapter , and supersede the requirements of that part
as they apply to actions covered under this part and
parts 123 , and 124 of this chapter.

(4) Regulatory provisions in Parts 125 , 129 , 133

136 of this chapter and 40 CFR subchapter N and
subchapter 0 of this chapter also implement the
NPDES permit program.
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(5) Certain requirements set forth in parts 122
and 124 of this chapter are made applicable to ap-
proved State programs by reference in part 123 of
this chapter. These references are set forth in ~
123.25 of this chapter. If a section or paragraph of
part 122 or 124 of this chapter is applicable to States
through reference in ~ 123.25 of this chapter, that
fact is signaled by the following words at the end of
the section or paragraph heading: (Applicable to
State programs , see ~ 123.25 of this chapter). If these
words are absent , the section (or paragraph) applies
only to EP A administered permits. Nothing in this
part and parts 123 , or 124 of this chapter precludes
more stringent State regulation of any activity cov-
ered by the regulations in 40 CFR parts 122 , 123 , and
124 , whether or not under an approved State pro-
gram.

(b) Scope of the NPDES permit requirement.

(1) The NPDES program requires permits for the
discharge of "pollutants" from any "point source" into
waters of the United States. " The terms "pollutant"
point source" and "waters of the United States" are
defined at ~ 122.

(2) The permit program established under this
part also applies to owners or operators of any treat-
ment works treating domestic sewage , whether or not
the treatment works is otherwise required to obtain
an NPDES permit, unless all requirements imple-
menting section 405(d) of the CW A applicable to the
treatment works treating domestic sewage are in-
cluded in a permit issued under the appropriate pro-

visions of subtitle C of the Solid Waste Disposal Act
Part C of the Safe Drinking Water Act , the Marine
Protection , Research , and Sanctuaries Act of 1972 , or



146a

the Clean Air Act , or under State permit programs
approved by the Administrator as adequate to assure
compliance with section 405 of the CW 

(3) The Regional Administrator may designate
any person subject to the standards for sewage sludge
use and disposal as a "treatment works treating do-
mestic sewage" as defined in ~ 122. , where the Re-
gional Administrator finds that a permit is necessary
to protect public health and the environment from
the adverse effects of sewage sludge or to ensure
compliance with the technical standards for sludge

use and disposal developed under CW A section
405(d). Any person designated as a "treatment works
treating domestic sewage" shall submit an applica-
tion for a permit under ~ 122.21 within 180 days of
being notified by the Regional Administrator that a
permit is required. The Regional Administrator s de-

cision to designate a person as a "treatment works
treating domestic sewage" under this paragraph shall
be stated in the fact sheet or statement of basis for
the permit.

~ 122.2 Definitions

The following definitions apply to Parts 122 , 123
and 124. Terms not defined in this section have the
meaning given by CWA. When a defined term ap-
pears in a definition , the defined term is sometimes
placed in quotation marks as an aid to readers.

Administrator means the Administrator of the
United States Environmental Protection Agency, or
an authorized representative.

Animal feeding operation is defined at ~ 122.23.

Applicable standards and limitations means all
State , interstate , and federal standards and limita-
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tions to which a "discharge " a "sewage sludge use or
disposal practice " or a related activity is subject un-
der the CW A, including "effluent limitations " water
quality standards, standards of performance, toxic

effluent standards or prohibitions

, "

best management
practices " pretreatment standards , and "standards
for sewage sludge use or disposal" under sections 301
302 303 304 306 307 308 403 and 405 ofCWA.

Application means the EP A standard national
forms for applying for a permit , including any addi-
tions , revisions or modifications to the forms; or forms
approved by EP A for use in "approved States " includ-
ing any approved modiications or revisions.

Approved program or approved State means a
State or interstate program which has been approved
or authorized by EP A under Part 123.

Aquaculture project is defined at ~ 122.25.

Average monthly discharge limitation means the
highest allowable average of "daily discharges" over a
calendar month , calculated as the sum of all "daily
discharges" measured during a calendar month di-
vided by the number of "daily discharges" measured
during that month.

Average weekly discharge limitation means the
highest allowable average of "daily discharges" over a
calendar week , calculated as the sum of all "daily dis-
charges" measured during a calendar week divided by
the number of "daily discharges" measured during
that week.

Best management practices ("BMPs ) means
schedules of activities, prohibitions of practices

maintenance procedures, and other management
practices to prevent or reduce the pollution of "waters
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of the United States." BMPs also include treatment
requirements , operating procedures , and practices to
control plant site runoff, spillage or leaks , sludge or
waste disposal , or drainage from raw material stor-
age.

BMPs means "best management practices.

Bypass is defined at ~ 122.41(m).

Class I sludge management facility means any
POTW identified under 40 CFR 403.8(a) as being re-
quired to have an approved pretreatment program
(including such POTW s located in a State that has
elected to assume local program responsibilities pur-
suant to 40 CFR 403. 10(e)) and any other treatment
works treating domestic sewage classified as a Class I
sludge management facility by the Regional Adminis-
trator , or , in the case of approved State programs , the
Regional Administrator in conjunction with the State
Director , because of the potential for its sludge use or
disposal practices to adversely affect public health
and the environment.

Concentrated animal feeding operation is defined
at ~ 122.23.

Concentrated aquatic animal feeding operation is
defined at ~ 122.24.

Contiguous zone means the entire zone estab-
lished by the United States under Article 24 of the
Convention on the Territorial Sea and the Contiguous
Zone.

Continuous discharge means a "discharge" which
occurs without interruption throughout the operating
hours of the facility, except for infrequent shutdowns
for maintenance , process changes, or other similar
activities.
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CW A means the Clean Water Act (formerly re-
ferred to as the Federal Water Pollution Control Act
or Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments
of 1972) Pub.L. 92-500 , as amended by Pub.L. 95-217
Pub.L. 95-576 , Pub.L. 96-483 and Pub.L. 97- 117 , 33

C. 1251 et seq.

CW A and regulations means the Clean Water Act
(CW A) and applicable regulations promulgated
thereunder. In the case of an approved State pro-
gram , it includes State program requirements.

Daily discharge means the "discharge of a pollut-
ant" measured during a calendar day or any 24-hour
period that reasonably represents the calendar day

for purposes of sampling. For pollutants with limita-
tions expressed in units of mass , the "daily discharge
is calculated as the total mass of the pollutant dis-
charged over the day. For pollutants with limitations
expressed in other units of measurement , the "daily
discharge" is calculated as the average measurement
of the pollutant over the day.

Direct discharge means the "discharge of a pol-
lutant.

Director means the Regional Administrator or the
State Director , as the context requires , or an author-
ized representative. When there is no "approved
State program " and there is an EP A administrative
program

, "

Director" means the Regional Administra-
tor. When there is an approved State program

, "

Di-
rector" normally means the State Director. In some
circumstances , however , EP A retains the authority to
take certain actions even when there is an approved
State program. (For example , when EP A has issued
an NPDES permit prior to the approval of a State
program , EP A may retain jurisdiction over that per-
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mit after program approval, see ~ 123. 1.) In such
cases , the term "Director" means the Regional Ad-
ministrator and not the State Director.

Discharge when used without qualification means
the "discharge of a pollutant.

Discharge of a pollutant means:

(a) Any addition of any "pollutant" or combination
of pollutants to "waters of the United States" from
any "point source " or

(b) Any addition of any pollutant or combination
of pollutants to the waters of the "contiguous zone" or
the ocean from any point source other than a vessel
or other floating craft which is being used as a means
of transportation.

This definition includes additions of pollutants
into waters of the United States from: surface runoff
which is collected or channelled by man; discharges
through pipes , sewers , or other conveyances owned by
a State , municipality, or other person which do not
lead to a treatment works; and discharges through
pipes , sewers , or other conveyances , leading into pri-
vately owned treatment works. This term does not
include an addition of pollutants by any "indirect dis-
charger. "

Discharge Monitoring Report ("DMR") means the
EP A uniform national form, including any subse-
quent additions, revisions, or modifications for the

reporting of self-monitoring results by permittees.
DMRs must be used by "approved States" as well as
by EP A. EP A will supply DMRs to any approved
State upon request. The EP A national forms may be
modified to substitute the State Agency name, ad-
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dress , logo , and other similar information , as appro-
priate , in place of EP A'

DMR means "Discharge Monitoring Report.

Draft permit means a document prepared under 
124.6 indicating the Director s tentative decision to

issue or deny, modiy, revoke and reissue , terminate
or reissue a "permit." A notice of intent to terminate a
permit , and a notice of intent to deny a permit , as dis-
cussed in ~ 124. , are types of "draft permits." A de-
nial of a request for modification , revocation and reis-
suance , or termination , as discussed in ~ 124. , is not
a "draft permit. " A "proposed permit" is not a "draft
permit.

Effluent limitation means any restriction imposed
by the Director on quantities, discharge rates , and
concentrations of "pollutants" which are "discharged"
from "point sources" into "waters of the United
States " the waters of the "contiguous zone " or the

ocean.

Effluent limitations guidelines means a regula-
tion published by the Administrator under section
304(b) of CW A to adopt or revise "effluent limita-
tions.

Environmental Protection Agency ("EP A") means
the United States Environmental Protection Agency.

EP A means the United States "Environmental
Protection Agency.

Facility or activity means any NPDES "point
source" or any other facility or activity (including
land or appurtenances thereto) that is subject to
regulation under the NPDES program.
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Federal Indian reservation means all land within
the limits of any Indian reservation under the juris-
diction of the United States Government, notwith-
standing the issuance of any patent , and including
rights-of-way running through the reservation.

General permit means an NPDES "permit" issued
under ~ 122.28 authorizing a category of discharges

under the CW A within a geographical area.

Hazardous substance means any substance des-
ignated under 40 CFR Part 116 pursuant to section
311 ofCWA.

Indian country means:

(1) All land within the limits of any Indian reser-
vation under the jurisdiction of the United States
Government, notwithstanding the issuance of any
patent , and, including rights-of-way running through
the reservation;

(2) All dependent Indian communities with the
borders of the United States whether within the
originally or subsequently acquired territory thereof
and whether within or without the limits of a state;
and

(3) All Indian allotments , the Indian titles to
which have not been extinguished, including rights-
of-way running through the same.

Indian Tribe means any Indian Tribe, band
group, or community recognized by the Secretary of
the Interior and exercising governmental authority
over a Federal Indian reservation.

Indirect discharger means a non domestic dis-
charger introducing "pollutants" to a "publicly owned
treatment works.
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Individual control strategy is defined at 40 CFR
123.46(c).

Interstate agency means an agency of two or
more States established by or under an agreement or
compact approved by the Congress , or any other
agency of two or more States having substantial pow-
ers or duties pertaining to the control of pollution 
determined and approved by the Administrator under
the CW A and regulations.

Major facility means any NPDES "facility or ac-
tivity" classified as such by the Regional Administra-
tor , or , in the case of "approved State programs " the
Regional Administrator in conjunction with the State
Director.

Maximum daily discharge limitation means the
highest allowable "daily discharge.

Municipal separate storm sewer system is defined
at ~ 122.26 (b)(4) and (b)(7).

Municipality means a city, town , borough , county,
parish , district , association , or other public body cre-
ated by or under State law and having jurisdiction
over disposal of sewage , industrial wastes , or other
wastes , or an Indian tribe or an authorized Indian
tribal organization, or a designated and approved
management agency under section 208 of CW 

National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System
(NPDES) means the national program for issuing,
modifying, revoking and reissuing, terminating,
monitoring and enforcing permits , and imposing and
enforcing pretreatment requirements , under sections
307 402 318 , and 405 of CWA. The term includes an
approved program.
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New discharger means any building, structure
facility, or installation:

(a) From which there is or may be a "discharge of
pollutants;"

(b) That did not commence the "discharge of pol-
lutants" at a particular "site" prior to August 13
1979;

(c) Which is not a "new source;" and

(d) Which has never received a finally effective
NDPES permit for discharges at that "site.

This definition includes an "indirect discharger
which commences discharging into "waters of the
United States" after August 13 , 1979. It also includes
any existing mobile point source (other than an off-
shore or coastal oil and gas exploratory drilling rig or
a coastal oil and gas developmental drilling rig) such
as a seafood processing rig, seafood processing vessel
or aggregate plant , that begins discharging at a "site
for which it does not have a permit; and any offshore
or coastal mobile oil and gas exploratory drilling rig
or coastal mobile oil and gas developmental drilling
rig that commences the discharge of pollutants after
August 13 , 1979 , at a "site" under EP A's permitting
jurisdiction for which it is not covered by an individ-
ual or general permit and which is located in an area
determined by the Regional Administrator in the is-
suance of a final permit to be an area or biological
concern. In determining whether an area is an area of
biological concern , the Regional Administrator shall
consider the factors specified in 40 CFR 125. 112(a)(1)
through (10).

An offshore or coastal mobile exploratory drilling
rig or coastal mobile developmental drilling rig will
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be considered a "new discharger" only for the dura-
tion of its discharge in an area of biological concern.

New source means any building, structure , facil-
ity, or installation from which there is or may be a
discharge of pollutants " the construction of which

commenced:

(a) Mter promulgation of standards of perform-
ance under section 306 of CW A which are applicable
to such source , or

(b) Mter proposal of standards of performance in
accordance with section 306 of CW A which are appli-
cable to such source , but only if the standards are
promulgated in accordance with section 306 within

120 days of their proposal.

NPDES means "National Pollutant Discharge
Elimination System.

Owner or operator means the owner or operator
of any "facility or activity" subject to regulation under
the NPDES program.

Permit means an authorization, license, or

equivalent control document issued by EP A or an
approved State" to implement the requirements of

this part and Parts 123 and 124. "Permit" includes an
NPDES "general permit" (~ 122.28). Permit does not
include any permit which has not yet been the subject
of final agency action , such as a "draft permit" or a
proposed permit.

Person means an individual , association , partner-
ship, corporation , municipality, State or Federal
agency, or an agent or employee thereof.

Point source means any discernible , confined, and
discrete conveyance , including but not limited to , any
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pipe, ditch , channel , tunnel , conduit, well, discrete
fissure , container , rolling stock , concentrated animal
feeding operation , landfll leachate collection system
vessel or other floating craft from which pollutants
are or may be discharged. This term does not include
return flows from irrigated agriculture or agricultural
storm water runoff. (See ~ 122.3).

Pollutant means dredged spoil , solid waste , incin-
erator residue , filter backwash, sewage, garbage

sewage sludge , munitions , chemical wastes , biological
materials , radioactive materials (except those regu-
1ated under the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as
amended (42 U. C. 2011 et seq.)), heat , wrecked or
discarded equipment , rock , sand, cellar dirt and in-
dustrial, municipal, and agricultural waste dis-
charged into water. It does not mean:

(a) Sewage from vessels; or

(b) Water , gas , or other material which is injected
into a well to facilitate production of oil or gas , or wa-
ter derived in association with oil and gas production
and disposed of in a well , if the well used either to fa-
cilitate production or for disposal purposes is ap-
proved by authority of the State in which the well is
located, and if the State determines that the injection
or disposal will not result in the degradation 
ground or surface water resources.

NOTE: Radioactive materials covered by the
Atomic Energy Act are those encompassed in its defi-
nition of source , byproduct , or special nuclear materi-
als. Examples of materials not covered include ra-
dium and accelerator- produced isotopes. See Train v.
Colorado Public Interest Research Group , Inc. , 426

S. 1 (1976).

POTW is defined at ~ 403. 3 of this chapter.
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Primary industry category means any industry
category listed in the NRDC settlement agreement
(Natural Resources Defense Council et al. v. Train , 8
E.R.C. 2120 (D. C. 1976), modified 12 E.R.C. 1833
(D. C. 1979)); also listed in Appendix A of Part 122.

Privately owned treatment works means any de-
vice or system which is (a) used to treat wastes from
any facility whose operator is not the operator of the
treatment works and (b) not a "POTW.

Process wastewater means any water which , dur-
ing manufacturing or processing, comes into direct
contact with or results from the production or use of
any raw material, intermediate product, finished
product , byproduct , or waste product.

Proposed permit means a State NPDES "permit"
prepared after the close of the public comment period
(and, when applicable , any public hearing and admin-
istrative appeals) which is sent to EP A for review be-
fore final issuance by the State. A "proposed permit"
is not a "draft permit.

Publicly owned treatment works is defined at 40
CFR 403.

Recommencing discharger means a source which
recommences discharge after terminating operations.

Regional Administrator means the Regional Ad-
ministrator of the appropriate Regional Office of the
Environmental Protection Agency or the authorized
representative of the Regional Administrator.

Schedule of compliance means a schedule of re-
medial measures included in a "permit" , including an
enforceable sequence of interim requirements (for ex-
ample , actions , operations , or milestone events) lead-
ing to compliance with the CW A and regulations.
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Secondary industry category means any industry
category which is not a "primary industry category.

Secretary means the Secretary of the Army, act-
ing through the Chief of Engineers.

Septage means the liquid and solid material
pumped from a septic tank , cesspool, or similar do-
mestic sewage treatment system , or a holding tank
when the system is cleaned or maintained.

Sewage from vessels means human body wastes
and the wastes from toilets and other receptacles in-
tended to receive or retain body wastes that are dis-
charged from vessels and regulated under section 312
of CW A, except that with respect to commercial ves-
sels on the Great Lakes this term includes graywater.
For the purposes of this definition

, "

graywater
means galley, bath , and shower water.

Sewage Sludge means any solid, semi-solid, or

liquid residue removed during the treatment of mu-
nicipal waste water or domestic sewage. Sewage
sludge includes , but is not limited to , solids removed
during primary, secondary, or advanced waste water
treatment , scum , septage , portable toilet pumpings
type III marine sanitation device pumpings (33 CFR
Part 159), and sewage sludge products. Sewage
sludge does not include grit or screenings , or ash gen-
erated during the incineration of sewage sludge.

Sewage sludge use or disposal practice means the
collection, storage, treatment, transportation, proc-

essing, monitoring, use , or disposal of sewage sludge.

Silvicultural point source is defined at ~ 122.27.

Site means the land or water area where any "fa-
cility or activity" is physically located or conducted
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including adjacent land used in connection with the

facility or activity.

Sludge-only facility means any "treatment works
treating domestic sewage" whose methods of sewage
sludge use or disposal are subject to regulations

promulgated pursuant to section 405(d) of the CW 
and is required to obtain a permit under ~ 122. 1 (b) (2) .

Standards for sewage sludge use or disposal
means the regulations promulgated pursuant to sec-
tion 405(d) of the CW A which govern minimum re-
quirements for sludge quality, management practices
and monitoring and reporting applicable to sewage
sludge or the use or disposal of sewage sludge by any
person.

State means any of the 50 States , the District of
Columbia , Guam , the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico
the Virgin Islands , American Samoa, the Common-
wealth of the Northern Mariana Islands , the Trust
Territory of the Pacific Islands , or an Indian Tribe as
defined in these regulations which meets the re-
quirements of ~ 123.31 of this chapter.

State Director means the chief administrative of-
ficer of any State or interstate agency operating an
approved program " or the delegated representative
of the State Director. If responsibility is divided

among two or more State or interstate agencies
State Director" means the chief administrative offi-

cer of the State or interstate agency authorized to
perform the particular procedure or function to which
reference is made.

State/EP A Agreement means an agreement be-
tween the Regional Administrator and the State
which coordinates EP A and State activities , respon-
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sibilities and programs including those under CW A
programs.

Storm water is defined at ~ 122.26(b)(13).

Storm water discharge associated with industrial
activity is defined at ~ 122.26(b)(14).

Total dissolved solids means the total dissolved
(filterable) solids as determined by use of the method
specified in 40 CFR Part 136.

Toxic pollutant means any pollutant listed 
toxic under section 307(a)(1) or , in the case of "sludge
use or disposal practices " any pollutant identified in
regulations implementing section 405(d) of the CW 

Treatment works treating domestic sewage
means a POTW or any other sewage sludge or waste
water treatment devices or systems, regardless of
ownership (including federal facilities), used in the
storage , treatment , recycling, and reclamation of mu-
nicipal or domestic sewage , including land dedicated
for the disposal of sewage sludge. This definition does
not include septic tanks or similar devices. For pur-
poses of this definition

, "

domestic sewage" includes
waste and waste water from humans or household
operations that are discharged to or otherwise enter a
treatment works. In States where there is no ap-
proved State sludge management program under sec-
tion 405(D of the CW A, the Regional Administrator
may designate any person subject to the standards
for sewage sludge use and disposal in 40 CFR Part
503 as a "treatment works treating domestic sewage
where he or she finds that there is a potential for ad-
verse effects on public health and the environment
from poor sludge quality or poor sludge handling, use
or disposal practices , or where he or she finds that
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such designation is necessary to ensure that such
person is in compliance with 40 CFR Part 503.

TWTDS means "treatment works treating domes-
tic sewage.

Upset is defined at ~ 122.41(n).

Variance means any mechanism or provision un-
der section 301 or 316 of CW A or under 40 CFR Part
125 , or in the applicable "effluent limitations guide-
lines" which allows modification to or waiver of the
generally applicable effuent limitation requirements
or time deadlines of CW A. This includes provisions
which allow the establishment of alternative limita-
tions based on fundamentally different factors or on
sections 301(c), 301(g), 301(h), 301(i, or 316(a) of
CWA.

Waters of the United States or waters of the U.
means:

(a) All waters which are currently used, were

used in the past , or may be susceptible to use in in-
terstate or foreign commerce, including all waters

which are subject to the ebb and flow of the tide;

(b) All interstate waters, including interstate
wetlands;"

(c) All other waters such as intrastate lakes , riv-
ers , streams (including intermittent streams), mud-
flats , sandfats

, "

wetlands " sloughs , prairie potholes
wet meadows , playa lakes , or natural ponds the use
degradation , or destruction of which would affect or
could affect interstate or foreign commerce including
any such waters:

(1) Which are or could be used by interstate or
foreign travelers for recreational or other purposes;
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(2) From which fish or shellfish are or could be
taken and sold in interstate or foreign commerce; or

(3) Which are used or could be used for industrial
purposes by industries in interstate commerce;

(d) Al impoundments of waters otherwise defined
as waters of the United States under this definition;

(e) Tributaries of waters identified in paragraphs
(a) through (d) of this definition;

(f The territorial sea; and

(g) "

Wetlands" adjacent to waters (other than wa-
ters that are themselves wetlands) identified in para-
graphs (a) through (f of this definition.

Waste treatment systems, including treatment

ponds or lagoons designed to meet the requirements
of CW A (other than cooling ponds as defined in 
CFR ~ 423. 11(m) which also meet the criteria of this
definition) are not waters of the United States. This
exclusion applies only to manmade bodies of water
which neither were originally created in waters of the
United States (such as disposal area in wetlands) nor
resulted from the impoundment of waters of the
United States. (See Note 1 of this sectionJ Waters 
the United States do not include prior converted crop-
land. Notwithstanding the determination of an area
status as prior converted cropland by any other fed-
eral agency, for the purposes of the Clean Water Act
jurisdiction remains with EP 

Wetlands means those areas that are inundated
or saturated by surface or groundwater at a fre-
quency and duration sufficient to support, and that
under normal circumstances do support , a prevalence
of vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated



163a

soil conditions. Wetlands generally include swamps
marshes , bogs , and similar areas.

Whole effluent toxicity means the aggregate toxic
effect of an effluent measured directly by a toxicity
test.

122.3 Exclusions.

The following discharges do not require NPDES
permits:

(a) Any discharge of sewage from vessels , effuent
from properly functioning marine engines, laundry,
shower, and galley sink wastes , or any other dis-
charge incidental to the normal operation of a vessel.
This exclusion does not apply to rubbish , trash , gar-
bage , or other such materials discharged overboard;
nor to other discharges when the vessel is operating
in a capacity other than as a means of transportation
such as when used as an energy or mining facility, a
storage facility or a seafood processing facility, or
when secured to a storage facility or a seafood proc-
essing facility, or when secured to the bed of the
ocean , contiguous zone or waters of the United States
for the purpose of mineral or oil exploration or devel-
opment.

(b) Discharges of dredged or fill material into wa-
ters of the United States which are regulated under
section 404 of CW 

(c) The introduction of sewage , industrial wastes
or other pollutants into publicly owned treatment
works by indirect dischargers. Plans or agreements to
switch to this method of disposal in the future do not
relieve dischargers of the obligation to have and com-
ply with permits until all discharges of pollutants to
waters of the United States are eliminated. (See also
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~ 122.47(b) ). This exclusion does not apply to the in-
troduction of pollutants to privately owned treatment
works or to other discharges through pipes , sewers
or other conveyances owned by a State , municipality,
or other party not leading to treatment works.

(d) Any discharge in compliance with the instruc-
tions of an On-Scene Coordinator pursuant to 40 CFR
Part 300 (The National Oil and Hazardous Sub-
stances Pollution Contingency Plan) or 33 CFR
153. 10(e) (Pollution by Oil and Hazardous Sub-
stances) .

(e) Any introduction of pollutants from non point-
source agricultural and silvicultural activities , in-

cluding storm water runoff from orchards , cultivated
crops , pastures , range lands , and forest lands , but not
discharges from concentrated animal feeding opera-
tions as defined in ~ 122. , discharges from concen-
trated aquatic animal production facilities as defined
in ~ 122. , discharges to aquaculture projects as de-
fined in ~ 122. , and discharges from silvicultural
point sources as defined in ~ 122.27.

(f Return flows from irrigated agriculture.

(g) Discharges into a privately owned treatment
works , except as the Director may otherwise require
under ~ 122.44(m).

(h) The application of pesticides consistent with
all relevant requirements under FIFRA (i. , those

relevant to protecting water quality), in the following
two circumstances:

(1) The application of pesticides directly to waters
of the United States in order to control pests. Exam-
ples of such applications include applications to con-
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trol mosquito larvae , aquatic weeds, or other pests
that are present in waters of the United States.

(2) The application of pesticides to control pests
that are present over waters of the United States , in-
cluding near such waters , where a portion of the pes-
ticides will unavoidably be deposited to waters of the
United States in order to target the pests effectively;
for example , when insecticides are aerially applied to
a forest canopy where waters of the United States
may be present below the canopy or when pesticides
are applied over or near water for control of adult
mosquitoes or other pests.

~ 122.21 Application for a permit (applicable to State
NPDES programs , see ~ 123.25).

(a) Duty to apply.

(1) Any person who discharges or proposes to dis-
charge pollutants or who owns or operates a "sludge-
only facility" whose sewage sludge use or disposal
practice is regulated by part 503 of this chapter , and
who does not have an effective permit , except persons
covered by general permits under ~ 122. , excluded
under ~ 122. , or a user of a privately owned treat-
ment works unless the Director requires otherwise
under ~ 122.44(m), must submit a complete applica-
tion to the Director in accordance with this section
and part 124 of this chapter. All concentrated animal
feeding operations have a duty to seek coverage un-

der an NPDES permit , as described in ~ 122.23(d).

(b) Who applies? When a facility or activity is
owned by one person but is operated by another per-
son , it is the operator s duty to obtain a permit.


	LucasAppendix.pdf
	LucasAppA
	LucasAppB
	LucasAppC
	LucasAppD
	LucasAppE
	LucasAppF
	LucasAppG
	LucasAppendixH
	LucasAppendix I


